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PART I
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD -LOOKING STATEMENTS AND PROJECTIONS

Various statements in this report are “forward-liogkstatements” within the meaning of the PrivageBities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statents may appear throughout this report, includiitigout
limitation, the following sections: Item 1 “BusirgsItem 1A “Risk Factors,” and Item 7 “ManagemeanbDiscussio
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations.” Words such as, but not limited to ti@pate,”
“believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” plan,” “contemplates,” “predict,” “project,” “targs,” “likely,”
“potential,” “continue,” “will,” “would,” “should,” “could,” or the negative of these terms and singbgpressions or
words, identify forward-looking statements. Themgeand circumstances reflected in the Companyiseai-
looking statements may not occur and actual resolifd differ materially from those projected irrt@ompany’s
forward-looking statements. Meaningful factors whéould cause actual results to differ include,dretnot limited
to:

« delay in or failure to obtain regulatory approvatite Compan’s product candidate

¢ uncertainty as to the Company'’s ability to eoencialize, and market acceptance of, the Compamgduct
candidates

« the extent of government regulatio

* uncertainty as to the relationship betweerbineefits of the Company’s product candidates hadisks of
their side-effect profiles;

» dependence on third-party manufacturers toufsature the Company’s product candidates in Sefiic
quantities and quality

« uncertainty of clinical trial result:
« limited sales and marketing infrastructu

« inability of our outside sales force to susfably sell and market ILUVIEN in the U.S. followgnregulatory
approval; anc

« the Company’s ability to operate its businassompliance with the covenants and restrictidra it is
subject to under its credit facilit

All written and verbal forward-looking statementtriautable to us or any person acting on our Hedwal
expressly qualified in their entirety by the cantioy statements contained or referred to in thiige We caution
investors not to rely too heavily on the forward#tng statements we make or that are made on dwafo&Ve
undertake no obligation, and specifically decling abligation, to publicly update or revise anyward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new informafidgore events or otherwise.

We encourage you to read the discussion and asalf/siur financial condition and our consolidatadhficial
statements contained in this annual report on Fd@+K. We also encourage you to read Item 1A of Paftthis
annual report on Form 10-K, entitled “Risk Factowghich contains a more complete discussion ofrtbles and
uncertainties associated with our business. Intiaxidio the risks described above and in Item 14haf report,
other unknown or unpredictable factors also cotfieicaour results. There can be no assurancelikaidtual results
or developments anticipated by us will be realiaeceven if substantially realized, that they \hiive the expected
consequences to, or effects on, us. Therefore swasce can be given that the outcomes statedinfemwvard-
looking statements and estimates will be achieved.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Alimera Sciences, Inc. (We, Alimera or the Compasyg biopharmaceutical company that specializéken
research, development and commercialization ofcpigggon ophthalmic pharmaceuticals. We are prdgent
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focused on diseases affecting the back of the@yetina, because we believe these diseases aweehdreated
with current therapies and represent a significaautket opportunity.

Our most advanced product candidate is ILUVIEN~hich we are developing for the treatment of diab
macular edema (DME). DME is a disease of the rdtinhaffects individuals with diabetes and cal leasevere
vision loss and blindness. In September 2010 wepbeted two Phase 3 pivotal clinical trials (colieety, our
FAME ™ Study) for ILUVIEN involving 956 patients in sitegross the U.S., Canada, Europe and India to as
efficacy and safety of ILUVIEN in the treatment@ME. Based on our analysis of the month 24 cliniealdout
from our FAME Study in December 2009, we filed asN@rug Application (NDA) in June 2010 for the lowsk of
ILUVIEN in the U.S. with the U.S. Food and Drug Athistration (FDA), followed by registration filings the
United Kingdom, Austria, France, Germany, Italyrtdgal and Spain in July 2010. In December 2010regeived
a Complete Response Letter (CRL) from the FDA reigarour NDA. The FDA issued the CRL to communidéde
decision that the NDA could not be approved irpitssent form. No new clinical studies were requkbtethe FDA
in the CRL. However, the FDA asked us for analysfadbe safety and efficacy data through the enthefFAME
Study to further assess the relative benefits kg of ILUVIEN. We are currently preparing the bys&s the FDA
requested having completed the FAME Study and plybieleased data on February 3, 2011. The FDAsis a
seeking additional information regarding contraisl apecifications concerning the manufacturingkpging and
sterilization of ILUVIEN, which we are in the pragzof compiling. We currently anticipate submittimgr response
to the CRL to the FDA early in the second quarfe2@i1. Our submission to the FDA will be considkaeClass 2
response, which will provide for a review periodupfto an additional six months for our NDA. Basedour
discussions with the FDA we anticipate that the Rl call an advisory committee during this revielvour NDA
for ILUVIEN is approved by the FDA, we plan to corarnialize ILUVIEN in the U.S. by marketing and & it to
retinal specialists as early as late 2011.

Additionally, we plan to submit the additional sgfand efficacy data through the final readouhaténd of th
FAME Study to regulatory authorities in the Unit€éshgdom, Austria, France, Germany, Italy, Portugiadl Spain i
the second quarter of 2011. If ILUVIEN is appro\mdthe European regulatory authorities, we plan to
commercialize ILUVIEN, directly or through a parteRkip, in the United Kingdom, Austria, France, Gany, Italy,
Portugal and Spain.

According to the Centers for Disease Control are/@ntion (CDC), the number of Americans diagnosid w
diabetes had increased from approximately 8.1 anilieople in 1994 to approximately 18.8 million plean 2010.
Per the International Diabetes Federation Atlas etstimated prevalence of people diagnosed withetis for 2010
has increased to 285 million people worldwide drat this number is expected to reach 438 millioopte by 2030
All patients with diabetes are at risk of develgpgome form of diabetic retinopathy, an ophthalogndition of
diabetes that presents with symptoms that inclbdestvelling and leakage of blood vessels withinrétima or the
abnormal growth of new blood vessels on the surfd¢ie retina. As reported by the American Diabete
Association, in the U.S. diabetic retinopathy calemgproximately 12,000 to 24,000 new cases of béed each
year, making diabetes the leading cause of newsa#ddindness in adults aged 20 to 74. When thedlesse
leakage of diabetic retinopathy causes swellindgpégnmacula, the part of the eye responsible fotrakvision, the
condition is called DME. The Wisconsin Epidemiolo&tudy of Diabetic Retinopathy found that oveerayear
period approximately 19% of diabetics studied wdieginosed with DME. Based on this study and thesctir
U.S. diabetic population, we estimate the incidesfd®ME in the U.S. to be approximately 340,000esagnnually.
As the population of diabetics increases, we exgpecannual incidence of diagnosed DME to increase.

There are no ophthalmic drug therapies currentiy@ped by the FDA for the treatment of DME. Thereut
standard of care for the treatment of DME is lgg®tocoagulation. Laser photocoagulation is a aéfinocedure in
which a laser is used to cauterize leaky bloodeless to apply a pattern of burns to reduce eddinis. procedure
has undesirable side effects including partial tifgseripheral and night vision. As a result ofsbeide effects anc
desire for improved visual outcomes, retinal sgetgahave supplemented laser photocoagulation alihinate off-
label therapies for the treatment of DME, includinjgctions of corticosteroids and anti-vasculadahelial growth
factor (anti-VEGF) agents. Both corticosteroids ant-VEGFs have shown improved visual acuity in BM
patients in non-pivotal clinical trials but are
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limited by a need for multiple injections to mainta therapeutic effect. Corticosteroids have histdly been
associated with significant increases in intraocptassure (IOP), which may increase the risk afigbma, and the
acceleration of cataract formation.

ILUVIEN is inserted in the back of the patient’seetp a placement site that takes advantage ofytle ratural
fluid dynamics to deliver the non-proprietary cootteroid fluocinolone acetonide (FAc). ILUVIENiiserted with
a device that employs a 25-gauge needle which alfowa self-sealing wound. In the U.S., this pohoe is non-
surgical and is performed in the retinal specialisffice. ILUVIEN is an intravitreal insert desigd to provide a
therapeutic effect for up to 36 months by delivgraustained sub-microgram levels of FAc. ILUVIENsha
demonstrated efficacy in the treatment of DME in BAME Study. Additionally, by providing lower expare to
corticosteroids and focusing the delivery to thekbaf the eye, we believe that the adverse evessiscéated with tt
use of ILUVIEN are within the acceptable limitsafirug for the treatment of DME.

ILUVIEN is also being studied in three Phase 2ichhtrials for the treatment of the dry form ofeacglated
macular degeneration (AMD), the wet form of AMD ametinal vein occlusion (RVO). In addition to owtiaities
related to the development and commercializatiol. OVIEN, we are also conducting testing on twosslas of
nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADE&Xijlase inhibitors for which we have acquired axzule,
worldwide licenses from Emory University. Our imitfocus is on the use of NADPH oxidase inhibitorghe
treatment of dry AMD. We plan to evaluate the usBADPH oxidase inhibitors in the treatment of athiéseases
of the eye, including wet AMD and diabetic retindpa We will pursue the development, license arglisition of
rights to compounds and technologies with the fitkto treat diseases of the eye that we beliegenat well
treated by current therapies.

Our commercialization strategy is to establish IUBM as a leading therapy for the treatment of DNiE a
subsequently for any other indications for whickhMIEN proves safe and effective. We are led by xacative
team with extensive development and commerciatimagixpertise with ophthalmic products including ldaench
and management of Visudyne, a drug product spoddiy@lovartis and the first pharmacological treatime
indicated for patients with wet AMD. We intend tapitalize on our management’s experience and dgpent
marketing eye-care products, by marketing andrgellLUVIEN to the approximately 1,600 retinal spaists
practicing in the approximately 900 retina centan®ss the U.S. and Canada. If ILUVIEN is approvgdhe
European regulatory authorities, we plan to comrméze ILUVIEN, directly or through a partnership,the Unitec
Kingdom, Austria, France, Germany, Italy, Portugradl Spain. Our commercialization strategy is suliggand
dependent upon regulatory approval of ILUVIEN foe treatment of DME.

Business Strategy

We are presently focused on diseases affectinhablk of the eye, or retina, because we believeetiisgases
are not well treated with current therapies ande®gnt a significant market opportunity. Our businstrategy is to:

e Pursue FDA Approval for ILUVIEN In June 2010, we filed an NDA for ILUVIEN for thieatment of DMI
based upon the month 24 clinical readout from AME Study. We received a CRL from the FDA in
December 2010 requesting additional analyses dodhiation for our NDA through the end of the FAME
Study, and plan to submit a response early in¢leersd quarter of 201

* Maximize the Commercial Success of ILUVI If approved by the FDA, we intend to capitalizeaur
management’s past experience and expertise in thagleye-care products including the launch and
management of Visudyne (Novartis) by marketing selting ILUVIEN through our outside sales forcethe
approximately 1,600 retinal specialists practidimghe approximately 900 retina centers in the &gl
Canada. We intend to commercialize ILUVIEN, dirgait through a partnership, outside North Amer

« Assess the Effectiveness of ILUVIEN for AdditicXetinal Disease« We believe that ILUVIEN has the
potential to address additional retinal diseaselsiiting, among others, dry AMD, wet AMD a
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RVO. ILUVIEN is being studied in three Phase ibichl trials with retinal specialists to assess shafety and
efficacy of ILUVIEN for the treatment of these dises of the ey

« Develop Our Existing Ophthalmic Product Pipeli We have acquired exclusive, worldwide licenses of
rights under patent applications for two classeADPH oxidase inhibitors from Emory University. We
believe that the management of oxidative streas isnportant strategy in managing the developmedt a
progression of diseases of the eye, and we beli@teNADPH oxidase inhibitors have the potential to
manage oxidative stress. Our initial focus is anube of NADPH oxidase inhibitors in the treatmafdry
AMD. We plan to evaluate the use of NADPH oxidagabhitors in the treatment of other diseases oftje
including wet AMD and diabetic retinopatt

» Expand Our Ophthalmic Product Pipelir We believe there are further unmet medical néetse
treatment of ophthalmic diseases. Toward that eedntend to leverage our management’s expertiddétan
broad network of relationships in continuing to lexae in-licensing and acquisition opportunities fo
compounds and technologies with applications iralies affecting the ey

Disease Overview and Market Opportunity
Diabetes and Diabetic Retinopathy

Diabetes mellitus, and its systemic and ophthabuoioplications, represents an enormous public h&aléat ir
the U.S. According to the U.S. Centers for Disgasatrol and Prevention (CDC, the number of Amergcan
diagnosed with diabetes has increased from appeigign8.1 million people in 1994 to approximateB/8 million
people in 2010. In addition to diagnosed casesCIDE estimates that an additional 7.0 million Aroaris with
diabetes are currently undiagnosed and are therefitrbeing monitored and treated to control tsiease and
prevent systemic and ophthalmic complications. Watter diagnosis methodologies and improved public
awareness, the number of persons diagnosed withe&ind treated for diabetes is expected to incréeethe
International Diabetes Federation Atlas, the estich@revalence of diabetes for 2010 has increas285 million
people worldwide and this number is expected tohe88 million people by 2030.

All patients with diabetes are at risk of develgpgome form of diabetic retinopathy, an ophthalmic
complication of diabetes that presents with symgtamluding the swelling and leakage of blood vissséthin the
retina or the abnormal growth of new blood vesealthe surface of the retina. According to the Anaer Diabetes
Association, diabetic retinopathy causes approaiget?,000 to 24,000 new cases of blindness irUtlse each
year, making diabetes the leading cause of newsa#ddindness in adults aged 20 to 74. Diabetioopathy car
be divided into either non-proliferative or prolif¢ive retinopathy. Non-proliferative retinopattalso called
background retinopathy) develops first and causereased capillary permeability, microaneurysmedrehages,
exudates, macular ischemia and macular edema étfiioty of the retina caused by fluid leakage frompilties).
Proliferative retinopathy is an advanced stageiafetic retinopathy which, in addition to charaistécs of non-
proliferative retinopathy, results in the growthngfw blood vessels. These new blood vessels amrahhand
fragile, growing along the retina and along thdae of the clear, vitreous gel that fills the desof the eye. By
themselves, these blood vessels do not cause syramtovision loss. However, these blood vessels fiain,
fragile walls that are prone to leakage and henageh

Diabetic Macular Edema

DME, the primary cause of vision loss associateti @iabetic retinopathy, is a disease affectingniaeula, th
part of the retina responsible for central visidthen the blood vessel leakage of diabetic retirfgpatuses
swelling in the macula, the condition is called DMHe onset of DME is painless and may go undeddayethe
patient until it manifests with the blurring of ¢ead vision or acute vision loss. The severitytugtblurring may
range from mild to profound loss of vision. The \&asin Epidemiologic Study of Diabetic Retinopatbynd that
over a ten-year period approximately 19% of diatsestudied were diagnosed with DME. Based on thigysand
the current diabetic population in the U.S., wéneste the
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incidence of DME in the U.S. to be approximatel¥) ®00 cases annually. As the population of diabéticreases,
we expect the annual incidence of diagnosed DMEdease.

Limitations of Current Treatments for DME

There are no ophthalmic drug therapies presentlyomed by the FDA for the treatment of DME. Thereat
standard of care for the treatment of DME is lgg®tocoagulation. Laser photocoagulation is a aéfinocedure in
which a laser is used to cauterize leaky bloodeless to apply a pattern of burns to reduce ed&fizaal acuity
gains are seen with this therapy, although resuéiighly variable and we believe that it may taigre than eight
months for median visual acuity to improve. Furthlis procedure has undesirable side effects dirgupartial los:
of peripheral and night vision. As a result of #nagle effects and a desire for improved visuat@ues, retinal
specialists have supplemented laser photocoaguladih alternate off-label therapies for the treatrinof DME,
including injections of corticosteroids and antE@F agents. Both corticosteroids and anti-VEGF®snown
improved visual acuity in DME patients in non-piabtlinical trials but are limited by a need for itiple injections
to maintain a therapeutic effect. Corticosteroidgenhistorically been associated with significatréases in
intraocular pressure (IOP), which may increaseigieof glaucoma, and the acceleration of cataiaobation.

ILUVIEN
Overview

Our most advanced product candidate is ILUVIENirravitreal insert designed to provide a therajopeeffect
for up to 36 months in the treatment of DME by deling sustained sub-microgram levels of FAc, a-paprietary
corticosteroid with demonstrated efficacy in treatment of ocular disease. Intravitreal referfitogpace inside the
eye behind the lens that contains the jelly-likestance called vitreous. DME is a disease of ttiraavhich affects
individuals with diabetes and can lead to seves®nriloss and blindness. ILUVIEN is inserted in lfaek of the
patient’s eye using an insertion device (the ILUMIEBserter) employing a 25-gauge needle which aléay a self-
sealing wound. This insertion is very similar te #dministration of an intravitreal injection, apedure commonly
employed by retinal specialists. In the U.S., firiscedure is non-surgical and is performed in ¢imal specialist’'s
office. Based on our analysis of the month 24 céhreadout from our FAME Study, we believe ILUVIHEMNprove:
vision while reducing side effects commonly assietiavith the use of corticosteroids for the follagiireasons:

¢ ILUVIEN delivers FAc The active pharmaceutical ingredient in ILUVIENHAc, which has demonstrated
efficacy in the treatment of DME in our FAME Stuc

¢ ILUVIEN delivers sustainesub-microgram levels of a steroid to the eyle.our clinical trials we studied tv
doses of ILUVIEN (a high-dose with an initial reteaof approximately 0.45ug per day and a low-ddge w
an initial release of approximately 0.23ug per dayjetermine the lowest dose possible that willjate
efficacy for the treatment of DME. The dosage |s\al ILUVIEN provide lower exposure to corticoste®
than other intraocular dosage forms currently abdd. Based on our analysis of the month 24 climgzadou
from our FAME Study in December 2009, we are purgihe approval of the low dose of ILUVIE

¢ ILUVIEN delivers a therapeutic effect for up tor@énths. In vitro release kinetics have shown that
ILUVIEN provides sustained delivery of sub-microgréevels of FAc over time. Based on the resultshef
FAME Study, ILUVIEN provides a therapeutic effentthe treatment of DME for up to 36 mont

« ILUVIEN's placement utilizes the eye’s natural fluid dyi@an There are two natural currents of fluid wit
the eye; one to the front of the eye and the dthére back of the eye, or retina. We believe thaVIEN's
delivery of sustained sub-microgram levels of FAd @nsertion into the back of the eye, a positiuat tve
believe optimizes delivery of FAc to the retinautilizing these natural currents, maximizes efficaad
mitigates possible side effec
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< ILUVIEN is inserted using a -gauge needle.Needle gauge determines the size of the wouridsltacatec
ILUVIEN is inserted into the eye using a 25-gaugedie, which results in a wound that is small einaiog
seal itself after the needle is removed thus elig the need for additional intervention. Usinigrger
needle would require a more complicated insertimegdure to create a s-sealing wound

Fluocinolone Acetonide

Fluocinolone acetonide (FAC) is the active compoimidl UVIEN and a member of the class of steroidewn
as corticosteroids. FAc is a non-proprietary costeroid that has a history of use in treating acdisease as the
active compound in Bausch & Lomb Incorporated’sdoic Retisert (a surgically implanted intravitrdalig
delivery device approved for the treatment of civaron-infectious posterior uveitis). Corticostel®have
demonstrated a range of pharmacological actionfjding inhibition of inflammation, inhibition oflukostasis, up
regulation of occludin, inhibition of release oft@én inflammatory cytokines and suppression of \FE&&cretion.
These pharmacological actions have the potentimétd various ocular conditions, including DMEy &MD, wet
AMD and RVO. However, FAc shares many of the saitie sffects as other corticosteroids currently latéé for
intraocular use, including increased IOP, which nmayease the risk of glaucoma, and the acceleraficataract
formation.

ILUVIEN is Positioned to Reduce Side Effects

Based on our analysis of the final clinical readooin our FAME Study through month 36, it appeduatt
ILUVIEN mitigates the incidence of steroideluced IOP elevations commonly associated withrttraocular use ¢
corticosteroids, which we believe is due to itsakian in the posterior portion of the eye. Fluidagqueous humor,
generated at the ciliary body, located just beltirediris, flows within the eye primarily via two ents. The
predominant current flows through the iris into #reerior chamber and exits the eye mainly thrahgttrabecular
outflow pathway. Another current of outflow is dited toward the back of the eye.

The side effect of increased IOP associated wittiaosteroids in certain people is directly relatedhe
interaction of corticosteroids with the cells oéttrabecular meshwork, a specialized tissue thataaca filter
located in the front of the eye. In some individaorticosteroids result in a build-up of debnighis meshwork,
increasing resistance to outflow, and increasimgure inside the eye. The positioning of ILUVIHM\&S it to
take advantage of the posterior flow of fluid avimym the trabecular meshwork of the eye. We belibie
positioning minimizes the anterior chamber exposoreAc and mitigates the incidence of IOP elevadio

ILUVIEN Provides Sustained Sub-Microgram Delivery

ILUVIEN consists of a tiny polyimide tube with mename caps, licensed by us from pSivida US, Incivig8®)
that is filled with 190ug of FAc in a polyvinyl abol matrix. ILUVIEN is non-bioerodable; howeventh
polyimide and the polyvinyl alcohol matrix are bémapatible with ocular tissues and have historiesafé use
within the eye.

The low dose of ILUVIEN provides sustained sub-mgram levels of FAc and demonstrates a therapeutic
effect for up to 36 months in our FAME Study. Wdidee that ILUVIEN's ability to deliver sub-microgm levels
of FAc mitigates the incidence of IOP elevationmawonly associated with the intraocular use of codieroids.

The ILUVIEN Inserter

We developed the ILUVIEN inserter, a custom insgrsystem for ILUVIEN, which includes improvements
over the modified syringe used during our two Pt8apévotal clinical trials (individually referreatas Trial A and
Trial B, and collectively as our FAME Study). Thasgrovements include ergonomic design featurésresparent
window to visually confirm ILUVIEN'’s presence withithe inserter and a longer needle and markingsitte
retinal specialists to the proper insertion pofxg.was the case with the modified
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syringe used during our FAME Study, the ILUVIEN @nter uses a 25-gauge needle which results in advthat is
small enough to seal itself after ILUVIEN has béeserted into the back of the eye and the needidban
removed. We believe that a 25-gauge needle istiadlest needle capable of delivering ILUVIEN inketback of
eye. In the U.S., this procedure is non-surgicdliarperformed in the retinal specialist’s offidée ILUVIEN
inserter is also being used in our Phase 2 triaihfe use of ILUVIEN in the treatment of RVO.

ILUVIEN Clinical Development Program
Development Program for the Treatment of DME

In September 2010, we completed the FAME StudylLfolVIEN involving 956 patients in sites across the
U.S., Canada, Europe and India to assess the®ffarad safety of ILUVIEN in the treatment of DMEo@bined
enrollment was completed in October 2007, and thetm24 clinical readout from our FAME Study waseaed ir
December 2009. Based on our analysis of the mohtiiical readout from our FAME Study in DecemBen9,
we filed a NDA with the FDA in June 2010 for theMalose of ILUVIEN in the U.S., followed by registian filings
in the United Kingdom, Austria, France, Germanglylt Portugal and Spain in July 2010. In Decemifdi0? we
received a CRL from the FDA regarding our NDA. THRA issued the CRL to communicate its decision that
NDA could not be approved in its present form. Nevrclinical studies were requested by the FDA sn@RL.
However, the FDA asked us for analyses of the paified efficacy data through the end of the FAMEd$tto
further assess the relative benefits and riskE OVIEN. We are currently preparing the analysesRBE& requeste
having completed the FAME Study and publicly reézhdata on February 3, 2011. The FDA is also sgekin
additional information regarding controls and sfieations concerning the manufacturing, packaging a
sterilization of ILUVIEN, which we are in the pragzof compiling. We currently anticipate submittimgr response
to the CRL to the FDA early in the second quarfez@i1. Our submission to the FDA will be considkaeClass 2
response, which will provide for a review periodugfto an additional six months for our NDA. Basedour
discussions with the FDA we anticipate that the REif\ call an advisory committee during this review

Consistent with the FDA requirement for registratand approval of drugs being developed for diabeti
retinopathy, including DME, the primary efficacydgoint for our FAME Study was the difference in thexcentag
of patients whose best corrected visual acuity (BEMproved from baseline by 15 or more lettersioam Early
Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS) eyarichetween the treatment and control groups athmiah
The ETDRS eye chart is the standard used in clivieds for measuring sharpness of sight as estadd by the
National Eye Institur's Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study. dididion, the FDA required a numerical
comparison of the percentage of patients with BGWfrovement of 15 or more letters between the m@dtand
month 18 data to determine if the month 24 resartsequal to or greater than the month 18 redRétents enrolled
in our FAME Study were followed for 36 months. Altigh we submitted the month 24 results to the F@A f
approval, in the CRL the FDA requested the addiidr2 months of clinical data from the completedA Study
through month 36 for review. We are currently pragaa response to the CRL for submission earthénsecond
quarter of 2011 including this additional efficeanyd safety data. We also plan to submit efficacy safety data
through the end of the trial to the applicable tatpry authorities in the United Kingdom, Austriazance, German
Italy, Portugal and Spain in the second quarte&0dfl.

In the European Union, we are utilizing the decaited registration procedure. The ILUVIEN insentigysten
will not require a separate device application,ibatust meet the safety and regulatory requiremehthe
applicable regulatory authorities when evaluategdaas of the drug product marketing application.

FAME Study

We initiated our FAME Study in September 2005. TAand Trial B had identical protocols and comptét
enrollment in October 2007 with a total of 956 pats across 101 academic and private practicerseftéal A
drew patients from sites located in the northegioms of the U.S., Europe and India and all site€anada, while
sites in the southern regions of the U.S., Indid Buarope comprise Trial B.
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Our FAME Study was designed to assess the safétgfdicacy of ILUVIEN in patients with DME involvig
the center of the macula, and who had at leaspdoemacular laser treatment 12 weeks or morerbeftudy entry
The inclusion criteria for our FAME Study were dgged to select DME patients with BCVA between 2058
letters on the ETDRS eye chart) and 20/400 (18retin the ETDRS eye chart) in the study eye andaree than
20/400 in the non-study eye. Patients who had vedesteroid drug treatments for DME within threenths of
screening or anti-VEGF injections within two montifscreening, and patients with glaucoma, ocwaehtension,
IOP greater than 21mmHg or concurrent therapy 1@tR-lowering agents in the study eye at screeniagewot
eligible to participate in this trial.

Patient characteristics, such as age, gender amditta BCVA, were balanced across the treatmentantol
groups. As part of randomization, the patients vdivaled into two separate groups, those with &liss BCVA
score greater than or equal to 49 letters on tHeH eye chart and those with a baseline BCVA seobtess than
49 letters on the ETDRS eye chart.

We randomly assigned patients participating infFeAME Study to one of three groups at a ratio of 2:The
first two of these groups were assigned to an ectiug formulation and the third group served asctntrol group,
undergoing a sham insertion procedure designedrtoanan intravitreal insertion. The treatment grewpnsisted ¢
one group receiving a low dose of ILUVIEN and amsthroup receiving a high dose of ILUVIEN. To reduc
potential bias, these trials used a randomizedhldemasked study design so that neither the patienthe
investigational staff involved with assessing tla¢ignt knew to which group the patient belongecbrier to
simulate an insertion and help to maintain progiept masking, the sham insertion procedure ireduall steps
involved in the insertion procedure, except thahlent inserter without a needle was used to appgsure to the
anesthetized eye.

As part of our FAME Study, investigators were aolee-treat each patient with ILUVIEN following tine
month 12 follow up visit if certain criteria wereetn Through the end of the FAME Study, 25.6% ofgrds were
treated with more than one ILUVIEN insert and 4.0ffpatients were treated with three or more ILUVIENerts.

Primary Efficacy Endpoint. The primary efficacy endpoint for our FAME Stuahs the difference in the
percentage of patients with improved BCVA from Bim®eof 15 or more letters on the ETDRS eye chiamanth 2
between the treatment and control groups.

Full Analysis Set. In December 2009, we received the month 24 @imeadout for our FAME Study and
analyzed the full data set consistent with the meoendations regarding the appropriate populatiopfionary
analysis as described in the FDA-adopted Internati@onference on Harmonization of Technical Rexyugnts for
Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (IGid)dance E9, “Statistical Principles for Clinidaials.” ICH
is a joint initiative involving regulatory authads and pharmaceutical industry representatives fEarope, Japan
and the U.S. who discuss scientific and technispéats of product registration.

The full data set includes all 956 patients randmaiinto our FAME Study, with data imputation enyad,
using “last observation carried forward” (LOCF)t ftata missing because of patients who discontitihedrial or
are unavailable for follow-up (the Full AnalysistSAs part of our analyses, we determined statsiksignificance
based on the Hochberg-Bonferroni procedure (H-Beulare), which is a procedure employed to contol f
multiple comparisons. We also made a target p-vatljestment of 0.0001 to account for each of time imstances
our independent data safety monitoring board resttunmasked interim clinical data. These adjusteesgulted i
a required p-value of 0.0491 or lower for each BAITA and Trial B to demonstrate statistical sfgr@ince for both
the low dose and high dose of ILUVIEN. Based ug@ B procedure, if either dose of ILUVIEN in a triabdhot
meet statistical significance, the alternate doas sequired to achieve a p-value of 0.02455 or towthat trial to
demonstrate statistical significance.

In the Full Analysis Set, the primary efficacy endy was met with statistical significance for batie low
dose and the high dose of ILUVIEN in Trial A andal'B, as well as on a combined basis. The tablewe
summarizes the primary efficacy variable results.
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Patients Gaining At Least 15 Letters At Month 24

Trial A Trial B
Study Group Individuals % P-Value Individuals % P-Value
Control 14/98 14.7% — 16/9C 17.&8% —
Low Dose 51/19( 26.6%  0.02¢ 57/18¢ 30.6%  0.03(
High Dose 51/19¢ 26.(% 0.03¢ 62/19¢ 31.2%  0.02i
Combined
Study Group Individuals % P-value
Control 30/18t  16.2% —
Low Dose 108/37¢ 28.7%  0.00:z
High Dose 113/39¢ 28.¢%  0.00z

Additionally, as required by the FDA, a numericahtparison of the responder rates at month 18 andhris!
in the Full Analysis Set demonstrated that the gadpr rates for both the low dose and high doseWVIEN at
month 24 were numerically greater than the monthe$8onder rates in both Trial A and Trial B.

Based on these results, we filed an NDA in Juné®Z6d.the low dose of ILUVIEN in the U.S., followdxy
registration filings in the United Kingdom, Austriarance, Germany, Italy, Portugal and Spain ig 201L0. In
December 2010, we received a CRL from the FDA miggrour NDA. The FDA issued the CRL to communicate
its decision that the NDA could not be approveitsrpresent form. No new clinical studies were esjad by the
FDA in the CRL. However, the FDA asked us for asabyof the safety and efficacy data through theoéige
FAME Study to further assess the relative benefiis risks of ILUVIEN. We are currently preparing thnalyses
the FDA requested having completed the FAME Study/@ublicly released data on February 3, 2011.

The low dose of ILUVIEN, which we submitted to thBA for approval, in the Full Analysis Set for Tiria
demonstrated statistically significant differenbesween ILUVIEN patients gaining 15 or more lettersnonth 30
and month 33 and the control group. The therapeffiict was maintained at month 36. The table bedommarize
the primary efficacy variable results for Trial Araonths 30, 33 and 36.

Patients Gaining At Least 15 Letters in Trial A

At Month 30 At Month 33 At Month 36
Individuals % P-Value Individuals % P-Value Individuals % P-Value
Control 14/98 14.7% — 16/9t 16.8% — 18/9t 18.9% —
Low Dose 55/19C 28.9% 0.011 54/19(C 28.4% 0.04:z 54/19( 28.4% 0.10¢
High Dose 53/19¢ 26.9% 0.02: 56/19¢ 28.6% 0.03¢ 53/19¢ 27.(% 0.14Z
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In Trial B, statistically significant differencegtween ILUVIEN patients gaining 15 or more lettever
baseline were demonstrated at month 30 and moném@3he control group. The table below summatrizes
primary efficacy variable results for Trial B at ntbs 30, 33 and 36.

Patients Gaining At Least 15 Letters in Trial B

At Month 30 At Month 33 At Month 36
Individuals % P-Value Individuals % P-Value Individuals % P-Value
Control 14/9C 15.6% — 16/9C 17.8% — 17/9C 18.9% —
Low Dose 63/18¢ 33.9% 0.00Z 55/18¢ 29.6% 0.04¢ 54/18¢ 29.(% 0.08¢
High Dose 58/19¢ 29.1% 0.01¢ 58/19¢ 29.1% 0.05] 57/19¢ 28.€% 0.111]

The FDA has confirmed that there is no requirenb@mtemonstrate statistical significance in the trials
individually or in the aggregate at month 36. Tlere, we believe these results meet the criteniaeplication of
efficacy in the two studies.

Trial A and B data combined demonstrated statibfisignificant differences between ILUVIEN patient
gaining 15 or more letters over baseline at moBGtmdnth 33 and month 36 and the control group.tahke below
summarizes the primary efficacy variable resultsTigal A and Trial B combined at months 30, 33 &6d

Patients Gaining At Least 15 Letters in Trial A andTrial B Combined

At Month 30 At Month 33 At Month 36
Individuals % P-Value Individuals % P-Value Individuals % P-Value
Control 28/18t 15.1% — 32/18t 17.2% — 35/18t 18.9% —
Low Dose 118/37¢ 31.4% <0.00] 109/37¢ 29.(% 0.00¢ 108/37¢ 28.7% 0.01¢
High Dose 111/39¢ 28.(% 0.001 114/39¢ 28.€% 0.00¢ 110/39¢ 27.€% 0.02¢

We intend to submit these data from the final readd the FAME Study through month 36 to the FDA in
connection with our response to the CRL, which wiicgpate submitting early in the second quarte2@f1. Our
submission to the FDA will be considered a Classsponse, which will provide for a review periodugfto an
additional six months for our NDA for ILUVIEN. Baden our discussions with the FDA we anticipate tha
FDA will call an advisory committee during this few. Additionally, we plan to submit the additiorsalfety and
efficacy data through the final readout at the ehithe FAME Study to regulatory authorities in thrited
Kingdom, Austria, France, Germany, Italy, Portugradl Spain in the second quarter of 2011.

Additional Clinical Observations.In addition to the primary efficacy variable, aiso observed a number of
other clinically relevant results in the final read from our FAME Study through month 36. Theseenbations
included, among others, the following:

« patients with improved BCVA of 15 or more letteteach follow up visit
« patients with improved BCVA of 15 or more lettetsaay time point

« other levels of BCVA improvement at month :

« BCVA improvement of 15 or more letters relativebtseline BCVA

* Mean change in BCVA letter scol

« BCVA improvements beyond month 24; ¢

* decrease in excess foveal thicknt

12
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The analyses of these Full Analysis Set observatsen forth below are presented for Trial A anclT®i on a
combined basis for patients who received the loseduf ILUVIEN in comparison to the control groupateéments
regarding statistical significance do not reflety adjustments to the p-values calculated for mpl@tcomparisons

and analyses.

Patients With Improved BCVA of 15 Letters or Mar&ach Follow Up Visit. Our analysis of the combined
Trial A and Trial B results of the FAME Study thglumonth 36 indicates that the low dose of ILUVIRNMvides
an improvement in BCVA as early as three weekg afsertion. The low dose of ILUVIEN was statistiga
significantly better than the control group in 6 &ME Study by week 3 of patient follow up, and ntained a
statistically significant advantage over the continoough month 36, with a peak efficacy of 31.4éhiaving
improved BCVA of 15 or more letters from baselinerenth 30. The chart below demonstrates the tresteffect
of the low dose of ILUVIEN versus the control groas measured by an improvement in BCVA of 15 lstte
more, at each scheduled follow up visit during FAME Study.

Control == [LUVIEN

%o of Subjects

Momnth

Patients With Improved BCVA of 15 or More Lettaréuay Time Point. Our analysis of the results of the
FAME Study through month 36 indicates that a sigaiitly greater percentage of patients receivimgldlv dose of
ILUVIEN versus the control group had an improvemierBCVA of 15 letters or more when assessed atfaligw
up visit. During the 36 months of the FAME Stud@5lout of 376 patients randomized to receive tinedose of
ILUVIEN, or 49.2%, demonstrated improved BCVA of lEfters or more at any time point compared to &0od

185 patients, or 32.4%, randomized to the contralp.

Other Levels of BCVA Improvement at Month 3&hile the FDA's requirement for the registratiamd
approval of drugs being developed for DME is that primary efficacy variable be based on an impmoamt in
BCVA of 15 letters or more, lesser degrees of impment in BCVA are considered clinically signifitan
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by retinal physicians. The table below demonstrtedow dose of ILUVIEN's statistically significan
improvements in BCVA versus the control group anthd6 of our FAME Study.

Trial A & Trial B Combined

BCVA Improvement Control Low Dose P-Value
Greater than 1 letter 57.8% 69.7%
Greater than 5 letters 45.4% 58.%
Greater than 10 letters 33.5% 43.4%

BCVA Improvement of 15 or More Letters RelativBageline BCVA. Our analysis of the results of the FAME
Study at month 36 indicates that ILUVIEN has aistatlly significant advantage over the contrabgp
irrespective of the severity of a patient’'s baseBCVA. The table below demonstrates the statitfiséggnificant
treatment effect of ILUVIEN versus the control gpom patients with baseline BCVA of more than 4t9ees on the
EDTRS eye chart, and patients with BCVA of 49 letter less on the EDTRS eye chart at baseline.

Trial A & Trial B Combined

Baseline BCVA Control Low Dose P-Value
Greater than 49 Letters 16.% 21.8% 0.292
49 Letters or Less 24.5% 44.2% 0.022

Mean Change in BCVA Letter Scor®ur analysis of the results of the FAME Studytlgh month 36
indicates that the low dose of ILUVIEN provided an@ beneficial improvement in visual acuity thaa tontrol
group as analyzed by the mean change in the BCWér Iscore from baseline. As demonstrated in thplybelow,
the mean change in BCVA for the patients receitirgglow dose of ILUVIEN was an increase of 5.3dettat
month 36, peaking at an increase of 6.0 lettensaaith 6, compared to an increase of 2.0 lettetisarcontrol group,
peaking at an increase of 2.6 letters at week 6.3\ dose of ILUVIEN was statistically significdybetter than
the control group at month 36 (p-value 0.007).

Control == [LLIVIEN
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During our FAME Study, patients that were phakiadla natural lens and no prior cataract surgeryaseline,
61 of 121, or 50.4% of the control group and 19238, or 81.7% of the low dose of ILUVIEN had catzr
formation reported as an adverse event throughm@®itFor these same phakic patients, 27.3% afdh&ol grouy
and 80.0% of the low dose group underwent catawacgery through month 24. For the patients in tivedose
group the median time to reporting cataract fororais an adverse event was approximately 12 mdnatims
randomization into the FAME Study. The median timeataract surgery was approximately 18 monthi& Th
interval, between the report of cataract formatieran adverse event and cataract surgery, acdoutiie decrease
in the mean change in BCVA in patients receiving ltw dose of ILUVIEN from the month 6 follow upsit to the
month 18 follow up visit.

The temporary effect of cataracts is further ilatgd by comparing the mean change in BCVA of #@ lbw
dose patients that were pseudophakic (had ancaatifens) to the 235 that were phakic (naturasland no prior
cataract surgery) at baseline. The chart below sttbespseudophakic subset (those who would not Vigign
affected by a cataract) achieved a mean chang€\nABof more than 7 letters by month 6 and maintdittés mea
change through month 36 while the phakic subsetraipced a decrease in the mean change in BCVA them
month 6 follow up visit to the month 18 follow ufsit. The temporary decrease in mean change in B&MAe
phakic population is consistent with the total Idese population.

== P:cudophakic {artificial lens) at baseline Phakic (natural lens) at basehne
9.0
B0
7.0
6.0
3.0 i
4.0
30 |
20
1.0

Mean Change in BCVA Letter Score

Month

Decrease In Excess Foveal Thickness.addition to the functional measures of BCV/Ae assessed the ability
of ILUVIEN to affect a decrease in excess fove@khess, an anatomic outcome, as measured by bpticarence
tomography. Excess foveal thickness is a measureofiéne swelling of the macula at its center pgkrtown as th
fovea). We consider any measurement above 180 nidmorepresent excess foveal thickness. Based@vieav of
the final clinical readout through month 36, as marized in the chart below, patients receivingltive dose of
ILUVIEN demonstrated a statistically significanffdrence versus the control group in decreasingexfoveal
thickness by week 1 of patient follow up of our FENBtudy, and maintain a statistically significadvantage
through month 36. At month 36, patients receiving lbw
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dose of ILUVIEN demonstrated a mean decrease inssxfoveal thickness of 168.3 microns versus 12fcfons
for the control group.

Control == [LUVIEN Low Dose

Month

Safety. Our safety assessment in connection with the ma4tclinical readout of the FAME Study includet
reported adverse events at that time, regardleagafients progression in the FAME Study. Some reported iz
events occurred beyond patients’ month 24 followisfis. We also assessed safety through the cdimplef the
FAME Study in month 36. ILUVIEN was well toleratéltrough this readout in both the low and high duesgent
populations. Our assessment of adverse eventrdiitaies that there is no apparent risk of systaaerse events
to patients as a result of the use of ILUVIEN. Tise of corticosteroids in the eye is primarily assi@d with two
undesirable side effects: increased IOP, which imergase the risk of glaucoma and require additipracedures
to manage, and the acceleration of cataract foomaixcluding I0P related side effects and catdmatation and
surgery, we observed no significant eye relatecesdvevents when comparing both the low dose ajidduse
patient populations to the control group. Thus bsbkeve that the adverse events associated withdbef
ILUVIEN are within the acceptable limits of a driay the treatment of DME.
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The table below summarizes the IOP related adwersets occurring in all patients randomized anatée in
our FAME Study at the time of the month 24 and rha@4 clinical readouts

As of the Month 24 Data Base

Lock As of Trial Completion
Control ~ Low Dose  High Dose  Control ~ Low Dose  High Dose
N=185  N=375 N=393 N=185 N=375 N=393
IOP > 30 mmHg(1) 2. 7% 16.2% 21.€% 4.2% 18.4% 22.<%
Trabeculoplasty 0.0% 1.2% 2.5% 0.C% 1.2% 2.5%
IOP-Lowering Surgeries
Trabeculectomy (filtration) 0.0% 2.1% 5.1% 0.C% 2. 1% 5.€%
Vitrectomy 0.0% 0.2% 0.5% 0.C% 0.2% 0.5%
Other Surgery Performed 0.5% 1.€% 2.5% 0.5% 2.1% 3.3%
Percentage of Patients Requiring One or Mort
IOP-Lowering Surgeries 0.5% 3.7% 7.4% 0.5% 4.8% 8.1%

(1) An I0P of 30 mmHg is a clinically significant levidlat we use in assessing adverse ev

According to the CDC, diabetic individuals agedds®lder are 1.5 times more likely to develop catts than
non-diabetic individuals. A review of the baselate@racteristics of our patient population reflgbts increased risk
of cataracts for diabetic patients, with 34.8%haf patients treated in our FAME Study having presip undergon
a cataract surgery in the study eye. The montHi@&al readout from our FAME Study (which includesported
adverse events that occurred beyond the patierstim®4 follow up visits) indicated that, of patiemvho had a
natural lens (no prior cataract surgery) at baseli.3% of the control group, 80.0% of the lowedaad 87.5% of
the high dose had cataract formation reported aslaarse event through month 24. Additionally,hef patients
who had a natural lens at baseline, 23.1% of tidrabgroup, 74.9% of the low dose and 84.5% ofttigh dose
underwent cataract surgery. The final clinical m#dndicated that, of patients who had a natumas lat baseline,
50.4% of the control group and 81.7% of the loweadbad cataract formation reported as an adversd tueugh
month 36. Additionally, of the patients who hadaaumal lens at baseline, 27.3% of the control grang 80.0% of
the low dose underwent cataract surgery.

PK Study

Regulatory agencies require carcinogenicity stugiesiimals to identify tumorigenic potential inigrals to
assess the relevant risk in humans as a resufstdmic exposure. We initiated an open-label PRaseman
pharmacokinetic clinical study (PK Study) in Aug@807 to assess the systemic exposure of fluogiecdaetonide
(FAc) by measuring plasma levels of FAc. Analydiplasma levels through month 18 in September 2009
demonstrated no systemic exposure of FAc (plaswedavere below the limit of detection of 100 picags per
milliliter). Based on month 18 readouts from ouengabel Phase 2 human pharmacokinetic clinical (RK
Study), which indicate that there is negligibleteysic absorption of FAc in patients being treatéith W UVIEN,
we submitted a carcinogenicity waiver in our sulsioiss to the FDA and European health authoritidthofigh the
FDA did not specifically state in the CRL that tlaiver has been granted, the CRL did not includeraquirement
to conduct a carcinogenicity study. In the PreliamnAssessment Report issued by the United Kinghitedicines
and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency (MHR®Ag,MHRA stated that the lack of singlese, carcinogenici
and reproductive and developmental toxicity studigh ILUVIEN is acceptable.

ILUVIEN for Other Diseases of the Eye

We believe that ILUVIEN has the potential to addrether ophthalmic diseases such as dry AMD, weDAM
and RVO. Details regarding the rationale for thetber indications are as follows:

e Dry AMD. We believe that dry AMD patients account for 96#AMD patients, with the greatest unmet
need among these patients being a treatment fgragglic atrophy (GA) for which there are curremtty
treatments available. F-clinical studies in two established rat modelsatiral
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degeneration reported at the Association for Bebein Vision and Ophthalmology meetings in 200@)7
and 2008, described the efficacious effects of @ahirized version of ILUVIEN in two animal moded§
retinal degeneration. Based on these results, warbenrollment of a pilot study in December 20084sess
the safety and efficacy of ILUVIEN in patients witilateral GA secondary to AMD. Our Phase 2 stutlg (
MAP GA Trial) is comparing the two doses of ILUVIBN a sham injection in patients with bilateral GA
secondary to AMD. The change from baseline in sfZ8A will be assessed over tirr

* Wet AMD. The size of the wet AMD market was $2 billion2008 according to visiongain, an independent
competitive intelligence organization. We beliel& VIEN will be synergistic with the market leadirgti-
VEGF therapies in the treatment of wet AMD. ANMEEGFs require persistent dosing to maintain a theumtic
effect which is a burden on both the patient amrdptysician. Given that corticosteroids have béenve to
suppress the production of VEGF, a Phase 2 inastigponsored study (the MAP Trial) is assesging t
safety and efficacy of ILUVIEN in conjunction wittucentis in patients with wet AMD. Patients will be
enrolled who have been treated with Lucentis fdeast six months and whose visual acuity has plete.
At baseline, subjects will receive either the hagse or the low-dose of ILUVIEN and an injection of
Lucentis. Subjects will receive additional Lucentigctions during the study only if subretinaliotraretinal
fluid persists. Outcome measures will include thange from baseline visual acuity at six monthsg, mean
number of injections of Lucentis over the-month study period versus the six months priotuoysentry.

¢ Macular edema associated with -ischemic RVO. We believe that the prevalence of retinal veidlwsion
in the U.S. range from approximately 800,000 torapimnately 1.6 million. In September 2009, Allergan
introduced Ozurdex (a three to five month dexansztha intravitreal implant) as the first approvedduorct
for macular edema following branch or retinal veatlusion. In June 2010, Genentech'’s drug Lucentis
received approval for this condition. Retinal spéists have been using intravitreal injectionshaf t
corticosteroid triamcinolone acetonide on an offelabasis to treat non-ischemic RVO. The FDA apalod
Ozurdex provides additional evidence that loweelswf a steroid work effectively for RVO. In Semieer
2009, we began enrollment for a Phase 2 studyH#\¢OR Study) to assess the safety and efficacy of
ILUVIEN in patients with macular edema secondariRi®O. The FAVOR Study is comparing the two doses
of ILUVIEN in patients with macular edema secondarRVO.

ILUVIEN Registration Plan
U.S. Regulatory Requirements

In the U.S., clinical evidence of the effectivene§f_UVIEN for the treatment of DME from our FAMEtudy
is based on two time-point comparisons. The prinadiigacy variable is the proportion of patientsonave visual
acuity improvement in their study eye, referred$ahe responder rate, based on the change fragtirtzam BCVA
as measured on the ETDRS eye chart. BCVA improvemeatefined as an increase from baseline of I'hare
letters in BCVA as measured on the ETDRS eye clant.primary efficacy endpoint is defined at mo&thof our
FAME Study using this variable. Based on the m@&#ltlinical readout, ILUVIEN has demonstrated eftig in the
treatment of DME in our FAME Study. Then as reqdiby the FDA, another numerical comparison of the
responder rates at months 18 and 24 of our FAMHBySias conducted to demonstrate that the respoates at
month 24 are numerically greater than or equahéomonth 18 responder rates. Patients enrolledriffAME Stud:
were followed for 36 months. Although we submitted month 24 results to the FDA in our NDA for ILUBN for
approval, in the CRL the FDA requested the addiidr2 months of clinical data from the completedA Study
through month 36 for review. We are currently prémaa response to the CRL for submission earthénsecond
quarter of 2011 including this additional efficaayd safety data.
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Regulatory Requirements in Other Jurisdictiol

There are no specific guidance documents for tinécal development of ophthalmic drug products mgof
the U.S. for the treatment of diabetic retinopathfpME. We have met with regulatory authoritiesOanada,
Germany, Spain, France, Portugal and the Unitediddm and presented our overall preclinical, tecinidinical
and statistical development plans which includeduse of visual function as the primary efficacgd@wint and an
anatomical measure as a co-primary efficacy endpoikey secondary efficacy endpoint. We also pasubmit
efficacy and safety data through the end of the EASAudy to the applicable regulatory authoritiethie United
Kingdom, Austria, France, Germany, Italy, Portugradl Spain in the second quarter of 2011.

Commercialization

We believe that ILUVIEN will be the first ophthalmdrug approved by the FDA for the treatment of Dt
the only single treatment drug therapy providirguatained therapeutic effect of longer than six tmerOur
commercialization strategy will be to establish MIEN as a leading therapy for the treatment of D4l
subsequently for other indications. In the U.S. @atiada we intend to distribute ILUVIEN to physi@aand
through wholesalers and specialty pharmacies migjipur outside sales force. Although we anticightéVIEN
being administered as a standalone therapy, wetimresee the use of ILUVIEN as precluding the sustration
of other therapies in conjunction with ILUVIEN. INJEN is not approved by the FDA. Our commercialiaat
strategy is subject to and dependent upon theataylapproval of ILUVIEN for the treatment of DME.

Sales and Marketing

We are led by an executive team with extensive ldpmeent and commercialization expertise with ophta
products including the launch and management aidsise, a drug product sponsored by Novartis andirste
pharmacological treatment indicated for the treatnoé wet AMD. We intend to capitalize on our maaaggnt’'s
experience and expertise in marketing eye-careystsdy marketing and selling ILUVIEN to the approately
1,600 retinal specialists practicing in the appmedely 900 retina centers in the U.S. and Canadad our outsic
sales force. The concentration of retinal sped&lisa small number of retina centers and ILUVIERXpected
status as the only ophthalmic drug therapy appréwyeithe FDA for the treatment of DME and its loegnb
sustained release characteristic are factors thdteleve will accelerate the adoption of ILUVIEM tetinal
specialists. We intend to seek a commercializgtantner for sales and marketing activities outdideth America.

Our plan has been to ensure that influential reipacialists are presenting our FAME Study dategtretina
meetings, to develop our medical marketing, proamé&nd communication materials and to build our own
specialized domestic sales and marketing infratraccomprised of approximately 40 people, to realkUVIEN
and other ophthalmic products that we acquire geldp in the future. In preparation for the comnmrtaunch of
ILUVIEN previously anticipated to occur in the firfsalf of 2011, we began recruiting our sales aadketing
infrastructure personnel with extensive ophthalb@sed sales experience in the fourth quarter d.20/k have
hired our three field directors but have determinetito add the personnel and incur the costsrofghand training
an internal sales force at this time. We enterémlarrelationship with OnCall LLC, a contract sdi@xe company,
who will utilize their employees to act as our salepresentatives if we receive approval of theMLEN NDA from
the FDA. We expect that following an FDA approvabar NDA, the OnCall sales force will be able txass and
form relationships with retinal specialists in #ygproximately 900 retina centers for the commetaiahch of
ILUVIEN. In connection with the commercial launchlbUVIEN, we expect to hire additional personneldupport
the activities of customer service, post-markephgrmacovigilance, medical affairs and regulatmmpliance.
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Manufacturing

We do not have, and do not intend to establismdruse manufacturing capability for our productd as a
result we will depend heavily on thipghrty contract manufacturers to produce and pac&ageroducts. We requi
that these manufacturers produce active pharmaeduigredients, or APIs, and finished drug produit
accordance with cGMPs and all other applicable laméregulations. We anticipate that we will refyaontract
manufacturers to develop and manufacture our ptedac commercial sale. We maintain agreements patential
and existing manufacturers that include confidditiand intellectual property provisions to pratecr proprietary
rights related to our product candidates.

We are in the process of finalizing long-term agrents with the manufacturer of the APl in ILUVIEN
(FARMABIOS SpA/Byron Chemical Company Inc.) and thanufacturer of the ILUVIEN inserter (Flextronics
International, Ltd or an affiliate of Flextronicstérnational, Ltd. (Flextronics)). We have finalize long-term
agreement with the manufacturer of ILUVIEN (Alliandedical Products Inc.) which is discussed below.

pSivida manufactured our clinical trial materiats bur FAME Study, our PK Study and for the Phas#rfical
trials being conducted for the use of ILUVIEN fbettreatment of dry AMD and wet AMD. pSivida’s
manufacturing process is manual and labor interesivenot practical for commercial manufacturing. Waerked
with Flextronics and Alliance to develop a manufiaicty process where automation is employed wherfeesible
so that we have a process capable of being scaléolproduce commercial quantities. The manufaetuprocess
for ILUVIEN consists of filling the polyimide tubwith a matrix consisting of FAc and polyvinyl aladi{PVA),
cutting the tubes, capping the tubes with membcaps, curing at high temperature, loading ILUVIENide the
ILUVIEN inserter, packaging and sterilizing the guzt. This process has been transferred and vadigstAlliance
the third-party contract manufacturer of ILUVIENIliAnce is also the provider of the clinical triabterials for the
Phase 2 clinical trial being conducted for the aiSk.UVIEN in the treatment of RVO. We have discaedsour
approach to show equivalency of the pSivida martufamy process to the commercial manufacturing @seavith
the FDA, the MHRA and the German Bundeninstitut&aneimittel und Medizinprodukte (BfArM). The CRL
received from the FDA and the assessment repartsvier from the European Health Authorities did rad¢e any
issue with our demonstration of equivalency betwiermanufacturing processes at pSivida and Aléahiowever
in the CRL the FDA did notify us that the methodsd in and the facilities and controls used fag,tfanufacturing
processing, packing, or holding of the drug proditdtvo of our manufacturers did not comply with\MBs during
recent inspections. One of the manufacturers redetenfirmation from the FDA in March 2011 thatitHacility is
acceptable and the second manufacturer is in diEmswith the FDA to resolve its deficiencies.

In February 2010, we entered into a commercial rfaanturing agreement with Alliance Medical Produdis,.
(Alliance) whereby Alliance agreed to manufactund package ILUVIEN for us at its Irvine, Califorriiacility. We
purchased certain equipment and loaned such eqotgm@lliance solely for the purpose of allowindjiance to
manufacture and package ILUVIEN for us. Under theeament, we are also responsible for supplyintadie witt
the ILUVIEN inserter and the active pharmaceutiogtedient. Pursuant to our agreement with Allianeehave
agreed to order from Alliance at least 80% of ataltrequirements for new units of ILUVIEN in thedJ, Canada
and Europe in a calendar year; provided that Adigais able to fulfill our supply requirements asdot in breach ¢
its agreements or obligations to us. Unless tertathaarlier in accordance with the provisions tbgreur
agreement with Alliance has an initial six yeamend will automatically renew for successive oaaryperiods
unless either party delivers written notice of menewal to the other at least 12 months prior ¢éoethd of the
current term.
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In our NDA for ILUVIEN, we provided the FDA with eompleted process validation package on three lots
which described manufacturing and packaging proesdand in-process controls. Validation was coretiion
small scale, 400 unit batches but in the U.S.,dhisbe scaled up to 10 times. In addition, we stibthup to
18 months of stability data from three primary ditgbbatches to demonstrate that the product mactufed using
the process as described meets the product sgicifis. The same process validation package wamsigal in the
Marketing Authorization Application (MAA) in Europ&/alidation was based on small scale batches andilbe
limited to this batch size for product sold in Epeo

In preparation for commercial production, Alliarttas successfully completed an engineering batch to
demonstrate that the process can be scaled uftar80Obatches. Two scaled-up batches were alsiessfully
manufactured demonstrating that the critical stgpt and including application of the cap membsaare
reproducible.

Competition

The development and commercialization of new damgsdrug delivery technologies is highly compegtiWe
will likely face competition with respect to ILUVIE and any products we may develop or commerciatizee
future from major pharmaceutical companies, spgc@iarmaceutical companies and biotechnology coiepa
worldwide, many of whom have substantially grefiteancial and other resources than we do. If ILUMIE
approved for use in the treatment of DME, it widhepete against laser photocoagulation and off-labelof anti-
VEGF and corticosteroid injections, or other théaghat may be approved in the future. While wieelse that
ILUVIEN will be the first ophthalmic drug therapypproved by the FDA for the treatment of DME, thare other
companies working to develop other drug therapigssaustained delivery platforms for DME and othmefi¢ations.
We believe that the following companies providegndial competition to our product candidates:

« Allergan, Inc.’s (Allergan) product Ozurdexefgmethasone intravitreal implant), is a bioerogl@stended
release implant that delivers the corticosteroxbdgethasone. Ozurdex was approved in 2009 for rmacul
edema following branch or central RVO and non-ititecs uveitis affecting the posterior segment ef ¢ye
in September 2010 and showed duration of theraplgreé to five months. In addition, Allergan’s puotl
Trivaris (triamcinolone acetonide injectable suspem) is approved for sympathetic ophthalmia, terapo
arteritis, uveitis and other inflammatory condiaimresponsive to topical corticosteroids. Trivagigot
indicated for the treatment of DME, dry AMD, wet AWor RVO.

¢ Alcon, Inc.’s (Alcon) product TRIESENCE (trimmolone acetonide injectable suspension), a pratee
free synthetic corticosteroid for visualization ithgr vitrectomy, is approved for the treatment ahgathetic
ophthalmia, temporal arteritis, uveitis and oth#laimmatory conditions unresponsive

21




Table of Contents

topical corticosteroids. TRIESENCE is not indicatedthe treatment of DME, dry AMD, wet AMD or RV

¢ Genentech Inc.’s (Genentech) products Lucérdisbizumab injection) and Avastin (bevacizumdith
antibodies that block all isoforms of VEGF, arentgestudied for the treatment of DME. Lucentis isrently
approved for the treatment of patients with neoulsavet AMD and the treatment of macular edema
following RVO in the U.S. and the European Uniond &or the treatment of DME in the European Union.
However, Lucentis is currently enrolled in Phasgi@ical trials for the treatment of DME in the U.S
Avastin is currently marketed as an oncology produmcl is not indicated for the treatment of DMB; dr
AMD or RVO. Genentech is a who-owned member of the Roche Grol

e Eyetech, Inc.’s product Macugen (pegaptandiwsu injection) is an anti-VEGF aptamer against \FE(®5.
It has been FDAapproved for treatment of all subtypes of chororadvascularization in patients with AN
Macugen is not indicated for the treatment of DMEy, AMD or RVO.

In addition, there are a number of other compairediding Regeneron, Inc., MacuSight, Inc., Thragénics
NV. and Novagali Pharma S.A., that are developingdherapies or sustained delivery platforms ffiertreatmen
of ocular disease. These companies are seekimpty their technologies to ophthalmic indicationseiarly stage
clinical trials.

We believe we will be less likely to face genemenpetition for ILUVIEN because of the bioequivalgnc
requirements of a generic form of ILUVIEN. For angeic pharmaceutical competitor to ILUVIEN, bioegalency
must be established through the demonstration efjaivalent pharmacodynamic endpoint in a clinfgal. We
believe conducting such a clinical trial would lwesicprohibitive and time consuming.

The licensing and acquisition of pharmaceuticabtipits, which is part of our strategy, is a highdynpetitive
area. A number of more established companies soepairsuing strategies to license or acquire prigsditiese
established companies may have a competitive aglgarmtver us due to their size, cash flow and utgiital
experience.

Other Pipeline Products
NADPH Oxidase Inhibition

We believe that the management of oxidative sigeas important strategy in managing the developraed
progression of diseases of the eye, and we belieteNADPH oxidase inhibitors have the potentiattanage
oxidative stress. Oxidative stress is a conditibrerg excess reactive oxygen intermediates geneedélyred to as
reactive oxygen species (ROS), are produced. Tdruption of ROS is not always pathogenic, howewemy
researchers believe that when the level of ROSrhes@xcessive, pathogenic processes are initigsalfing in
diseased tissue.

NADPH oxidase has been identified as an enzymesy#tat generates ROS as its primary function. NADP
oxidase has been identified in almost every tiggpe and there is a significant amount of scientiferature
associating NADPH oxidase activation with many eyst and ocular conditions. In the eye, the infohibf
NADPH oxidase has been shown to prevent or slowgbadgly in various models of ocular disease, inaigdietinal
degeneration, retinal neovascularization, choraid@vascularization and uveitis. In addition, thesgnce of
NADPH oxidase in corneal epithelial cells implicateas having a possible role in dry eye, ancatttevation of
NADPH oxidase in certain pollen grains upon hydratimplicates its role in allergic conjunctivit

In July and August 2009, we executed agreementsBvitory University, whereby we acquired exclusive,
worldwide licenses of rights under patent applaadi covering two classes of NADPH oxidase inhilsit@ur
strategy around NADPH oxidase inhibition will tatgas the first indication, the treatment of dry BNMnd
specifically the end stage of this condition knaagngeographic atrophy. We have initiated a tegtiogess to
identify the optimal candidate for formulation irsastained release dosage form for the treatmeggagraphic
atrophy. In addition to studying NADPH oxidase Mnitors, and specifically an
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intraocular dosage form, to treat dry AMD, we bediehat these compounds and this dosage form basotiential
to treat other diseases of the eye including weDANIabetic retinopathy and posterior uveitis.

Licenses and Agreements
pSivida US, Inc.

In February 2005, we entered into an agreementp@ikida to obtain rights and licenses to inteliett
property rights related to pSivida’s proprietaryiviry technology. Our agreement with pSivida pd®s us with a
worldwide exclusive license to develop and sell IBN, which consists of a tiny polyimide tube witembrane
caps that is filled with FAc in a polyvinyl alcohalatrix, for delivery to the back of the eye foe tineatment and
prevention of eye diseases in humans (other thaitisiv This agreement also provided us with a dwitle non-
exclusive license to develop and sell pSivida'ppietary delivery device to deliver other corticstids to the back
of the eye for the treatment and prevention ofdigeases in humans (other than uveitis) or to D&ME by
delivering a compound to the back of the eye thncauglirect delivery method through an incision iegplifor a 25-
gauge or larger needle. We do not have the rigleteelop and sell pSivida’s proprietary deliveryide in
connection with indications for diseases outsidthefeye or for the treatment of uveitis.

We made initial license fee payments totaling $3@60,to pSivida in 2004, and made additional licefiese
payments of $750,000 to pSivida in 2005 upon titeation of the Phase 3 trials for ILUVIEN for theeatment of
DME.

Under the February 2005 agreement, we and pSigozed to collaborate on the development of ILUVIEN
with FAc for DME, and share equally in the devel@mhexpenses. We and pSivida also agreed that after
commercialization of such product, profits, as kedi in that agreement would be shared equally.

In March 2008, we and pSivida amended and resthtedgreement to provide us with 80% of the nefitsro
and pSivida with 20% of the net profits. In conm@tiwith the March 2008 agreement we agreed to:

» pay $12.0 million to pSivida upon the executioritef March 2008 agreeme!
* issue a $15.0 million promissory note to pSivi

« forgive all outstanding development paymepé&alties and interest as of the effective datt@March
2008 agreement, which totaled $6.8 milli

< continue responsibility for regulatory, clial¢preclinical, manufacturing, marketing and séteghe
remaining development and commercialization ofgfaructs;

< assume all financial responsibility for thevdldpment of the products and assume 80% of the
commercialization costs of the products (insteafl08h as provided under the February 2005 agreenan

* make an additional milestone payment of $25il0on after the first product under the March 300
agreement has been approved by the F

The $15.0 million promissory note accrued inteet8% payable quarterly and was payable in ful$ovida
upon the earlier of a liquidity event as definedha note (including an initial public offering ofir common stock
greater than $75.0 million), the occurrence of eeng of default under our agreement with pSivid&eptember 30,
2012. If the note was not paid in full by March 2010, the interest rate was to increase to 20&¢ctfe as of
April 1, 2010, and we were required to begin malpnigcipal payments of $500,000 per month. On Apri) 2010,
we paid pSivida approximately $15.2 million in mippal and interest to satisfy the note payable Withproceeds
from our initial public offering.
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Our license rights to pSivida’s proprietary deliwelevice could revert to pSivida if we (i) fail tva to cure our
breach of an obligation to make certain paymenfsSizida following receipt of written notice thefegi) fail to
cure other breaches of material terms of our ageaemith pSivida within 30 days after notice of Buoreaches or
such longer period (up to 90 days) as may be reddpmecessary if the breach cannot be cured wsilnam
30-day period; (iii) file for protection under thankruptcy laws, make an assignment for the beogéiteditors,
appoint or suffer appointment of a receiver orteasover our property, file a petition under angkraptcy or
insolvency act or have any such petition filed agaus and such proceeding remains undismissedstayed for a
period of more than 60 days; or (iv) we notify p8ain writing of our decision to abandon our liserwith respect
to a certain product using pSivida’'s proprietaringey device. We were not in breach of our agrestméth
pSivida as of December 31, 2010.

Emory University

In July 2009, we entered into an agreement with igriimiversity related to the fulvene class of NADPH
oxidase inhibitors. Under such agreement, Emorgtgrhto us an exclusive, worldwide license to sgimder
intellectual property rights related to the fulvest@ss of NADPH oxidase inhibitors for the devel@mh
manufacturing, marketing and selling of pharmae@alifproducts containing such compounds for therépeand
prophylactic uses for the treatment of diseasesd@sudders of the eye in humans. In August 2009emtered into a
second agreement with Emory University relatedhiottiphenylmethane class of NADPH oxidase inhiisité/nder
such agreement, Emory granted to us an exclusiogdwide license to rights under intellectual prapeights
related to the triphenylmethane class of NADPH asg&linhibitors for the development, manufacturingrketing
and selling of pharmaceutical products containinghscompounds for therapeutic and prophylactic tmethe
treatment of diseases and disorders of the eyarirahs.

Under such agreements, we pay Emory Universityltiegan the mid-single digits of net sales of prots
containing such fulvene or triphenylmethane complsyim countries in which a claim in a pending pate
application or an unexpired patent that coversapicable product exists. We also pay Emory Ursitgroyalties
in the lowsingle digits of net sales of products containinghsfulvene or triphenylmethane compounds, in coes
in which a claim in a pending patent applicatioraprunexpired patent that covers the applicabldymbdoes not
exist, if at least one patent that covers the apple product has issued in the U.S. Furthermardemueach
agreement, we will be required to make annual mimmnoyalty payments in the amount of $250,000 st f
calendar year after regulatory approval of the pobéh a major market country (i.e., the U.S., Jg@zhina, India o
any European country), $500,000 the second calgredarafter regulatory approval of the productuntsmajor
market country, $1.0 million the third calendar yafier regulatory approval of the product in sotdjor market
country and $2.5 million the fourth year after riegory approval of the product in such major madaintry and
each subsequent year thereafter for the remairidee derm of such agreement. If we terminate tre@ments in
India, China or Japan after we obtain regulatogyrayal for a licensed product, the minimum royaftghe calende
year of the termination, and in each subsequernhdal year thereafter, will increase by $250,00@&zh sucl
country in which termination occurred. We will alse required to make payments of up to $5.8 milliader the
fulvene license agreement and up to $5.9 milliodaurihe triphenylmethane license agreement depgngion
which regulatory milestones we achieve. If we domake any milestone payments to Emory Universitgar the
license agreements prior to the third anniversathe effective date of the applicable license agrent, and we do
not elect to terminate that license agreement @oraance with its terms, then we will be requireg&y Emory
University annual license maintenance fees ranfyjorg $500,000 to $2.0 million (depending on wheatsu
payment is made) until a milestone payment is mexier the applicable license agreement or suchdiee
agreement is terminated in accordance with itsseis an upfront license fee for the licenses @iy Emory
University to us, we issued to Emory Universitydats inventors), that number of shares of our camstock with
a fair market value equal to $150,000 on the dhtssaance with respect to the fulvene licenseemgent and in
December 2009 we issued that number of sharesrafosamon stock with a fair market value equal t8G000 on
the date of issuance with respect to the tripheatfiane license agreement. We must also reimbursgyEm
University for reasonable costs and expenses ieduyy Emory University in filing, prosecuting andimtaining th
licensed patents.
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In connection with the Emory license agreementspltained an exclusive option to acquire an exeysi
worldwide license to rights under intellectual pedy rights related to the covered compounds ferdévelopment,
manufacturing, marketing and selling of pharmae@alifproducts containing such compounds for therépeand
prophylactic uses for the treatment of diseasegd&utders in humans outside the eye. The optitiineiude the
right to sublicense to a third-party and will lést a period of up to six years. In order to retiie option over the
six-year period, we will be required to make maiatece payments of $550,000 in the aggregate olenayear
period commencing two years after the effective dditthe license agreement. If we exercise theoopturing the
six-year period with respect to a license agreerardtsubsequently enter into an amendment to sverske
agreement in connection therewith, then the licgmaated under such license agreement will be edgrato cover
the development, manufacturing, marketing andrggethf products that contain the covered compouads f
therapeutic and prophylactic uses for the treatroédiseases and disorders in humans outside theé/ég may
grant sublicenses of the intellectual property tsgfranted to us under such license agreementblicensees. We
will, however, be required to remit 25% of any rityamounts and 20% to 45% (depending upon when the
applicable sublicense is granted by us) of othgnpats we receive from a sublicensee to Emory Usitye

As a licensee, we are expected to diligently dgvalad commercialize the covered compounds, anaréaio
meet certain milestones may result in the termamadif our licenses. Under the agreements, the peafioce of our
sublicensees is deemed to be performance by usdduléliment of our diligence obligations. The @gments will
expire on a country by country basis upon the lat€i) the expiration of the last to expire of theensed patents in
a particular country and (i) ten years after thgedf the first sale of a licensed product in steintry. In addition,
Emory University may terminate a license agreenfdijtwe fail to cure a breach of a material teofrsuch license
agreement within 30 days after notice of such brpé) a material proceeding is instituted agaioisby us under
any bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or dissantiaw that is not dismissed within 90 days; (i assign
substantially all of our assets for the benefiti@ditors; (iv) we place our assets in the handstofistee, assignee
receiver and the receivership or trust is not di&sbor such placement is not reversed within 6&Gdé&s) we notify
Emory University in writing that we are quittingetiusiness of developing or selling products cairigithe
covered compounds or (vi) we challenge the valjdityforceability and/or scope of any claim withipatent or
patent application licensed to us by Emory Uniwgrghder such license agreement in a court or @beernment
agency.

Dainippon Sumitomo

In November 2007, we entered into a license agraewmi¢h Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co., Ltd.
(Dainippon) whereby it granted to us a non-exclesivorldwide, royalty free license to patent righteler specific
patents and patent applications for the developnmeaufacturing and marketing in the field of ogtithology an
injectable polymer tube implantable into an eyetaming a mixture of a polymer and FAc (or derivator
pharmaceutically acceptable salt of FAc) with aypiyl alcohol or other polymer coating or layeregtch end of
the tube. In addition, Dainippon granted to us ptiom to acquire a noaxclusive, worldwide license to patent ric
and know-how related to specific patents and patpplications for the development, manufacturing ararketing
in the field of ophthalmology other pharmaceutijsadducts. In exchange for the license and optiamtgd to us by
Dainippon, we paid $200,000 to Dainippon shorttgathe execution of the license agreement, andre@xpected
to pay another $200,000 to Dainippon within thifeys following the first regulatory approval of theensed
product in the U.S. by the FDA. Dainippon may terate the license agreement if we materially fafidéll or
breach certain terms and conditions of the licexygeement and fail to remedy such failure or breeithin thirty
days after receipt of notice from Dainippon. In idd, Dainippon may terminate the license agrednrethe event
that we contest the validity of the patent riglgiated to Dainippon’s specific patents and patpptieations. In the
event of termination of the license agreement binippon, we are still expected to make the payndestribed
above.
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Government Regulation
General Overview

Government authorities in the U.S. and other coemgxtensively regulate among other things theares,
development, testing, quality, efficacy, safetyefpand post-marketing), manufacturing, labelingrage, record-
keeping, advertising, promaotion, export, importrkeding and distribution of pharmaceutical products

u.S.

In the U.S., the FDA, under the Federal Food, Damgi Cosmetic Act (FD&C Act) and other federal éochl
statutes and regulations, subjects pharmaceutiodlipts to review. If we do not comply with appltaregulation:
the government may refuse to approve or place lmical studies on clinical hold, refuse to apprawe marketing
applications, refuse to allow us to manufacturenarket our products, our products may be seiz@ahdtions and
monetary fines may be imposed, and we may be caifgiprosecuted.

To obtain approval of a new product from the FDA, must, among other requirements, submit data stipg
the safety and efficacy as well as detailed infdiomeon the manufacture and composition of the pcbdnd
proposed labeling. The testing and collection dddand the preparation of the necessary application expensive
and time consuming. The FDA may not act quicklyamorably in reviewing these applications, and waym
encounter significant difficulties or costs in a@iforts to obtain FDA approval that could delaypoeclude us from
marketing our products. The drug approval proceske U.S. generally involves the following:

« completion of preclinical laboratory and aniresting and formulation studies conducted undeods
Laboratory Practices (GLP) regulatiol

< submission of an Investigational New Drug Agation (IND) which must become effective beforertan
clinical trials may begin

« completion of adequate and well-controlled huaralinical trials to establish the safety andoaftiy of the
investigational drug for its intended use; the &sdnust be conducted under Good Clinical PractiG&zP)
regulations

« submission of an NDA or Biologics License Applicati(BLA);

« satisfactory completion of an FDA inspectidritee manufacturing facility or facilities whereetiproduct is
produced to assess compliance with current Goodufaaturing Practice (cGMP) regulations; ¢

« FDA review and approval of the NDA or BL,

Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluationshef active drug’s chemical and physical properpesduct
formulation and stability and animal studies tabish pharmacological effects and safety. The spomust subrr
the results of preclinical tests, chemistry, maotifdng and control (CMC) information and clinicvelopment
plan including clinical protocol(s) in an IND. Tlsponsor cannot start clinical studies until the Ib¥zomes
effective which is 30 days after receipt by the Fiifless the FDA raises concerns or questions béfere
30-day period. In that case, the sponsor and the iRDst resolve the questions or concerns befongceli trials can
proceed.

Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational drug to human subjects under thersigion of
qualified investigators. They are typically condadcttn three sequential phases but the phases nealap\or be
combined. Each trial must be reviewed and appriwyeah independent Institutional Review Board befboan
begin.
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Phase 1 trials usually involve the initial introtioo of the investigational drug in a small numb&human
subjects to evaluate the product’s safety, dosalgeaince and pharmacodynamics and if possiblegaitoan early
indication of its effectiveness.

Phase 2 trials are usually conducted in a limitgibpt population to evaluate dosage toleranceagpdopriate
dosage; identify possible adverse effects andsafiks; and preliminarily evaluate the efficacytioé drug for
specific indications.

Phase 3 trials further evaluate clinical efficaog #éest further for safety in an expanded pati@puation at
geographically dispersed test sites. Completiomvofadequate and well-controlled Phase 3 studi#s nesults that
replicate each other is the norm before an appdicatan be submitted to the FDA.

The FDA closely monitors the progress of each plodsdinical testing and may, at its discretiorevaluate,
alter, suspend or terminate testing based on dataraulated to that point and its assessment afiskébenefit
relationship to the patient. Total time requiredrianning the clinical studies varies between 2 ddgears.
Additional clinical testing may be required for sf@ classes of patients, e.g., geriatric patigmsliatric patients,
patients with renal impairment.

Once all the clinical studies are completed, thanspr submits the NDA that contains the resultsasfclinical
and clinical trials, together with detailed infortia@ on the chemistry, manufacturing and contrélthe product an
proposed labeling. It is also important that thensor provide a detailed description and justify tisk/benefit
relationship of the drug to the patient. UnderRnescription Drug User Fee Act (PDUFA), the appiidaas to pay
user fee which is substantial and increases eveay. yn fiscal year 2011, the fee will be $1.5 ol

The FDA conducts a preliminary review of the NDAdamithin 60 days will make a “fileabilitytlecision. Onc
the submission is accepted for filing, the FDA cactd an indepth review of the NDA. Under the PDUFA, the F
has ten months and six months respectively in witdatomplete its review and issue an action Idtea Standard
and Priority Review NDA. The review process mayektnded by three months if the FDA requests aulditi
information or the sponsor provides significant riefermation or clarification regarding informatiatready
provided in the submission within the last 3 mordhthe PDUFA goal date. If the FDA'’s evaluationtbé NDA
and audit/inspection of clinical and manufactunimgcedures and facilities are favorable, the FDAs isaue either
an approval letter or Complete Response Letter [CRICRL is issued if the FDA determines that itlwiot
approve the application in its present form. TheL @RI describe all of the specific deficiencieetkDA has
identified and when possible, the FDA will recomrdettions that the applicant can take before tipdicgiion may
be approved.

Upon receipt of a CRL, the applicant must take afnthe following actions:

* resubmit the NDA addressing all deficiencies idgdiin the CRL;
« withdraw the NDA without prejudice to a subsequaitimission; o

e request an opportunity for a hearing on thestjon of whether there are grounds for denyingag of the
NDA. Within 60 days of the date of request, the FDI either approve or refuse to approve the NI

Responses to the CRL can be classified as Clas€hss 2. Class 1 and Class 2 resubmissions have a
2-month and a 6-month review cycle, respectivedgibning on the date FDA receives the resubmisg&igamples
of Class 1 resubmissions are: draft or final pdrigbeling, safety update, stability update, pregofor mandatory
post-marketing commitments, assay validation datapr re-analysis of previously submitted data amidor
clarifications. A Class 2 resubmission is for atgri not specified as a Class 1 item including &y ithat would
require presentation to an Advisory Committee.

Within one year after receipt of the CRL, the aggutit is required to take one of the actions citzala. If the
applicant does not take one of these actions, B Will consider the lack of response as a reqtestithdraw the
NDA. The applicant can also request an extensidima to resubmit the NDA. A resubmissi
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must fully address all the deficiencies cited. Atighresponse to the CRL will not be processed eessubmission
and will not start a new review cycle.

Other Regulatory Requirements

Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (REMSJhe recently enacted Food and Drug Administration
Amendments Act of 2007 (FDAAA), gives the FDA authpoto require a drugpecific REMS to ensure the safe
of the drug. In determining whether a REMS is nsags the FDA must consider the size of the pomranost
likely to use the drug, the seriousness of theadis®r condition to be treated, the expected bevfdfie drug, the
duration of treatment, the seriousness of knowpobdential adverse events and whether or not thg idra new
chemical entity. If the FDA determines a REMS isessary, the sponsor must propose the REMS plde éitne o
approval. A REMS may be required to include varielgsnents, such as a medication guide or patierikaoge
insert, a communication plan to educate healthigess of the drug’s risks, limitation on who maegcribe or
dispense the drug or other measures that the FBAsl@ecessary to assure the safe use of the drug.

The FDAAA also expands the FDA's authority to reguiost-approval studies and clinical trials if A,
after drug approval, deems it appropriate. The psgmf such studies would be to assess a knowsuseiisk or
signals of a serious risk related to the drug adémtify an unexpected serious risk when availalala indicate the
potential for a serious risk. The FDA may also iegja labeling change if it becomes aware of nefetga
information that it believes should be includedtia labeling of a drug.

Post-Marketing RequirementsThere are post-marketing safety surveillanceireqents that we will need to
meet to continue to market an approved product efgksexperiences with the product must be repootdte FDA
and could result in imposition of market restriosahrough labeling changes or in product remd¥aiduct
approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with regoty requirements is not maintained or if probleroscerning
safety and/or efficacy of the product occur follagiapproval. The FDA may also, in its discreti@guire post-
marketing testing and surveillance to monitor tffeats of approved products or place conditiongoy approvals
that could restrict the commercial applicationshafse products.

With respect to product advertising and promotibmarketed products, the FDA imposes a number of
complex regulations which include, among othermdards for direct-to-consumer advertising, ofelab
promotions, industrgponsored scientific and educational activities pireanotional activities involving the Intern
The FDA has very broad enforcement authority utide=D&C Act, and failure to abide by these regated can
result in penalties, including the issuance of waytetters directing the sponsor to correct déetet from FDA
standards, a requirement that future advertisimgpomotional materials are pre-cleared by the F&#d state and
federal civil and criminal investigations and prostons.

The manufacturing facility that produces our prddaast maintain compliance with cGMP and is subject
periodic inspections by the FDA. Failure to compigh statutory and regulatory requirements subjacts
manufacturer to possible legal and regulatory acfiecluding Warning Letters, seizure or recalpodducts,
injunctions, consent decrees placing significastrietions on or suspending manufacturing operatemd civil and
criminal penalties. In the CRL the FDA notified that the methods used in and the facilities androtsused for,
the manufacturing, processing, packing, or holdifiithe drug product at two of our manufacturersrditicomply
with cGMPs during recent inspections. One of thaufiacturers received confirmation from the FDA imangh
2011 that its facility is acceptable and the seamadiufacturer is in discussions with the FDA tmhes its
deficiencies.

Foreign Regulations

Foreign regulatory systems, although varying fraandry to country, include risks similar to thosseciated
with FDA regulations in the U.S.

Under the European Union regulatory system, apidies for drug approval may be submitted eitheat in
centralized or decentralized procedure. Under #mtralized procedure, a single application to theogean

28




Table of Contents

Medicines Agency (EMA) leads to an approval grarigdhe European Commission which permits markeoinipe
product throughout the European Union (currentlyr&mber states). The centralized procedure is narydr
new chemical entities, biotech and orphan drugyctsdand products to treat AIDS, cancer, diabatdsnauro-
degenerative disorder, auto-immune diseases, mtmeune dysfunctions and viral diseases. Produetisabnstitute
a significant therapeutic, scientific or technicalovation or which are in the interests of paseaitthe European
Union community level may also be submitted unties procedure. We believe ILUVIEN would potentiatjyalify
for this procedure as a product that constitutsigiaificant therapeutic, scientific or technicahavation.

The decentralized procedure provides for mutualgeition of nationally approved decisions and isdufor
products that do not comply with the requiremeantsliie centralized procedure. Under the decengé@dlprocedure,
the holders of national marketing authorizatioomme of the countries within the European Union maalymit furthe
applications to other countries within the Europkkmion, who will be requested to recognize the iogag
authorization based on an assessment report poblsiglehe country in which marketing authorizatierheld.

We used the decentralized procedure in Europe MIHRBA is our Reference Member State. A Reference
Member State is responsible for coordinating tivéere and approval process between the United Kingdaod the
six other European Union countries where we intergeek marketing authorization.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

Our success depends in part on our ability to at#ad maintain proprietary protection for our pretdu
candidates, technology and kndww, to operate without infringing on the proprigtaghts of others and to prew
others from infringing our proprietary rights. Besa all of our product candidates are licensed toyuthird-party
collaborators, we are dependent on our collabosasdnility to obtain and maintain such protectigvhere we have
conducted our own research, our policy is to segkdtect our proprietary position by, among otmethods, filing
U.S. and foreign patent applications related toproprietary technology, inventions and improversehat are
important to the development of our business. V¥e edly on trade secrets, know-how, continuing tietdgical
innovation and in-licensing opportunities to deyetmd maintain our proprietary position.

We own or have licensed three U.S. utility pateotg U.S. design patent and seven U.S. patentcafiplis as
well as numerous foreign counterparts to many e$étpatents and patent applications relating to/IBM or the
ILUVIEN inserter. We licensed our patent rightsatéig to ILUVIEN from pSivida. Pursuant to our litsed rights,
we only have the right to our ILUVIEN-related pateights for diseases of the human eye (other thegitis). Our
licensed patent portfolio includes U.S. patentdiwlaims directed to methods for administering dicosteroid witl
an implantable sustained delivery device to delitiercorticosteroid to the vitreous of the eye wireaqueous
corticosteroid concentration is less than vitrecwsicosteroid concentration during release. Qzerised patent
portfolio also includes a U.S. patent and a comadmg issued European patent directed to our losedLUVIEN
device and a pending U.S. patent application dicbtd our high-dose ILUVIEN device. In addition, have patent
applications directed to an inserter system for\ILEN.

U.S. utility patents generally have a term of 2@rgefrom the date of filing. The utility patenthig relating to
ILUVIEN licensed to us from pSivida include threeSJpatents that expire between March 2019 and 2920 anc
counterpart filings to these patents in a numbetleér jurisdictions. No patent term extension Wwél available for
any of these U.S. patents or any of our licens&l pending patent applications.

The patent positions of companies like ours aregdly uncertain and involve complex legal and datt
guestions. Our ability to maintain and solidify guoprietary position for our technology will defkon our succes
in obtaining effective claims and enforcing thoksgms once granted. We do not know whether anyuoipatent
applications or those patent applications thatieenke will result in the issuance of any pate@ts. issued patents
and those that may issue in the future, or thasm$ied to us, may be challenged, invalidated ougivented, whic
could limit our ability to stop competitors from rkating related products or the length of term atemt protection
that we may have for our products. In addition,rights granted under any issued patents may oig® us with
proprietary protection or competitive advantagesiizg} competitors with similar technology. Furthers our
competitors may independently develop similar
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technologies or duplicate any technology develdpeds. Because of the extensive time required éoetbpment,
testing and regulatory review of a potential prddiids possible that, before any of our produwaa be
commercialized, any related patent may expire wraia in force for only a short period following
commercialization, thereby reducing any advantdgbheopatent.

We may rely, in some circumstances, on trade setwqirotect our technology. However, trade seeaeds
difficult to protect. We seek to protect our prapary technology and processes, in part, by configkty
agreements with our employees, consultants, sfiteativisors and other contractors. These agreesmeay be
breached, and we may not have adequate remediamyfdareach. In addition, our trade secrets magratise
become known or be independently discovered by etitops. To the extent that our employees, conststar
contractors use intellectual property owned by &l their work for us, disputes may arise adtortghts in
related or resulting know-how and inventions.

Research and Development

We have built a research and development orgaaiz#tiat includes extensive expertise with ophthalmi
products including the launch and management aidfise, a drug product sponsored by Novartis andirste
pharmacological treatment indicated for patienthwiet AMD. We operate cross-functionally and am by an
experienced research and development management\iéa use rigorous project management techniquassist
us in making disciplined strategic research andibgment program decisions and to limit the risbfipe of our
product pipeline. We also access relevant marietrimation and key opinion leaders in creating thpgeduct
profiles and, when appropriate, as we advance mgrams to commercialization. We engage third partb
conduct portions of our preclinical research. Idiadn, we engage multiple clinical sites to condogr clinical
trials; however we are not substantially dependeon any one of these sites for our clinical triads do any of
them conduct a major portion of our clinical trials

We invested $12.6 million, $15.1 million, and $4&8lion for research and development during tharge
ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, resplgctive

Employees

As of March 1, 2011, we had 27 employees, two abmihold Ph.D.s, and one of whom holds an O.D. Ten o
these employees were engaged in research, devatlbpme regulatory activities, and 17 were engaged i
administrative support, human resources, finamfermation technology and sales and marketing #ietsv None ¢
our employees is represented by a labor union andomsider our employee relations to be good.

Corporate information

We are a Delaware corporation incorporated on 4u2€03. Our principal executive office is locatd120
Windward Parkway, Suite 290, Alpharetta, Georgi@@Dand our telephone number is (678) 990-5740 vt
site address is http://www.alimerasciences.com.ififoegmation contained in, or that can be accesisemligh, our
Web site is not part of this report and shouldb®tonsidered part of this report.

Available Information

Alimera files annual, quarterly, and current reppproxy statements, and other documents with doeii8ies
and Exchange Commission (SEC) under the SecuEtiebange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange ot
public may read and copy any materials that wesith the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at
100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. The puhbgy obtain information on the operation of the Rubl
Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-08B®, the SEC maintains an Internet website thatains
reports, proxy and information statements, andrdtifermation regarding issuers, including us, tiilat
electronically with the SEC. The public can obtany documents that we file with the SEC at www ge¢.

We also make available free of charge on our Ietewebsite at www.alimerasciences.com our annyairte
on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, catrreports on Form 8-K, and, if applicable,
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amendments to those reports filed or furnishedyansto Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchangeascsoon as
reasonably practicable after we electronically $ileh material with, or furnish it to, the SEC.

Our code of ethics, other corporate policies amatgdures, and the charters of our Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee and Nominating/Corporatee@mnce Committee are available through our Interne
website at www.alimerasciences.com.

ITEM 1A Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degferisk. You should consider carefully the riaksl
uncertainties described below, together with alihef other information in this report, includingetltonsolidated
financial statements and the related notes appeaairthe end of this annual report Form 10-K, with respect to
any investment in shares of our common stock.\ifodithe following risks actually occurs, our bess, financial
condition, results of operations and future progpeeould likely be materially and adversely affecta that event,
the market price of our common stock could dedime you could lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We are heavily dependent on the success of our lgadiuct candidate, ILUVIEN, which is still under
development. If we are unable to commercialize ILIBN, or experience significant delays in doing sour
business will be materially harmed.

We are a biopharmaceutical company with no prodagggsoved for commercial sale. We have incurred, an
will continue to incur, significant costs relatitmthe regulatory approval and commercializatiofLafVIEN, our
only product candidate in development. We antigphat in the near term our ability to generatenexes will
depend solely on the successful development andnesaialization of ILUVIEN. We have not yet obtained
regulatory approval to market this product candidatany jurisdiction and we may never be ablebiaimn approval
or, if approvals are obtained, to commercializs firioduct candidate successfully.

Based on our analysis of the month 24 clinical oeadrom our Phase 3 pivotal clinical trials foethse of
ILUVIEN in the treatment of diabetic macular edemaPME (collectively, our FAME Study), in June ZDWve
filed a New Drug Application (NDA) with the U.S. Bd and Drug Administration (FDA) for the low doske o
ILUVIEN in the U.S., followed by registration filgs in the United Kingdom, Austria, France, Germadtaly,
Portugal and Spain in July 2010. The European Mamsé\uthorization Application (MAA) was submitteédrough
the Decentralized Procedure with the United Kingddedicines and Health products Regulatory AgenciABA)
as the Reference Member State. In December 201feeéved a Complete Response Letter (CRL) fronthaA
regarding our NDA. The FDA issued the CRL to cominate its decision that the NDA could not be appibin it<
present form. No new clinical studies were requkbtethe FDA in the CRL. However, the FDA askedars
analyses of the safety and efficacy data througtetid of the FAME Study to further assess theiveldtenefits ani
risks of ILUVIEN. We are currently preparing theadyses the FDA requested having completed the F/AWEy
and publicly released data on February 3, 2011.FDw is also seeking additional information regagdcontrols
and specifications concerning the manufacturingkgging and sterilization of ILUVIEN, which we arethe
process of compiling. We currently anticipate suting our response to the CRL to the FDA earlyhie $econd
quarter of 2011. Our submission to the FDA willdmmsidered a Class 2 response, which will provideafreview
period of up to an additional six months for our AllHowever, the FDA may request additional inforimatfrom
us, and, ultimately, may not grant marketing apptder ILUVIEN. In addition, although we believedtiinal
clinical readout from our FAME Study demonstratest iLUVIEN is safe and effective in the treatmehDME,
clinical data often is susceptible to varying iptetations and many companies that have belie\adhhir product
performed satisfactorily in clinical trials havenatheless failed to obtain FDA approval for thewducts.
Furthermore, even if we receive FDA approval, wghhinot be successful in commercializing ILUVIERwe are
not successful in commercializing ILUVIEN, or aigrgficantly delayed in doing so, our
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business will be materially harmed and we may rnieaxlirtail or cease operations. Our ability to ssstully
commercialize ILUVIEN will depend, among other th& on our ability to:

 produce batches of ILUVIEN in quantities sufficilgrirge to permit successful commercializati
 receive marketing approvals from the FDA and sinfibaeign regulatory authoritie

 establish commercial manufacturing arrangements thitd-party manufacturer:

* launch commercial sales of ILUVIEN; ai

 secure acceptance of ILUVIEN in the medical comnyuand with thir-party payers

We have incurred operating losses in each year siotr inception and expect to continue to incur siantial
and increasing losses for the foreseeable future.

We have a limited operating history. We are notentty generating revenues and we cannot estimigte w
precision the extent of our future losses. We docoarently have any products that have been ajguorfor
commercial sale and we may never generate reveaneskelling products or achieve profitability. Wigect to
continue to incur substantial and increasing lofisesigh the projected commercialization of ILUVIEdarticularly
as we increase our research, clinical developragimjnistrative and sales and marketing activittessuming FDA
approval of our NDA in 2011, we currently do nopekt to generate revenue from the sale of ILUVIENIUate
2011 at the earliest, if at all. As a result, we @ancertain when or if we will achieve profitakjland, if so, whether
we will be able to sustain it. As of December 311@, we have accumulated a net deficit of $188IBami Our
ability to achieve revenue and profitability is éedent on our ability to complete the developmémiun product
candidates, obtain necessary regulatory approamatshave our products manufactured and marketed:anteot
assure you that we will be profitable even if weassfully commercialize our products. Failure¢adme and
remain profitable may adversely affect the marketgoof our common stock and our ability to raisgital and
continue operations.

We face heavy government regulation, and approvillaJVIEN and our other product candidates from the
FDA and from similar entities in other countries igncertain.

The research, testing, manufacturing and marketirtjug products are subject to extensive regulatip
U.S. federal, state and local government authgritiecluding the FDA, and similar entities in otle@untries. To
obtain regulatory approval of a product, we mushdestrate to the satisfaction of the regulatorynages that,
among other things, the product is safe and effedtr its intended use. In addition, we must shioat the
manufacturing facilities used to produce the prdslace in compliance with current Good Manufaciyftractice
(cGMP) regulations.

The process of obtaining regulatory approvals dedrances will require us to expend substantia md
capital. Despite the time and expense incurredjlaggry approval is never guaranteed. The numbereaxlinical
and clinical tests that will be required for redaly approval varies depending on the drug candjdhe disease or
condition for which the drug candidate is in depehent and the regulations applicable to that pagiodrug
candidate. Regulatory agencies, including thogherJ.S., Canada, the European Union and othertidesinvhere
drugs are regulated, can delay, limit or deny aygirof a drug candidate for many reasons, includiivad:

« adrug candidate may not be safe or effec

 regulatory agencies may interpret data from prexinand clinical testing in different ways fromote whick
we do;

they may not approve of our manufacturing proc

< they may conclude that the drug candidate doésneet quality standards for stability, qualfyyity and
potency; anc

they may change their approval policies or adopt regulations

32




Table of Contents

The FDA may make requests or suggestions regaodinduct of our clinical trials, resulting in an reesed
risk of difficulties or delays in obtaining regutay approval in the U.S. For example, the FDA mayapprove of
certain of our methods for analyzing our trial dataluding how we evaluate the risk/benefit relaship. Further,
we intend to market ILUVIEN, and may market othevquct candidates, outside the U.S. and spec¥idalthe
European Union and Canada. Regulatory agenciegwitbse countries will require that we obtain sefs
regulatory approvals and comply with numerous aaging regulatory requirements. The approval pracesl
within these countries can involve additional tegtiand the time required to obtain approval mégdirom that
required to obtain FDA approval. Additionally, tfereign regulatory approval process may includegthe risks
associated with obtaining FDA approval. For alttefse reasons, we may not obtain foreign regulatppyovals on
a timely basis, if at all. Approval by the FDA dasst ensure approval by regulatory authoritiestireocountries or
jurisdictions, and approval by one foreign regutatauthority does not ensure approval by regulatmhorities ir
other foreign countries or jurisdictions or by f2A.

We submitted an NDA in the U.S. for the low doséladVIEN in June 2010 with 24 months of clinicaltda
from our FAME Study, followed in July 2010 by remégion filings in the United Kingdom, Austria, Free,
Germany, Italy, Portugal and Spain. Consistent vatommendations regarding the appropriate populdtir
primary analysis as described in the FDA-adoptéerational Conference on Harmonization of Technica
Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceutical$ifaman Use (ICH) Guidance E9, “Statistical Pritegofor
Clinical Trials,” we believe that the FDA considéin® most relevant population for determining saéatd efficacy
to be the full data set of all 956 patients randmdiinto our FAME Study, with data imputation enygd using
“last observation carried forward,” for data migslecause of patients who discontinued the triarerunavailable
for follow-up (the Full Analysis Set). The primary efficacy entpavas met with statistical significance for botte
low dose and the high dose of ILUVIEN in both tsialsing the Full Analysis Set and we submittedratyais base
on this data set for the low dose to the FDA. Hosvewur FAME Study protocol did not include the IFAhalysis
Set and provides that the primary assessmentiofejf will be based on another data set that exsldicdbm the Ful
Analysis Set three patients who were enrolled leventreated as well as data collected for patigusequent to
their use of treatments prohibited by our FAME $tpdotocol (the Modified ART Data Set). Statistisadnificance
was not achieved for either the low dose or thé kiigse in one trial using the Modified ART Data.$etDecember
2010, we received a CRL from the FDA. The FDA isstlee CRL to communicate its decision that the NiDA
ILUVIEN could not be approved in its present fofdo new clinical studies were requested by the F&#g our us
of the Full Analysis Set was not questioned in@RL. However, the FDA asked us for analyses oftifety and
efficacy data through the final readout at the ehitthe FAME Study to further assess the relativiecties and risks
of ILUVIEN. We are currently preparing the analysies FDA requested and currently anticipate sulimgitbur
response to the CRL early in the second quartgddi. Our submission to the FDA will be consideag@lass 2
response which will provide for a review periodugfto an additional six months for our NDA. Thesed
assurance that the FDA will utilize the Full AnafySet and not the Modified ART Data Set or anottega set in
determining whether ILUVIEN is safe and effectia@y of which could result in the FDA not grantingnieting
approval for ILUVIEN.

In July 2010, we submitted in Europe a MAA using fhecentralized Procedure with the U.K. MHRA as the
Reference Member State (RMS). Applications werarstibd concurrently to the Concerned Member StgEdsS)
listed as follows: Germany, Spain, Italy, Francertiigal and Austria.

We received the initial assessment reports fronRiS and the CMS in December 2010. The issuesdaise
were similar to the issues raised by the FDA. Waapb submit the additional safety and efficacyadhtough the
final readout at the end of the FAME Study to regiy authorities in the United Kingdom, Austriaakce,
Germany, Italy, Portugal and Spain in the secoraitqu of 2011.

Regulatory agencies require carcinogenicity stugiesiimals to identify tumorigenic potential inigrals to
assess the relevant risk in humans. Based on M@&ntbadouts from our opdabel Phase 2 human pharmacokin
clinical trial (PK Study), which indicate that tleeis negligible systemic absorption of fluocinol@wetonide (FAC)
in patients being treated with ILUVIEN, we submiktte carcinogenicity waiver in our submissions ® FHDA and
European health authorities. Although the FDA didl specifically state in the CRL that the waives f@en grante
the CRL did not include any requirement to conducarcinogenicity study. In the Preliminary
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Assessment Report issued by the UK MHRA, the MHResl that the lack of single-dose, carcinogenityl
reproductive and developmental toxicity studiehvfitUVIEN is acceptable. If we are required to enf
carcinogenicity studies in animals, the approvdlLafVIEN could be delayed by up to 36 months.

In the CRL the FDA notified us that the methodsduiseand the facilities and controls used for, the
manufacturing, processing, packing, or holdinghef drug product at two of our manufacturers didawshply with
cGMPs during recent inspections. One of the marnurfars received confirmation from the FDA in Ma2bil1 that
their facility is acceptable and the second martufac is in discussions with the FDA to resolvedgdiciencies.
Failure for our manufactures to comply with cGMPyrmhave an adverse effect on our business.

Any delay or failure by us to obtain regulatory epgls for our product candidates could diminismpetitive
advantages that we may attain and would advers$iegtahe marketing of our products. We have ndtrgeeived
regulatory approval to market any of our productdidates in any jurisdiction.

ILUVIEN utilizes FAc, a corticosteroid that has deomstrated undesirable side effects in the eye; tfere, the
success of ILUVIEN will be dependent upon the achégnent of an appropriate relationship between the
benefits of its efficacy and the risks of its siééfect profile.

The use of corticosteroids in the eye has beercaded with undesirable side effects, including @ased
incidence of cataract formation and elevated irtndar pressure (IOP), which may increase the gkaucoma.
We have received the final month 36 clinical readoam our FAME Study, but the extent of ILUVIENIsng-term
side effect profile beyond month 36 is not yet knowpon review of our NDA for the low dose of ILUEN in the
treatment of DME, the FDA may conclude that our FABtudy did not demonstrate that ILUVIEN has sugfit
levels of efficacy to outweigh the risks associatéith its sideeffect profile. Conversely, the FDA may concludat
ILUVIEN's side-effect profile does not demonstrate acceptable risk/benefit relationship in linewitUVIEN's
demonstrated efficacy. In the event of such commhss we may not receive regulatory approval fromEDA or
from similar regulatory agencies in other countries

Even if we do receive regulatory approval for ILUEN, the FDA or other regulatory agencies may impose
limitations on the indicated uses for which ILUVIENnay be marketed, subsequently withdraw approvalade
other actions against us or ILUVIEN that would bedaerse to our business.

Regulatory agencies generally approve productpddicular indications. If any such regulatory agyen
approves ILUVIEN for a limited indication, the sieéour potential market for ILUVIEN will be redudeFor
example, our potential market for ILUVIEN would tetluced if the FDA limited the indications of usepiatients
diagnosed with only clinically significant DME apmosed to DME, or restricted the use to patientsbiting IOP
below a certain level or having an artificial leatghe time of treatment. Product approvals, omaatgd, may be
withdrawn if problems occur after initial marketinf§and when ILUVIEN does receive regulatory apfioor
clearance, the marketing, distribution and manufacdf ILUVIEN will be subject to regulation in th&.S. by the
FDA and by similar entities in other countries. Widl need to comply with facility registration aqutoduct listing
requirements of the FDA and similar entities inestbountries and adhere to the FDA’s Quality SysdRegulations.
Noncompliance with applicable FDA and similar eéet’ requirements can result in warning letters, fines
injunctions, civil penalties, recall or seizurelbbVIEN, total or partial suspension of productioefusal of
regulatory agencies to grant approvals, withdraapprovals by regulatory agencies or criminalpaution. We
would also need to maintain compliance with fedestte and foreign laws regarding sales incentiadsrrals and
other programs.

Our product candidates may never achieve marketegtance even if we obtain regulatory approvals.

Even if we receive regulatory approvals for thees#lour product candidates, the commercial suczeggese
products will depend, among other things, on the@eptance by retinal specialists, patients, thandy payers and
other members of the medical community as a thetappand cost-effective alternative to competingdurcts and
treatments. The degree of market acceptance obfamyr product candidates will depend on a numlbéaciors,
including, among other things:

 the demonstration of its safety and effica
* its cos-effectiveness
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« its potential advantages over other therayf
« the reimbursement policies of government and -party payers with respect to the product candidatid
« the effectiveness of our marketing and distributtapabilities

If our product candidates fail to gain market acaape, we may be unable to earn sufficient revéogentinue
our business. If our product candidates are natted by retinal specialists, patients, third-ppayers and other
members of the medical community, it is unlikelgttive will ever become profitable.

Our ability to pursue the development and commetization of ILUVIEN depends upon the continuationfo
our license from pSivida US, Inc.

Our license rights to pSivida US, Inc.’s (pSividgxsoprietary delivery device could revert to p8avif we
(i) fail twice to cure our breach of an obligatitmmake certain payments to pSivida following rptei written
notice thereof; (ii) fail to cure other breachesradterial terms of our agreement with pSivida witBd days after
notice of such breaches or such longer perioddig®dtdays) as may be reasonably necessary if &aelbcannot be
cured within such 30-day period; (iii) file for gextion under the bankruptcy laws, make an assighfoe the
benefit of creditors, appoint or suffer appointmehé& receiver or trustee over our property, filgetition under any
bankruptcy or insolvency act or have any suchipetfiled against us and such proceeding remaidésorissed or
unstayed for a period of more than 60 days; orr{@t)fy pSivida in writing of our decision to abandour license
with respect to a certain product using pSividatsgpietary delivery device. If our agreement withiygda were
terminated, we would lose our rights to develop emthmercialize ILUVIEN, which would materially ardiversel
affect our business, results of operations anddupnospects. We were not in breach of our liceggeement with
pSivida as of December 31, 2010.

We will rely on a single manufacturer for ILUVIENa single manufacturer for the ILUVIEN inserter ané
single active pharmaceutical ingredient formulatéor ILUVIEN’s active pharmaceutical ingredient. Our
business would be seriously harmed if these thi@Hes are not able to satisfy our demand and attative
sources are not available.

We do not have, nor currently intend to have, indemanufacturing capability and will depend corghjeon
a single third-party manufacturer for the manufeif the ILUVIEN insert (Alliance Medical Productsc.
(Alliance)), a single thirgzarty manufacturer for the manufacture of the ILBMIinserter (Flextronics Internation
Ltd. or an affiliate of Flextronics Internationakd. (Flextronics)) and a single third-party maraitaer for the
manufacture of ILUVIEN's active pharmaceutical iadient (FARMABIOS SpA./Byron Chemical Company Inc.
(FARMABIOS)). Although we have finalized a long-temagreement for the manufacture of the ILUVIEN mse
(with Alliance), we have not yet finalized long+teagreements for the manufacture of the ILUVIENemar (with
Flextronics) or for the manufacture of ILUVIEN'sta® pharmaceutical ingredient (with FARMABIOS),daifi any
of the third-party manufacturers are unable or limgito perform for any reason, we may not be dbl®cate
alternative acceptable manufacturers or formulatarter into favorable agreements with them ottlgertn approved
by the FDA in a timely manner. Further, all of ananufacturers rely on additional third-partiestfoe manufacture
of component parts. Any inability to acquire suffitt quantities of ILUVIEN inserts, the ILUVIEN iester or the
active pharmaceutical ingredient in a timely marfnem these third-parties could delay commercialdoiction of,
and impact our ability to fulfill demand for, ILU¥N.

Materials necessary to manufacture ILUVIEN and owther product candidates may not be available on
commercially reasonable terms, or at all, which mdglay the development, regulatory approval and
commercialization of our product candidates.

We will rely on our manufacturers to purchase makefrom third-party suppliers necessary to preduc
ILUVIEN and our other product candidates for ouniclal trials and, if approved, for commercial distition.
Suppliers may not sell these materials to our matufers at the times we need them or on commbyrcial
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reasonable terms. We do not have any control dvepttocess or timing of the acquisition of theseemias by our
manufacturers. Moreover, we currently have notliizea all agreements for the commercial productibthese
materials. If our manufacturers are unable to obfaése materials for our clinical trials, prodtesgting and
potential regulatory approval of ILUVIEN and ouhet product candidates could be delayed, signifigaffecting
our ability to develop ILUVIEN and our other prodwandidates. If we or our manufacturers are unebprirchase
these materials after regulatory approval has bbtsined for ILUVIEN and our other product candatthe
commercial launch of ILUVIEN and our other produanhdidates would be delayed or there would be gamin
supply, which would materially affect our ability generate revenues from the sale of ILUVIEN andablier
product candidates. Moreover, although we havdifiaé an agreement for the commercial productiothef
ILUVIEN insert, we currently have not yet finalizady agreements for the commercial production efetttive
pharmaceutical ingredient in ILUVIEN or the ILUVIENserter. Even if we were able to secure suchesgeats,
the suppliers may be unable or choose not to peowidthe ingredients in a timely manner or in thimmum
guaranteed quantities. If we are unable to obtaththen supply these ingredients to our contractufeeturer for
our clinical trials, potential regulatory approwdlour product candidates would be delayed, sigaifily impacting
our ability to develop our product candidates, whiculd materially affect our ability to generaévenue from the
sale of our product candidates.

The manufacture and packaging of pharmaceutical phacts such as ILUVIEN are subject to the requiremtsn
of the FDA and similar foreign regulatory entitiedf we or our third-party manufacturers fail to sétfy these
requirements, our product development and commelizigtion efforts may be materially harmed.

The manufacture and packaging of pharmaceuticalymts such ak.UVIEN and our future product candida
are regulated by the FDA and similar foreign retpriaentities and must be conducted in accordarittethe
FDA's cGMP and comparable requirements of foreggutatory entities. There are a limited number of
manufacturers that operate under these cGMP régudatvhich are both capable of manufacturing ILUMIENd
willing to do so. Failure by us or our third-parbanufacturers to comply with applicable regulaticesjuirements,
or guidelines could result in sanctions being ingubsn us, including fines, injunctions, civil peted, failure of
regulatory authorities to grant marketing apprafabur products, delays, suspension or withdrawalpprovals,
license revocation, seizures or recalls of prodygrating restrictions and criminal prosecutiars; of which coul
significantly and adversely affect our businesDétember 2010, we received a CRL from the FDA. Fh&
issued the CRL to communicate its decision thatNbBé for ILUVIEN could not be approved in its pregdorm.
Additionally, the FDA also indicated that it hadseloved deficiencies in current good manufacturirsgiices
(cGMP) during its facility inspections of two of iothird-party manufacturers, which were completedugust and
September of 2010, and that all facilities and adstwould need to comply with cGMP. Our third-part
manufacturers are in the process of resolving tdeeiencies. One of the manufacturers receivadigoation
from the FDA in March 2011 that their facility is@ptable. If our third-party manufacturers faitésolve these
deficiencies, the FDA will not grant market apprbfea ILUVIEN. Additionally, if our manufacturersail to
maintain compliance, the production of ILUVIEN cdule interrupted, resulting in delays and additi@oats. Any
significant delays in the manufacture of ILUVIENutd materially harm our business and prospects.

Changes in the manufacturing process or procethaleding a change in the location where the prodic
manufactured or a change of a third-party manufactwill require prior FDA review and/or approwalthe
manufacturing process and procedures in accordaiticéhe FDA’s cGMP regulations. There are compbrab
foreign requirements. This review may be costly time consuming and could delay or prevent thedawf a
product. If we elect to manufacture products in @an facility or at the facility of another thirdapty, we would
need to ensure that the new facility and the mantufeng process are in substantial compliance a@MP
regulations. The new facility will also be subjézfpre-approval inspection. In addition, we haveemonstrate that
the product made at the new facility is equivaterthe product made at the former facility by plegsiand chemical
methods, which are costly and time consuming. dl$s possible that the FDA may require clinicatitey as a way
to prove equivalency, which would result in addibcosts and delay.
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Furthermore, in order to obtain approval of ourdarets, including ILUVIEN, by the FDA and foreign
regulatory agencies, we need to complete testintgotimthe active pharmaceutical ingredient andherfinished
product in the packaging that we propose for coneiaksales. This includes testing of stability,ri&cation of
impurities and testing of other product specificas by validated test methods. In addition, we bellrequired to
consistently produce ILUVIEN in commercial quam#tiand of specified quality in a reproducible maramel
document our ability to do so. This requirementeferred to as process validation. With respedttd/IEN,
although we have validated the manufacturing pmegpilot scale batches, some of the steps imdnaufacturing
processes will need to be revalidated when we hiegmanufacture commercial scale batches. If thaired testing
or process validation is delayed or produces unble results, we may have to launch the produogusmaller
pilot scale batches, which may impact our abilityulfill demand for the product.

The FDA and similar foreign regulatory bodies mésoamplement new standards, or change their
interpretation and enforcement of existing stanslamntd requirements, for the manufacture, packaginggsting of
products at any time. If we are unable to complg,may be subject to regulatory or civil actiongpenalties that
could significantly and adversely affect our busie

Any failure or delay in completing clinical trial§or our product candidates could severely harm dursiness.

Preclinical studies and clinical trials requiredd@monstrate the safety and efficacy of our prodantidates
are time consuming and expensive and togethersekeral years to complete. The completion of dihidals for
our product candidates may be delayed by manyradtecluding:

 our inability to manufacture or obtain fronirthparties materials sufficient for use in prewdal studies and
clinical trials;

« delays in patient enrollment and variability in thember and types of patients available for clihigals;
« difficulty in maintaining contact with patients afttreatment, resulting in incomplete dz

« poor effectiveness of product candidates duringjedi trials;

« unforeseen safety issues or side effects;

» governmental or regulatory delays and changesgulagory requirements and guidelin

If we fail to successfully complete our clinicalbds for any of our product candidates, we mayraoeive the
regulatory approvals needed to market that prodaistlidate. Therefore, any failure or delay in comaeg or
completing these clinical trials would harm our iness materially.

In addition, a clinical trial may be suspendedesntinated by us, the FDA or other regulatory autiesrdue to
a number of factors, including:

« failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordangith regulatory requirements or our clinical proaés;

* inspection of the clinical trial operationstoal sites by the FDA or other regulatory autties resulting in
the imposition of a clinical holc

« unforeseen safety issues or any determinatiorath@l presents unacceptable health ri

« lack of adequate funding to continue the chihtrial, including the incurrence of unforeseests due to
enroliment delays, requirements to conduct addilitnials and studies and increased expenses atswCi
with the services of our contract research orgdioizs, or CROs, and other third parti

If we are required to conduct additional clinia@dls or other studies with respect to any of awdopict
candidates beyond those that we initially conteteplaif we are unable to successfully completedtinical trials ol
other studies or if the results of these trialstodies are not positive or are only modestly pasitve may be
delayed in obtaining marketing approval for thaiduct candidate, we may not be able to obtain ntiagkepprova
or we may obtain approval for indications thatag as broad as intended. Our product
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development costs will also increase if we expe&getelays in testing or approvals. Significanticlihtrial delays
could allow our competitors to bring products torked before we do and impair our ability to comniaize our
products or potential products. If any of this asgwwur business will be materially harmed.

We may not be successful in executing our sales aratketing strategy for the commercialization of
ILUVIEN. We currently have a limited sales and magking organization and, as part of our sales strgye we
expect to initially depend in large part on a thigghrty contract sales force for the sale of ILUVIENf we are
unable to successfully execute such strategy, wg mat be able to generate significant revenue.

At present, we have no internal sales force ang atiimited number of sales and marketing persanivel
began hiring additional sales and marketing persbinrthe third quarter of 2010 to establish ouncsales and
marketing capabilities in the U.S. in time for queviously anticipated commercial launch of ILUVIEWe have
hired three field directors but have determinedta@dd the personnel and incur the costs of haimgdjtraining an
internal sales force at this time. In the fourtluder of 2010, we entered into a relationship v@tiCall LLC, a
contract sales force company that will utilizeataployees to act as our sales representativesri¢eeive approval
of the ILUVIEN NDA from the FDA.

Pursuant to our agreement with OnCall, followingA=&pproval, ILUVIEN will be promoted primarily to
retinal specialists in the U.S. by OnCall's salegresentatives. We will rely in large part on thigside sales force
for the sales of ILUVIEN in the U.S. Although wepect to be involved in the hiring, training and ragement of
these sales representatives, they will be emploge@sCall and subject to its ultimate control.

If we determine to establish a direct sales fonceéhée future to sell ILUVIEN or another product dadate
following marketing approval, we may not be ablestablish such a direct sales force in a cost&fe manner or
realize a positive return on this investment. Idiadn, we will have to compete with other pharmatezal and
biotechnology companies to recruit, hire, and resales and marketing personnel. Factors that ntagif our
efforts to commercialize our products without stgat partners or licensees include:

« our inability to recruit and retain adequate nurshsreffective sales and marketing personnel;

« the inability of sales personnel to obtainesscto or persuade adequate numbers of retinabptcto
prescribe our product

« the lack of complementary products to be effiey sales personnel, which may put us at a cativget
disadvantage relative to companies with more extenwoduct lines; an

» unforeseen costs and expenses associated witingraatindependent sales and marketing organiz:

We have not yet entered into any agreements refatdie marketing of ILUVIEN or any of our othergpiuct
candidates in international markets and we maypadable to enter into any arrangements with redpect
international collaborations on favorable termsioall. In addition, these arrangements could tésubwer levels
of income to us than if we marketed our productiédates entirely on our own. If we are unable tteemto
appropriate marketing arrangements for our prodantlidates in international markets, we may nailide to
develop an effective international sales forceurcsssfully commercialize ILUVIEN and our other guat
candidates in international markets. If we faiktder into marketing arrangements for our prodactre unable to
develop an effective international sales force,ahility to generate revenue outside of North Arerivould be
limited.

If we are unable to successfully implement our caruialization plans and drive adoption by patiertd
retinal specialists of ILUVIEN through our salesanketing and commercialization efforts and the reéfof OnCall,
then we will not be able to generate significaneraie, which will have a material adverse effecbonbusiness,
results of operations, financial condition and pexgs.
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In order to commercialize ILUVIEN, we will need tgrow the size of our organization, and we may expace
difficulties in managing this growth.

As of December 31, 2010, we had 27 employees. Asl@elopment and commercialization plans and
strategies develop, we will need to expand the @izrir employee base for managerial, operaticads,
marketing, financial and other resources. Futuosvgt would impose significant added responsibgitsem members
of management, including the need to identify, wgcmaintain, motivate and integrate additionaptoyees. Also,
our management may have to divert a disproport@aatount of its attention away from our day-to-dativities
and devote a substantial amount of time to manafiese growth activities. Our future financial permiance and
our ability to commercialize ILUVIEN and our othgroduct candidates and compete effectively willetegy in par
on our ability to effectively manage any futuregth. We may not be able to effectively manage érppce of
growth and timely implement improvements to our agament infrastructure and control systems.

ILUVIEN and our other potential products may not beommercially viable if we fail to obtain an adeqiea
level of reimbursement for these products from @ie insurers, the Medicare program and other thigdty
payers which could be affected by the recently geddJ.S. healthcare reform. The market for our practs
may also be limited by the indications for whichein use may be reimbursed or the frequency at whibky
may be administered.

The availability and levels of reimbursement by gimvmental and other third-party payers affect tlaeket for
products such as ILUVIEN and others that we mayetignx These third-party payers continually attetoptontain
or reduce the costs of health care by challendiegtices charged for medical products and servioghe U.S., w
will need to obtain approvals for payment for ILLBN from private insurers, including managed caganizations
and from the Medicare program. In recent yearguiin legislative and regulatory actions, the feldgopaernment
has made substantial changes to various paymeensysinder the Medicare program. Comprehensivemsfto
the U.S. healthcare system were recently enactelliding changes to the methods for, and amountgledicare
reimbursement. These reforms could significantjuce payments from Medicare and Medicaid over the ten
years. Reforms or other changes to these paymstarsy, including modifications to the conditionsgurlification
for payment, bundling payments or the impositiofollment limitations on new providers, may chaitige
availability, methods and rates of reimbursemerhfMedicare, private insurers and other thirdypagyers for
ILUVIEN and our other potential products. Somelade changes and proposed changes could resedtioed
reimbursement rates for ILUVIEN and our other ptitdproducts, which would adversely affect ouribass
strategy, operations and financial results.

We expect that private insurers will consider tffecacy, cost effectiveness and safety of ILUVIEN i
determining whether to approve reimbursement f&fMLIEN and at what level. Obtaining these approeals be a
time consuming and expensive process. Our busimeskl be materially adversely affected if we do resteive
approval for reimbursement of ILUVIEN from privatesurers on a timely or satisfactory basis. Althodgugs that
are not selfadministered are covered by Medicare, the Medipesgram has taken the position that it can decad
to cover particular drugs if it determines thatytlage not “reasonable and necessary” for Medicareficiaries.
Limitations on coverage could also be imposed aldbal Medicare carrier level or by fiscal intedieies. Our
business could be materially adversely affectédafMedicare program, local Medicare carriers scdl
intermediaries were to make such a determinatidgndeamy or limit the reimbursement of ILUVIEN. Oundiness
also could be adversely affected if retinal spéstimlare not reimbursed by Medicare for the coshefprocedure in
which they administer ILUVIEN on a basis satisfagtm the administering retinal specialists. If theal
contractors that administer the Medicare prograenséow to reimburse retinal specialists for ILUVIENe retinal
specialists may pay us more slowly, which wouldeadely affect our working capital requirements.
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Our business could also be adversely affectedvfif@ insurers, including managed care organizatitire
Medicare program or other reimbursing bodies oepsayimit the indications for which ILUVIEN will beeimburse
to a smaller set than we believe it is effectivér@ating or establish a limitation on the frequendth which
ILUVIEN may be administered that is less often thanbelieve would be effective.

In some foreign countries, particularly Canada redcountries of the European Union, the pricing of
prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to govemtaieontrol. In Canada, each province has a plytfimded drug
plan with each having its own formulary citing sifieccriteria for reimbursement and prior authotira. Each
provincial government except Québec considerslthizcal and costeffectiveness recommendations of the Com
Drug Review performed by the Canadian Agency farddrand Technologies in Health. Québec has a seping
review process that is performed by its Medicatmuncil. In the European Union, each country hdgfarent
reviewing body that evaluates reimbursement dossigibmitted by manufacturers of new drugs and thakes
recommendations as to whether or not the drug dHmeireimbursed. In these countries, pricing nagotis with
governmental authorities can take 12 months ordoagter the receipt of regulatory approval anddpat launch. T
obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in somentoes, we may be required to conduct a clinigal that
compares the cost-effectiveness of our produattydting ILUVIEN, to other available therapies. #imbursement
for our products is unavailable, limited in scopeamount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactoryeks, our business
could be materially harmed.

We expect to experience pricing pressures in cdaimrewith the sale of ILUVIEN and our future prodsicue
to the potential healthcare reforms discussed alas/esell as the trend toward programs aimed ataiad health
care costs, the increasing influence of health tamance organizations and additional legislativppsals.

We face substantial competition, which may resuitathers discovering, developing or commercializing
products before or more successfully than we do.

The development and commercialization of new drisdgghly competitive and the commercial success of
ILUVIEN will depend on several factors, includirfyt not limited to, its efficacy and side effecofile,
reimbursement acceptance by private insurers arwiddie, acceptance of pricing, the developmenuofales and
marketing organization, an adequate payment toiplys for the insertion procedure (based on a&ssigned by
the American Medical Association to the procedatep known as a CPT code) and our ability to diffiiate
ILUVIEN from our competitors’ products. We will faccompetition from major pharmaceutical companies,
specialty pharmaceutical companies and biotechyatogipanies worldwide with respect to ILUVIEN and/a
products that we may develop or commercialize énfthure. Our competitors may develop productstieonovel
technologies that are more effective, safer ordessly than any that we are developing. Our coitgretmay also
obtain FDA or other regulatory approval for theiogucts more rapidly than we may obtain approvabias. The
active pharmaceutical ingredient in ILUVIEN is BAhich is not protected by currently valid pate#{s.a result,
our competitors could develop an alternative foatiah or delivery mechanisms to treat diseasekegye with
FAc We do not have the right to develop and seiNigg's proprietary delivery device for indicatiofw diseases
outside of the eye or for the treatment of uveFisither, our agreement with pSivida permits pSiuiol grant to any
other party the right to use its intellectual pnap€i) to treat DME through an incision smalleaththat required for
a 25gauge needle, unless using a corticosteroid delivir the back of the eye, (ii) to deliver any comnpd outsid
the back of the eye unless it is to treat DME tlgtoan incision required for a 25-gauge or largedhe or (jii) to
deliver non-corticosteroids to the back of the eydess it is to treat DME through an incision riegd for a 25-
gauge or larger needle.

There are no ophthalmic drug therapies approvettidyDA for the treatment of DME. Lucentis, a drug
sponsored by Genentech, Inc., a wholly-owned membtre Roche Group is approved for the treatmértsual
impairment due to DME in the European Union anthier stage trials in the U.S. is expected to mtexdompetitio
for ILUVIEN. Retinal specialists are currently ugitaser photocoagulation and off-label therapiegHe treatment
of DME, and may continue to use these therapiesimpetition with ILUVIEN. Additional treatments f@ME are
in various stages of preclinical or clinical tegtihater stage products for
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the treatment of DME include Ozurdex, a drug spogsdy Allergan, Inc. and the VEGF Trap, a drugnspoed by
Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Bayer Health@aapproved, these treatments would also compitte
ILUVIEN. Other laser, surgical or pharmaceuticalatments for DME may also compete against ILUVIENese
competitive therapies may result in pricing presstiwe receive marketing approval for ILUVIEN, evié
ILUVIEN is otherwise viewed as a preferable therapy

Many of our competitors have substantially greéiteancial, technical and human resources than we.ha
Additional mergers and acquisitions in the pharmtical and biotechnology industries may resultvaremore
resources being concentrated by our competitormip@tition may increase further as a result of adeammade in
the commercial applicability of technologies andajer availability of capital for investment in sleefields.

We currently do not have any collaboration agreentemith third-parties. We expect to depend on
collaborations to develop and commercialize our gugts. If we are unable to identify or enter int;ma
agreement with any material third-party collaboratdf our collaborations with any such third-partgre not
scientifically or commercially successful or if olmgreement with any such third-party is terminated allowed
to expire, we could be adversely affected finanlgialr our business reputation could be harmed.

Our business strategy includes entering into coliafions with corporate and academic collabordtmrthe
research, development and commercialization oftadil product candidates. We currently do not hawe
collaboration agreements with third-parties. Areashich we anticipate entering into third-partyllaboration
arrangements include joint sales and marketinghgawments for sales and marketing of ILUVIEN outsifi&lorth
America, and future product development arrangesaditive are unable to identify or enter into aneggnent with
any material third-party collaborator we could biwersely affected financially or our business ratiah could be
harmed. Any arrangements we do enter into may eatcientifically or commercially successful. Thamaation of
any of these future arrangements might adversédgtabur ability to develop, commercialize and nedrtur
products.

The success of our future collaboration arrangeswiit depend heavily on the efforts and activitiddur
collaborators. Our collaborators will have sigrafit discretion in determining the efforts and reses that they wi
apply to these collaborations. We expect that igleswhich we face in connection with these futtwlaborations
will include the following:

< our collaboration agreements are expectee twibfixed terms and subject to termination undeious
circumstances, including, in many cases, on staiite without cause

* we expect to be required in our collaboratgneements not to conduct specified types of rebeard
development in the field that is the subject of¢b#aboration. These agreements may have theteffec
limiting the areas of research and developmentwieatay pursue, either alone or in cooperation thitd-
parties;

 our collaborators may develop and commeraalkigther alone or with others, products and sesvibat are
similar to or competitive with our products whictieahe subject of their collaboration with us;

« our collaborators may change the focus of thevelopment and commercialization efforts. Irerég/ears
there have been a significant number of mergersandolidations in the pharmaceutical and biotetdgyo
industries, some of which have resulted in theigipent companies reevaluating and shifting thei$oof
their business following the completion of thesm#actions. The ability of our products to readirth
potential could be limited if any of our future leddorators decreases or fails to increase spemdiating to
such products

Collaborations with pharmaceutical companies aherthird-parties often are terminated or allow@eéxpire
by the other party. With respect to our future @odirations, any such termination or expiration dadversely
affect us financially as well as harm our businegaitation.
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We may not be successful in our efforts to expana portfolio of products.

A key element of our strategy is to commercializeoéfolio of new ophthalmic drugs in addition 10UVIEN.
We are seeking to do so through our internal rebearograms and through licensing or otherwise micguthe
rights to potential new drugs and drug targetsHertreatment of ophthalmic disease.

A significant portion of the research that we avaducting involves new and unproven technologieseRrch
programs to identify new disease targets and ptochredidates require substantial technical, firgremd human
resources whether or not we ultimately identify aapdidates. Our research programs may initialbyspromise ir
identifying potential product candidates, yet failyield product candidates for clinical developtin a number of
reasons, including:

« the research methodology used may not be succéssfigntifying potential product candidates;

« potential product candidates may on furthedgtbe shown to have harmful side effects or other
characteristics that indicate they are unlikelpéoceffective drugs

We may be unable to license or acquire suitabldyprocandidates or products from third-partiessfaumber
of reasons. In particular, the licensing and adfjaisof pharmaceutical products is a competitivesa A number of
more established companies are also pursuing gigatto license or acquire products in the ophtiafield. These
established companies may have a competitive aggamtver us due to their size, cash resourcesraateg clinica
development and commercialization capabilities.eDfactors that may prevent us from licensing beovise
acquiring suitable product candidates include thiewing:

* we may be unable to license or acquire theveait technology on terms that would allow us tdenan
appropriate return from the produ

« companies that perceive us to be their competitag be unwilling to assign or license their produghts tc
us; or

< we may be unable to identify suitable productsrodpct candidates within our areas of exper

Additionally, it may take greater human and finahcesources to develop suitable potential prodantlidates
through internal research programs or by obtainigigts than we will possess, thereby limiting obility to develog
a diverse product portfolio.

If we are unable to develop suitable potential paddandidates through internal research prograrby o
obtaining rights to novel therapeutics from thim@Hpes, our business will suffer.

We may acquire additional businesses or form stgatealliances in the future, and we may not realittee
benefits of such acquisitions.

We may acquire additional businesses or produnts) trategic alliances or create joint ventureth whird-
parties that we believe will complement or augrmmntexisting business. If we acquire businesses gribmising
markets or technologies, we may not be able tozetthe benefit of acquiring such businesses iaveeunable to
successfully integrate them with our existing ofierss and company culture. We may have difficuttyleveloping
manufacturing and marketing the products of a heagtyuired company that enhances the performanaerof
combined businesses or product lines to realizeevitbm expected synergies. We cannot assureftilatying an
acquisition, we will achieve the revenues or speciét income that justifies the acquisition.

We face the risk of product liability claims and manot be able to obtain insurance.

Our business exposes us to the risk of produdtitiablaims, which is inherent in the manufactugjrtesting
and marketing of drugs and related products. lfuthe of one or more of our products harms peomenay be
subject to costly and damaging product liabilitgicis. We have primary product liability insuranbattcovers our
clinical trials for a $5.0 million general aggregéitmit and excess product liability insurance tbaters our clinical
trials for an additional $5.0 million general aggge limit. We intend to expand our insurance cagerto include
the sale of commercial products if we obtain maneapproval for
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any of the products that we may develop. We maybeaible to obtain or maintain adequate protectgainst
potential liabilities. If we are unable to obtaisurance at acceptable cost or otherwise protedtsigootential
product liability claims, we will be exposed to sificant liabilities, which may materially and adsely affect our
business and financial position. These liabilitesld prevent or interfere with our product devehemt and
commercialization efforts.

In addition, our business is exposed to the risrotiuct liability claims related to our sale arnstiibution of
our over-the-counter dry eye product prior to gtgusition by Bausch & Lomb Incorporated in July0ZOOur
primary product liability insurance and excess pigidiability insurance policies cover product lilith claims
related to the product. To the extent this insueandnsufficient to cover any product related igiwe may be
exposed to significant liabilities, which may maédly and adversely affect our business and finalnmbndition.

If we lose key management personnel, or if we failrecruit additional highly skilled personnel, will impair
our ability to identify, develop and commercialipeoduct candidates.

We are highly dependent upon the principal membgosir management team, including C. Daniel Myets,
President and Chief Executive Officer, Susan Caballir Senior Vice President of Regulatory Affakenneth
Green, Ph.D., our Senior Vice President and Chsedrgific Officer, Richard Eiswirth, our Chief Oming Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, and Dave Holland, &anior Vice President of Sales and Marketing. Tlaseutives
have significant ophthalmic, regulatory industrgies and marketing, operational, and/or corpoiatnte
experience. The loss of any such executives oo#mr principal member of our management team wioifzhir
our ability to identify, develop and market new guats.

In addition, our growth will require us to hire igrsificant number of qualified technical, commet@ad
administrative personnel. There is intense conipatftom other companies and research and acadestitutions
for qualified personnel in the areas of our adweit If we cannot continue to attract and retamaoceptable terms,
the qualified personnel necessary for the contirdealopment of our business, we may not be aldedtain our
operations or grow.

If our contract research organizations (CROs), thiparty vendors and investigators do not succedgfaarry
out their duties or if we lose our relationships tivithem, our development efforts with respect tdJVIEN or
any of our other product candidates could be deldye

We are dependent on CROs, third-party vendorsmarastigators for preclinical testing and cliniadls
related to our discovery and development efforth wéspect to our product candidates and we W@llyi continue t
depend on them to assist in our future discovedydavelopment efforts. These parties are not oypl@mees and
we cannot control the amount or timing of resouttbes they devote to our programs. If they faitievote sufficien
time and resources to our development programsresthect to our product candidates or if theirqranfince is
substandard, it will delay the development and cenemlization of our product candidates. The panigth which
we contract for execution of clinical trials plagignificant role in the conduct of the trials ahé subsequent
collection and analysis of data. Their failure teettheir obligations could adversely affect clahidevelopment of
our product candidates. Moreover, these partiesatsyhave relationships with other commercialtiesti some of
which may compete with us. If they assist our catitges, it could harm our competitive position.

If we lose our relationship with any one or mordtafse parties, we could experience a significateydin
identifying another comparable provider and coriinacfor its services. We may be unable to retairakkernative
provider on reasonable terms, if at all. Even ifla@ate an alternative provider, this provider magd additional
time to respond to our needs and may not provide#ime type or level of service as the originaVipler. In
addition, any provider that we retain will be subj® current Good Laboratory Practices (cGLP) sintlar foreign
standards, and we do not have control over comgsiavith these regulations by these providers. Gunesatly, if
these practices and standards are not adheredthe$y providers, the development and commercializaf our
product candidates could be delayed.
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Our products could be subject to restrictions ortldrawal from the market and we may be subject tmplties
if we fail to comply with regulatory requirementsy if we experience unanticipated problems with coroducts,
when and if any of them is approved.

Any product for which we obtain marketing approvabng with the manufacturing processes, post-agpro
pharmacovigilance, advertising and promotionah@eis for such product, will be subject to contihrequirements
review and periodic inspections by the FDA and otkgulatory bodies. Even if regulatory approvahgdroduct is
granted, the approval may be subject to limitatiemghe indicated uses for which the product magnbeketed or to
the conditions of approval, or contain requireméat<ostly post-marketing testing and surveillataenonitor the
safety or efficacy of the product. Later discovefyreviously unknown problems with our productamafacturer
or manufacturing processes, or failure to compthwegulatory requirements, may result in:

« restrictions on such products or manufacturing @sses
 withdrawal of the products from the mark

 voluntary or mandatory reca

« fines;

» suspension of regulatory approve

 product seizure; ar

« injunctions or the imposition of civil or crimingkenalties

We may be slow to adapt, or we may never adaghanges in existing regulatory requirements or tidof
new regulatory requirements or policies.

Failure to obtain regulatory approval in foreign jusdictions would prevent us from marketing our piacts
abroad.

We intend to market our products internationalfyotder to market our products in foreign jurisidios, we
will be required to obtain separate regulatory apals and comply with numerous and varying regumato
requirements. In July 2010, we submitted a MAAIfdJVIEN to the U.K. MHRA and to regulatory authags in
Austria, France, Germany, Italy, Portugal and Sp#ire approval procedure varies among countries and
jurisdictions and can involve additional testingdahe time required to obtain approval may diffem that
required to obtain FDA approval. Additionally, tfeeeign regulatory approval process may includegthe risks
associated with obtaining FDA approval. For alttigse reasons, we may not obtain foreign regulappyovals on
a timely basis, if at all. Approval by the FDA dasst ensure approval by regulatory authoritiestireocountries or
jurisdictions, and approval by one foreign regutatauthority does not ensure approval by regulatuhorities ir
other foreign countries or jurisdictions or by fH2A. We may not be able to file for regulatory amals and may
not receive necessary approvals to commercializ@aducts in any market. The failure to obtainsthapprovals
could harm our business materially.

Our product candidates may cause undesirable siffeats or have other properties that could delaygevent
their regulatory approval or limit their marketahily.

Undesirable side effects caused by our productidates could interrupt, delay or halt clinical lsiand could
result in the denial of regulatory approval by Ei2A or other regulatory authorities for any ortaligeted
indications, and in turn prevent us from commeizila§) our product candidates and generating rev&froen their
sale. Possible side effects of ILUVIEN include, but not limited to, extensive blurred vision, catas, eye
irritation, eye pain, increased IOP, which may @ase the risk of glaucoma, ocular discomfort, redudgsual
acuity, visual disturbance, endophthalmitis, oglatanding vitreous floaters.

44




Table of Contents

In addition, if any of our product candidates reesimarketing approval and we or others later iflent
undesirable side effects caused by the productowtl face one or more of the following consequsnce

« regulatory authorities may require the additdd labeling statements, such as a “black boxnivey or a
contraindication

* regulatory authorities may withdraw their approwhthe product

* we may be required to change the way thaptbduct is administered, conduct additional clihtcals or
change the labeling of the product; ¢

 our reputation may suffe

Any of these events could prevent us from achiewingaintaining market acceptance of the affectedyrct
or could substantially increase the costs and esgeeaf commercializing the product candidate, widirn could
delay or prevent us from generating significaneraes from its sale.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property and Other Lgal Matters

If we or our licensors are unable to obtain and nmaain protection for the intellectual property ingporated
into our products, the value of our technology apdoducts will be adversely affected.

Our success will depend in large part on our ahbditthe ability of our licensors to obtain and main
protection in the U.S. and other countries foritttellectual property incorporated into our produdthe patent
situation in the field of biotechnology and phareaticals generally is highly uncertain and involeesplex legal
and scientific questions. We or our licensors matybe able to obtain additional issued patentgingldo our
technology. Our success will depend in part orathiity of our licensors to obtain, maintain (indlag making
periodic filings and payments) and enforce pateotgetion for their intellectual property, in parlar, those pater
to which we have secured exclusive rights. Undetioanse with pSivida, pSivida controls the filiqgrosecution
and maintenance of all patents. Our licensors neaguccessfully prosecute or continue to prosethiggatent
applications to which we are licensed. Even if ptta@re issued in respect of these patent aplitative or our
licensors may fail to maintain these patents, metgminine not to pursue litigation against entitiest are infringing
these patents, or may pursue such litigation lggseasively than we ordinarily would. Without prctien for the
intellectual property that we own or license, otbempanies might be able to offer substantiallyia&l products
for sale, which could adversely affect our compegibusiness position and harm our business prespdoreover,
FAc is an off-patent active ingredient that is coenamlly available in several forms including theéended release
ocular implant Retisert.

Even if issued, patents may be challenged, narrpinedlidated, or circumvented, which could limitrability
to stop competitors from marketing similar produmtdimit the length of term of patent protectidrat we may have
for our products. In addition, our patents andlma&nsors’ patents may not afford us protectionmgfacompetitors
with similar technology.

Litigation or third-party claims of intellectual poperty infringement would require us to divert ras@es and
may prevent or delay our development, regulatorypegval or commercialization of our product candidzs.

We may not have rights under some patents or papgiications that may be infringed by our produsts
potential products. Third-parties may now or in fineire own or control these patents and pateniagtpns in the
U.S. and abroad. These third-parties could briagrd against us or our collaborators that wouldseaus to incur
substantial expenses or divert substantial emplogsaurces from our business and, if successfuldaause us to
pay substantial damages or prevent us from devedapie or more product candidates. Further, iftarpga
infringement suit were brought against us or odliaborators, we or they could be forced to stod&lay research,
development, manufacturing or sales of the produproduct candidate that is the subject of the sui

Several issued and pending U.S. patents claimirtads and devices for the treatment of eye diseases
including through the use of steroids, implants emjettions into the eye, purport to cover aspetts
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ILUVIEN. For example, one of our potential competit holds issued and pending U.S. patents witimsl@iovering
devices for injecting an ocular implant into a patis eye similar to the ILUVIEN inserter. Thereaiso an issued
U.S. patent with claims covering implanting a stdabanti-inflammatory agent to treat an inflamroatimediated
condition of the eye. If these or any other patergee held by a court of competent jurisdictiorbéovalid and to
cover aspects of ILUVIEN, then the owners of suatepts would be able to block our ability to comanize
ILUVIEN unless and until we obtain a license undech patents (which license might require us torpgwlties or
grant a cross-license to one or more patents thaiwwn), until such patents expire or unless weahte to redesign
our product to avoid any such valid patents.

As a result of patent infringement claims, or idento avoid potential claims, we or our collaboratmay
choose to seek, or be required to seek, a licensethe third-party and would most likely be reguito pay license
fees or royalties or both. These licenses may eatvailable on acceptable terms, or at all. Eveveibr our
collaborators were able to obtain a license, thletsimay be nonexclusive, which would give our cetitprs access
to the same intellectual property. Ultimately, veeild be prevented from commercializing a productheforced to
cease some aspect of our business operationsaifiesult of actual or threatened patent infringsne&aims, we or
our collaborators are unable to enter into licemseacceptable terms. This could harm our busisigssficantly.

There has been substantial litigation and othecg®dings regarding patent and other intellectuzpgnty right:
in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industiiesddition to infringement claims against us,way become a
party to other patent litigation and other procagdj including interference proceedings declarethbyl.S. Patent
and Trademark Office and opposition proceedinghénEuropean Patent Office, regarding intellecfuaperty
rights with respect to our products and technolddye cost to us of any litigation or other proceegiregardless of
its merit, even if resolved in our favor, couldswhstantial. Some of our competitors may be abgistain the cos
of such litigation or proceedings more effectiviiign we can because of their substantially grditancial
resources. Uncertainties resulting from the iritimand continuation of patent litigation or otlpeoceedings could
have a material adverse effect on our ability tmpete in the marketplace. Intellectual properigdition and other
proceedings may, regardless of their merit, alsmdbsignificant management time and employee ressu

If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agements under which we license development or
commercialization rights to products or technolofpm third-parties, we could lose license rightsathare
important to our business.

Our licenses are important to our business, andxpect to enter into additional licenses in therfet We hold
a license from pSivida under intellectual propeethating to ILUVIEN. This license imposes various
commercialization, milestone payment, profit shgrimsurance and other obligations on us. We atdt & license
from Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co., Ltd. under pisteelating to ILUVIEN. This license imposes aestone
payment and other obligations on us. If we faitdmnply with these obligations, the licensor mayéthe right to
terminate the applicable license, in which evenwweeld not be able to market products, such as ILEN/ that
may be covered by such license.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality or proprietary information and know-how, the valuef our
technology and products could be adversely affected

In addition to patented technology, we rely upopatented proprietary technology, processes, tradets and
know-how. Any involuntary disclosure or misapprapion by third-parties of our confidential or pragtary
information could enable competitors to quickly ticgte or surpass our technological achievemehts ¢roding
our competitive position in our market. We seepttotect confidential or proprietary informationpart by
confidentiality agreements with our employees, attasts and third-parties. While we require albof employees,
consultants, advisors and any third-parties wheelsocess to our proprietary know-how, informatiod a
technology to enter into confidentiality agreemenis cannot be certain that this know-how, infoliorataind
technology will not be disclosed or that compesitaill not otherwise gain access to our trade se@e
independently develop substantially equivalentrimfation and techniques. These agreements mayrbansted or
breached, and we may not have adequate remediaryf@uch termination
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or breach. Furthermore, these agreements may oeidprmeaningful protection for our trade secreis lknowhow
in the event of unauthorized use or disclosurethBoextent that any of our staff were previoushptaped by other
pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies, thoggi@mars may allege violations of trade secrets@thér similar
claims in relation to their drug development adigds for us.

If our efforts to protect the proprietary nature dghe intellectual property related to our producase not
adequate, we may not be able to compete effectivetyir markets.

The strength of our patents in the biotechnology pimarmaceutical field involves complex legal aciéstific
guestions and can be uncertain. In addition toitigs we have licensed from pSivida relating to product
candidates, we rely upon intellectual property w oelating to our products, including patentsgepaapplications
and trade secrets. As of December 31, 2010, we @wne pending non-provisional U.S. utility patepplkcation,
one issued U.S. design patent and one patent Catapef reaty Application, relating to our insersgistem for
ILUVIEN. Our patent applications may be challengedail to result in issued patents and our exgstin future
patents may be too narrow to prevent third-paftie® developing or designing around these patents.

As of December 31, 2010, the patent rights relating. UVIEN licensed to us from pSivida include ¢er
U.S. patents that expire between March 2019 and 2p20 and counterpart filings to these patents mumber of
other jurisdictions. No patent term extension Wwél available for any of these U.S. patents or dmuplicensed
U.S. pending patent applications. After these faterpire in April 2020, we will not be able to bloothers from
marketing FAc in an insert similar to ILUVIEN inéhJ.S. Moreover, it is possible that a third-patyld
successfully challenge the scope (i.e., whethatanp is infringed), validity and enforceability @dir licensed
patents prior to patent expiration and obtain apgirto market a competitive product.

Further, the patent applications that we licenseawe filed may fail to result in issued patentsm® claims in
pending patent applications filed or licensed byage been rejected by patent examiners. Thesastaiy need 1
be amended. Even after amendment, a patent mdemmrmitted to issue. Further, the existing auripatents to
which we have rights based on our agreement withiggsmay be too narrow to prevent third-partiesir
developing or designing around these patents. Aufdilly, we may lose our rights to the patents patnt
applications we license in the event of a breadewnination of the license agreement. Manufactunesy also se¢
to obtain approval to sell a generic version of 11BN prior to the expiration of the relevant licemspatents. If the
sufficiency of the breadth or strength of protectiwovided by the patents we license with respettWVIEN or
the patents we pursue related to another produclidate is threatened, it could dissuade compdroes
collaborating with us to develop, and threatenahility to commercialize ILUVIEN and our other pnaoct
candidates. Further, if we encounter delays inctinical trials, the period of time during which weuld market
ILUVIEN and our other product candidates under ppeotection would be reduced. We rely on tradeete
protection and confidentiality agreements to protectain proprietary know-how that is not patefdgafor
processes for which patents are difficult to endaxad for any other elements of our developmertgages with
respect to ILUVIEN and our other product candiddted involve proprietary know-how, information and
technology that is not covered by patent appliceti®Vhile we require all of our employees, consutaadvisors
and any third-parties who have access to our petapsi know-how, information and technology to erit¢o
confidentiality agreements, we cannot be certaa tiis know-how, information and technology widitrbe
disclosed or that competitors will not otherwiséngaccess to our trade secrets or independentiyldev
substantially equivalent information and technigiéesther, the laws of some foreign countries dbpnotect
proprietary rights to the same extent as the laeoU.S. As a result, we may encounter signifigaoblems in
protecting and defending our intellectual propdxyh in the U.S. and abroad. If we are unable ¢begt or defend
the intellectual property related to our technodsgiwe will not be able to establish or maintagompetitive
advantage in our market.
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Third-party claims of intellectual property infringememhay prevent or delay our discovery, development
commercialization efforts with respect to ILUVIENral our other product candidates.

Our commercial success depends in part on avoidfniggement of the patents and proprietary rigiftthird-
parties. Third-parties may assert that we are eyimiatheir proprietary technology without authotira. In
addition, at least several issued and pending phtents claiming methods and devices for the treatrof eye
diseases, including through the use of steroidglams and injections into the eye, purport to caspects of
ILUVIEN.

Although we are not currently aware of any litigatior other proceedings or third-party claims ¢éliectual
property infringement related to ILUVIEN, the pharoeutical industry is characterized by extensitigation
regarding patents and other intellectual propediyts. Other parties may in the future allege thatactivities
infringe their patents or that we are employingrtbeoprietary technology without authorization. \Weay not have
identified all the patents, patent applicationpablished literature that affect our business eitlyeblocking our
ability to commercialize our product, by preventthg patentability of one or more aspects of oodpcts or those
of our licensors or by covering the same or simtéd@hnologies that may affect our ability to mar&et product. W
cannot predict whether we would be able to obtdicemse on commercially reasonable terms, if lattady inability
to obtain such a license under the applicable patmmcommercially reasonable terms, or at all, ireye a materit
adverse effect on our ability to commercialize ILW or other products until such patents expire.

In addition, third-parties may obtain patents ia fbture and claim that use of our product canélatr
technologies infringes upon these patents. Furtbenparties making claims against us may obtgimative or
other equitable relief, which could effectively bkoour ability to further develop and commercial@ee or more of
our product candidates. Defense of these claimsrdéess of their merit, would involve substaniitégation
expense and would be a substantial diversion ol@rap resources from our business. In the eveatsofccessful
claim of infringement against us, we may have tp febstantial damages, obtain one or more liceingesthird-
parties or pay royalties, or we may be enjoinedhffarther developing or commercializing our prodcahdidates
and technologies. In addition, even in the absentidgation, we may need to obtain licenses friirind-parties to
advance our research or allow commercializatioounfproduct candidates, and we have done so from tid time.
We may fail to obtain future licenses at a reastanabst or on reasonable terms, if at all. In thaint, we may be
unable to further develop and commercialize oneore of our product candidates, which could harmbusiness
significantly.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect ofoece our patents or the patents of our licensovghich
could be expensive, time consuming and unsuccessful

Competitors may infringe our patents or the pateftsur licensors. To counter infringement or umauized
use, we may be required to file infringement claimkich can be expensive and time consuming. litiadgin an
infringement proceeding, a court may decide thadtant of ours or our licensors is not valid ouenforceable, or
may refuse to stop the other party from using ¢ohihology at issue on the grounds that our patentst cover the
technology in question. An adverse result in atigdtion or defense proceedings could put one aernbour
patents at risk of being invalidated or interpratedrowly and could put our patent applicationgsk of not issuing

Interference proceedings brought by the U.S. PatedfTrademark Office may be necessary to deterthane
priority of inventions with respect to our pateats] patent applications or those of our collabesabo licensors. A
unfavorable outcome could require us to cease ubmtpchnology or to attempt to license righti foom the
prevailing party. Our business could be harmedpifevailing party does not offer us a license amtethat are
acceptable to us. Litigation or interference praoiegs may fail and, even if successful, may resuttubstantial
costs and distraction of our management and othetayees. We may not be able to prevent, aloneithrour
licensors, misappropriation of our proprietary tgytparticularly in countries where the laws may protect those
rights as fully as in the U.S.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amourisobdery required in connection with intellectuabperty
litigation, there is a risk that some of our cosfitial information could be compromised by
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disclosure during this type of litigation. In addit, there could be public announcements of theltesf hearings,
motions or other interim proceedings or developmeifisecurities analysts or investors perceiveg¢hesults to be
negative, it could have a substantial adverse effethe price of our common stock.

Product liability lawsuits could divert our resoues, result in substantial liabilities and reducedltommercial
potential of our products.

The risk that we may be sued on product liabillgiros is inherent in the development of pharmacaliti
products. We face a risk of product liability exposrelated to the testing of our product candslateclinical trials
and will face even greater risks upon any commézeigon by us of our product candidates. We baithat we ma
be at a greater risk of product liability claim$ateve to other pharmaceutical companies becausproducts are
inserted into the eye, and it is possible that veg tve held liable for eye injuries of patients whoeive our produc
These lawsuits may divert our management from pogsour business strategy and may be costly tondefia
addition, if we are held liable in any of these $ants, we may incur substantial liabilities and rbayforced to limit
or forego further commercialization of one or mofeur products. Although we maintain primary protliability
insurance and excess product liability insuraneg ¢over our clinical trials, our aggregate coverkgit under
these insurance policies is $10.0 million, and @/t believe this amount of insurance is suffictentover our
product liability exposure, these limits may notiagh enough to fully cover potential liabilitids. addition, we
may not be able to obtain or maintain sufficiersiurance coverage at an acceptable cost or othetovsetect
against potential product liability claims, whicbutd prevent or inhibit the commercial productiordaale of our
products.

Legislative or regulatory reform of the health casystem in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions magheersely
impact our business, operations or financial ressilt

Our industry is highly regulated and changes intaay adversely impact our business, operationmanéial
results. In particular, in March 2010, the Patiérdtection and Affordable Care Act, or PPACA, anélated
reconciliation bill were signed into law. This nésgislation changes the current system of healéhiterurance and
benefits intended to broaden coverage and comsiscThe new law also contains provisions thdtaffiect
companies in the pharmaceutical industry and dikalthcare related industries by imposing additionats and
changes to business practices. Provisions affeptiagmaceutical companies include the following:

« Mandatory rebates for drugs sold into the Maii program have been increased, and the relipigement
has been extended to drugs used ir-based Medicaid managed care pl:

e The 340B Drug Pricing Program under the Puldialth Services Act has been extended to require
mandatory discounts for drug products sold to aeretical access hospitals, cancer hospitals@hdr
covered entities

* Pharmaceutical companies are required to dimounts on brand-name drugs to patients whavittin the
Medicare Part D coverage gap, commonly referrexstthe” Donut Hole”

« Pharmaceutical companies are required to pagnaual non-tax deductible fee to the federal gunent
based on each company’s market share of priortpégrsales of branded products to certain federal
healthcare programs, such as Medicare, Medicaigaf@ent of Veterans Affairs and Department of
Defense. The aggregated industvigle fee is expected to total $28 billion throudHQ, of which $2.5 billiol
will be payable in 2011. Since we expect our bramalearmaceutical sales to constitute a small podifdhe
total federal health program pharmaceutical mamketdo not expect this annual assessment to have a
material impact on our financial conditic

* The new law provides that biologic productsymeceive 12 years of market exclusivity, with @gible six-
month extension for pediatric products. After thiglusivity ends, generic manufacturers will benpigtied to
enter the market, which is likely to reduce theimig for such products and could affect the comfsny
profitability. In addition, generic manufacturergdle permitted to challenge one or more of theepts for ¢
branded drug after a product is marketed for faarg.
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The full effects of the U.S. healthcare reform $tgfion cannot be known until the new law is impéerted
through regulations or guidance issued by the Ceffbe Medicare & Medicaid Services and other fatland state
healthcare agencies. The financial impact of tH& Healthcare reform legislation over the next years will
depend on a number of factors, including but mottéd, to the policies reflected in implementingufations and
guidance, and changes in sales volumes for prodiffetsted by the new system of rebates, discourddees. The
new legislation may also have a positive impacbonfuture net sales, if any, by increasing theragate number «
persons with healthcare coverage in the U.S., lh sicreases are unlikely to be realized untirapimately 2014
at the earliest.

In addition, in September 2007, the Food and Drdmihistration Amendments Act of 2007 was enacted,
giving the FDA enhanced post-marketing authoritgJuding the authority to require post-marketingdés and
clinical trials, labeling changes based on newtgafdormation, and compliance with risk evaluasamd
mitigation strategies approved by the FDA. The FDéxercise of this authority could result in delayéncreased
costs during product development, clinical trialsl aegulatory review, increased costs to ensureptiante with
post-approval regulatory requirements, and poterggrictions on the sale andtistribution of approved produc

Further, in some foreign countries, including thedpean Union and Canada, the pricing of presonipti
pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental conlingdhese countries, pricing negotiations with goweental
authorities can take six to 12 months or longearéfie receipt of regulatory approval and prodagchth. To obtain
reimbursement or pricing approval in some countresmay be required to conduct a clinical trigttbompares
the cost-effectiveness of our product candidatther available therapies. Our business could kenaldy harmed
if reimbursement of our products is unavailabldéiraited in scope or amount or if pricing is seuasatisfactory
levels.

Moreover, we cannot predict what healthcare refmitratives may be adopted in the future. Furthestefral an
state legislative and regulatory developmentsiketyl and we expect ongoing initiatives in the LX&increase
pressure on drug pricing. Such reforms could havadverse effect on anticipated revenues from mrtochndidate
that we may successfully develop and for which ves wbtain regulatory approval and may affect owarail
financial condition and ability to develop drug dadates.

If we use hazardous and biological materials in aanmer that causes injury or violates applicable lawe may
be liable for damages.

Our research and development activities involvectir@rolled use of potentially hazardous substgnces
including chemical and biological materials. In #ideh, our operations produce hazardous waste tsdé&ederal,
state and local laws and regulations in both ti& dnd Canada govern the use, manufacture, stdrageéling and
disposal of hazardous materials. Although we beligmat our procedures for use, handling, storirydisposing of
these materials comply with legally prescribed dtads, we may incur significant additional costsdamply with
applicable laws in the future. Also, even if we ereompliance with applicable laws, we cannot ctatgly
eliminate the risk of contamination or injury reiuj from hazardous materials and we may incuillisitas a resul
of any such contamination or injury. In the eveinao accident, we could be held liable for damaggsenalized
with fines, and the liability could exceed our resies. We do not have any insurance for liabiliigsing from
hazardous materials. Compliance with applicablérenmental laws and regulations is expensive, amceat or
future environmental regulations may impair oueggsh, development and production efforts, whiahldbdarm
our business, operating results and financial dmdi

Our ability to use our net operating loss carry-feards may be limited.

At December 31, 2010, we had U.S. federal and setteperating loss (NOL) carry-forwards of approately
$97.8 million and $81.0 million, respectively, whiexpire at various dates beginning in 2020 thra2@so.
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code limitsathieual utilization of NOL carry-forwards and taedit carry-
forwards following an ownership change in our compaNe are currently evaluating the impact of ®®lon our
NOL carry-forwards and whether certain changes in owneisaye occurred that
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would limit our ability to utilize a portion of olOL carry-forwards. If it is determined that sifioant ownership
changes have occurred since we generated thesecBi®lforwards, we may be subject to annual limitationgree
use of these NOL carry-forwards under Internal RereeCode Section 382 (or comparable provisionsavé saw).

We incur significant increased costs as a resultagferating as a public company, and our managemisnt
required to devote substantial time to new comptarinitiatives.

As a public company, we incur significant legalc@anting and other expenses that we did not ins@ar privat
company. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rulbsesjuently implemented by the SEC and Nasdag, have
imposed various new requirements on public compaimeluding requiring establishment and maintepanfc
effective disclosure and financial controls andnges in corporate governance practices. Our maragesnd othe
personnel are required to devote a substantial abafuime to these new compliance initiatives. Btorer, these
rules and regulations have substantially increasedegal and financial compliance costs and haadersome
activities more time consuming and costly. Thedesrand regulations may make it more difficult amore
expensive for us to maintain our existing direeod officer liability insurance or to obtain simileoverage from a
alternative provider.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other thihgs we maintain effective internal controls fimancial
reporting and disclosure controls and procedurepatticular, pursuant to Section 404 of the SazbaDxley Act
(Section 404), we may be required to perform sysitathprocess evaluation and testing of our interaatrols over
financial reporting to allow management and ouejmehdent registered public accounting firm to rgpor
commencing in our annual report on Form 10-K far ylear ending December 31, 2011, on the effectaseatour
internal controls over financial reporting. Ourtbeg, or the subsequent testing by our independgistered public
accounting firm, may reveal deficiencies in ouemial controls over financial reporting that aremed to be
material weaknesses. Our compliance with Sectidnwid@uld require that we incur substantial accougngrpense
and expend significant management efforts. We atlgrelo not have an internal audit group, and wié néed to
hire additional accounting and financial staff. Mover, if we are not able to comply with the regmients of
Section 404 in a timely manner or if we or our ipeedent registered public accounting firm idengifileficiencies
in our internal controls over financial reportiriat are deemed to be material weaknesses, the inpaide of our
stock could decline and we could be subject totsame or investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or otbgulatory
authorities, which would require additional finaalcand management resources.

Risks Relating to Our Financial Results and Need fd-inancing

Fluctuations in our quarterly operating results andash flows could adversely affect the price of @mammon
stock.

We expect our operating results and cash flowstsubject to quarterly fluctuations. The revenues w
generate, if any, and our operating results wilaffected by numerous factors, including, but imatted to:

 the commercial success of our product candid
 the emergence of products that compete with owtymocandidates
« the status of our preclinical and clinical devel@minprograms

« variations in the level of expenses relatedupexisting product candidates or preclinical alical
development program

« execution of collaborative, licensing or otlaerangements, and the timing of payments receivedade
under those arrangemer

« any intellectual property infringement lawsuitsathich we may become a party; a
« regulatory developments affecting our product caatdis or those of our competitc
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If our quarterly operating results fall below theectations of investors or securities analysts pitice of our
common stock could decline substantially. Furtheamany quarterly fluctuations in our operatingutessand cash
flows may, in turn, cause the price of our stocHuotuate substantially. We believe that quartedynparisons of
our financial results are not necessarily meaningfid should not be relied upon as an indicatioawffuture
performance.

We may need additional financing in the event thae do not receive regulatory approval for ILUVIEN ¢he
approval is delayed or, if approved, the future sgalof ILUVIEN do not generate sufficient revenues fund our
operations. This financing may be difficult to obitaand may restrict our operations.

Prior to our IPO, we funded our operations throtighprivate placement of common stock, preferredksand
convertible debt, as well as by the sale of ceraiets of the non-prescription business in whietware previously
engaged. As of December 31, 2010, we had approgiynd28.5 million in cash and cash equivalents and
$26.3 million in investments which, together witie tCredit Facility described below, we believeufisient to fund
our operations through the projected commerciatimatf ILUVIEN and the expected generation of rexein late
2011. In October 2010, we obtained a $32.5 milienior secured credit facility (Credit Facility)help fund our
working capital requirements. The Credit Facilipnsists of a $20 million revolving line of creditha
$12.5 million term loan. The lenders have advarg®&@5 million under the term loan and may advahee t
remaining $6.25 million following FDA approval dfUVIEN, but no later than July 31, 2011. Given #iatus of
the FDA's review of the NDA, it is unlikely that Fapproval would occur prior to July 31, 2011. We &
discussions with the lenders to amend the terntiseo€redit Facility to, among other things, extéma availability
of the term loan. However, there are no assurathegshe Credit Facility will be amended. We magwdion the
revolving line of credit against eligible, domesdiccounts receivable subsequent to the launchW?IEN. The
commercialization of ILUVIEN is dependent upon apml by the FDA, however, and we cannot be sure tha
ILUVIEN will be approved by the FDA in 2011, if atl, or that, if approved, future sales of ILUVIEMNII generate
enough revenue to fund our operations beyond itsneercialization.

In the event additional financing is needed or salvie, we may seek to fund our operations throbngtsale of
equity securities, strategic collaboration agreemsand additional debt financing. We cannot be thaeadditional
financing from any of these sources will be avddabhen needed or that, if available, the additidinancing will
be obtained on terms favorable to us or our stddens especially in light of the current difficdilhancial
environment. If we raise additional funds by isguéquity securities, substantial dilution to exigtstockholders
would likely result and the terms of any new eqsiggurities may have a preference over our commnoak.slf we
attempt to raise additional funds through strategitaboration agreements and additional debt fiag) we may
not be successful in obtaining collaboration agre®is) or in receiving milestone or royalty paymamsder those
agreements, or the terms of the debt may involyeifitant cash payment obligations as well as camenand
specific financial ratios that may restrict ourlapito commercialize our product candidates orrape our business.
For example, under the Credit Facility, we are sabjo a variety of affirmative and negative covenaincluding
required financial reporting, limitations on oursbaalances, limitations on the disposition of &sdinitations on
the incurrence of additional debt, and other resqugnts. To secure the performance of our obligatiomer the
Credit Facility, we pledged all of our assets, othan our intellectual property (provided thaivié fail to meet
certain financial conditions, a curable lien widl lmposed on our intellectual property as wellth® lenders. Our
failure to comply with the covenants under the @rEdcility could result in an event of defaultethcceleration of
our debt and the loss of our assets. Any declarati@n event of default could significantly haror business and
prospects and could cause our stock price to declin

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price has been and may continue to beati®, and the value of an investment in our commstock
may decline.

We completed the initial public offering of shamsour common stock in April 2010 at a price of $i per
share. Subsequently, our common stock has tradiedvass $6.30 per share. The realization of
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any of the risks described in these risk factorstber unforeseen risks could have a dramatic dwdrae effect on
the market price of our common stock. The tradingepof our common stock is likely to continue @ tighly
volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuatiomsesponse to various factors, some of which agebd our
control. These factors include:

« the timing and final outcome of FDA review of oubN for ILUVIEN;
« results from our clinical trial program

« FDA or international regulatory actions, indilng failure to receive regulatory approval for afyour
product candidate:

« failure of any of our product candidates, if ap@dyto achieve commercial succe
 quarterly variations in our results of operationshmse of our competitor
* our ability to develop and market new and enhameeduct candidates on a timely ba:

e announcements by us or our competitors of iatopns, regulatory approvals, clinical milestonesw
products, significant contracts, commercial relaginps or capital commitment

« third-party coverage and reimbursement polic

« additions or departures of key personi

e commencement of, or our involvement in, litigati

« our ability to meet our repayment and other obiayet under our Credit Facilit
» changes in governmental regulations or in the statwur regulatory approval
» changes in earnings estimates or recommendatiossdwyities analyst

* any major change in our board or managerr

» general economic conditions and slow or negatiesvtr of our markets; an

« political instability, natural disasters, wand/orevents of terrorisir

From time to time, we estimate the timing of theamplishment of various scientific, clinical, regtdry and
other product development goals or milestones. d h@testones may include the commencement or cdioplef
scientific studies and clinical trials and the sigsion of regulatory filings. Also, from time tarie, we expect that
we will publicly announce the anticipated timingsafime of these milestones. All of these milest@resdased on a
variety of assumptions. The actual timing of theskestones can vary dramatically compared to otimases, in
some cases for reasons beyond our control. If weotioneet these milestones as publicly announagdstock pric
may decline and the commercialization of our praddund product candidates may be delayed.

In addition, the stock market has experienced merprice and volume fluctuations that have oftegnbe
unrelated or disproportionate to the operatinggrerance of publicly traded companies. Broad maaketindustry
factors may seriously affect the market price ahpanies’ stock, including ours, regardless of datparating
performance. These fluctuations may be even mamequnced in the trading market for our stock. Iditoin, in the
past, following periods of volatility in the overaharket and the market price of a particular conyfmsecurities,
securities class action litigation has often bemstituted against these companies. This litigatifonstituted against
us, could result in substantial costs and a digaref our management’s attention and resources.

Certain of our existing stockholders have the ahjlito control the outcome of matters submitted &tockholder
approval and may have interests that differ fromoge of our other stockholders.

As of December 31, 2010, our executive officery, émployees and directors and their affiliates fieiadly
owned, in the aggregate, approximately 82.6% ofoatistanding common stock. As a result,
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these stockholders, if acting together, may be &héxercise significant influence over all matterguiring
stockholder approval, including the election okdiors and the approval of significant corporaaegactions, and
this concentration of voting power may have theefbf delaying or impeding actions that could baddicial to
you, including actions that may be supported bylbmard of directors

We currently do not intend to pay dividends on aaommon stock and, consequently, your only opportynb
achieve a return on your investment is if the prioéour common stock appreciates.

We do not anticipate that we will pay any cashagvids on shares of our common stock for the foedsee
future. Any determination to pay dividends in tiiufe will be at the discretion of our board ofeditors and will
depend on results of operations, financial condjtamntractual restrictions, restrictions imposgapplicable law
and other factors our board of directors deemwaalie Accordingly, realization of a gain on youvéstment will
depend on the appreciation of the price of our comstock, which may never occur.

Significant sales of our common stock could depresseduce the market price of our common stock,aause
our shares of common stock to trade below the psieg which they would otherwise trade, or impede ability
to raise future capital.

A small number of institutional investors and ptevaquity funds hold a significant number of sharesur
common stock. Sales by these stockholders of aantied number of shares, or the expectation ofisates, could
cause a significant reduction in the market priceus common stock. Additionally, a small numbereafly
investors in our company have rights, subject ttage conditions, to require us to file registratistatements to
permit the resale of their shares in the publickebor to include their shares in registrationestants that we may
file for ourselves or other stockholders.

In addition to our outstanding common stock, aBetember 31, 2010, there were a total of 2,741s88%es o
common stock that we have registered and that evelaligated to issue upon the exercise of currenttgtanding
options granted under our equity incentive plargotthe exercise of these options, in accordanttetihvir
respective terms, these shares may be resold fédject to restrictions imposed on our affiliatesler Rule 144.
If significant sales of these shares occur in speriods of time, these sales could reduce the ehgrice of our
common stock. Any reduction in the trading priceoaf common stock could impede our ability to raiapital on
attractive terms.

Actual or perceived significant sales of our commstotk could depress or reduce the market pricaiof
common stock, or cause our shares of common stoitkde below the prices at which they would othsewrade,
or impede our ability to raise future capital.

Future sales and issuances of our equity securit@sights to purchase our equity securities, incling
pursuant to our equity incentive plans, would resuh dilution of the percentage ownership of ourcstkholders
and could cause our stock price to fall.

To the extent we raise additional capital by isguenquity securities, our stockholders may expegenc
substantial dilution. We may sell common stock,westible securities or other equity securities fire @r more
transactions at prices and in a manner we deterfronetime to time. If we sell common stock, cortitde
securities or other equity securities in more thaa transaction, investors may be diluted by sulmssicsales. Such
sales may also result in material dilution to oxisting stockholders, and new investors could gajhts superior to
existing stockholders.

Pursuant to our 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, ourth@d directors is authorized to grant stock opsicm our
employees, directors and consultants. The numbghnarkes available for future grant under our 2040itly
Incentive Plan increases each year by an amoual &mthe lesser of 4% of all shares of our caitatk
outstanding as of January 1st of each year, 2,00GBares, or such lesser number as determinedrtyoard of
directors. On January 1, 2011, an additional 12¥®shares became available for future issuancerunda 2010
Equity Incentive Plan in accordance with the anmuedease. In addition, we have reserved 494,4apesthof our
common stock for issuance under our 2010 Employeek$?urchase Plan. The number
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of shares eligible for purchase increases as afakgrist of each year in an amount equal to theestaurchased
under the plan in the preceding year. As suchaomodry 1, 2011, an additional 8,246 shares becaaikable for
future issuance under our 2010 Employee Stock RseRIlan.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter and bylavesid in Delaware law could prevent or delay acquiisit bids
for us that you might consider favorable and coutdhitrench current management.

We are a Delaware corporation and the anti-takepraisions of the Delaware General Corporation lrasy
deter, delay or prevent a change in control by ipitthg us from engaging in a business combinatidth an
interested stockholder for a period of three yafiex the person becomes an interested stockhaden, if a chang
in control would be beneficial to our existing dtbolders. In addition, our restated certificaténaorporation and
bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a changermanagement or control over us that stockhsldey
consider favorable. Our restated certificate obiporation and bylaws:

< Authorize the issuance of “blank check” prederstock that could be issued by our board ofctirs to
thwart a takeover attemg

« Do not provide for cumulative voting in theefion of directors, which would allow holders e§$ than a
majority of our outstanding common stock to elexhe directors

« Establish a classified board of directorsaassult of which the successors to the directdrsse terms have
expired will be elected to serve from the time letdon and qualification until the third annual etieg
following their election

« Require that directors only be removed from offimecause

« Provide that vacancies on the board of dims¢tiacluding newly created directorships, mayibed only by
a majority vote of directors then in offic

« Limit who may call special meetings of stockholdt

 Prohibit stockholder action by written conserguiring all actions to be taken at a meetinthef
stockholders; an

» Establish advance notice requirements for natinig candidates for election to the board ofadaes or for
proposing matters that can be acted upon by stéd&isat stockholder meeting

If securities or industry analysts do not publiskesearch or reports or publish unfavorable researshreports
about our business, our stock price and trading snaie could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depengsaim on the research and reports that securitiesdastry
analysts publish about us, our business, our marketir competitors. If one or more of the analyst® covers us
downgrades our stock, our stock price would likegline. If one or more of these analysts ceaseswer us or
fails to regularly publish reports on us, inteliesbur stock could decrease, which could causestmak price or
trading volume to decline.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our current headquarters are located in Alphar€éargia, consisting of approximately 14,000 sqdiee¢ of
office space. Our lease for this facility expireddecember 2011. Management believes that theddasiities are
suitable and adequate to meet the Company’s aate@imear-term needs. We anticipate that followlieg
expiration of the lease, additional or alternaspace will be available at commercially reasonédales.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is not a party to any material pentéggl proceedings, and management is not awaneyof a
contemplated proceedings by any governmental aitijtagyainst the Company.

ITEM 4. (REMOVED AND RESERVED)

PART Il

ITEM5 MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIE!

Our common stock has been trading on The NASDA&IMarket (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol “ALIM”
since our initial public offering on April 22, 201Brior to that time, there was no establishedipuldding market
for our common stock. The following table setstiofor the periods indicated, the range of high lamdsale prices
of our common stock as reported by NASDAQ.

Year Ended December 31, 20! High Low
Second quarter 201 $11.3C $7.3¢
Third quarter 201 $9.74 $6.3C
Fourth quarter 201 $12.7C  $8.6¢
Holders

As of March 21, 2011 there were 64 holders of r@@drour common stock.

Dividends

The Company has not declared or paid any cashatidisi on its common stock since its inception. The
Company does not plan to pay dividends in the &wable future. In addition, under the Company'si@ieacility,
it has agreed not to pay any dividends so long laasi any outstanding obligations thereunder. &idhér discussio
of the Company’s Credit Facility, s&ur CreditFacility on page 62. The Company currently intetedetain
earnings, if any, to finance the growth of the Camp Consequently, stockholders will need to dekrss of our
common stock to realize a return on their investiméany.

Market Price of and Dividends on the Registrant’'s @mmon Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

The following graph shows the cumulative total retiassuming the investment of $100 on April 22,2¢he
date of the Company’s initial public offering) on smvestment in each of the Company’s common stibek,
NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Biotechnoldgglex. The comparisons in the table are requise
the SEC and are not intended to forecast or beatige of possible future performance of the Conyfsaoommon
stock. All values assume reinvestment of the folbant of dividends and are calculated as of Decef@bg2010.
The Company has not declared or paid any cashatidislon its common stock since its inception ares admt plan
to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. Thimfghg graph and related information is being feh@d solely to
accompany this Form 10-K pursuant to Item 201(éRejulation S-K and shall not be deemed “solicitimaterials”
or to be “filed” with the SEC (other than as praaddin Item 201), nor shall such information be npavated by
reference into any of our filings under
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the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities ExgieaAct of 1934, whether made before or after thte Hareof, and
irrespective of any general incorporation languiagany such filing.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
Sales of Unregistered Securities

In October 2010, we issued warrants to purchasggregate of up to 39,773 shares of our commork $toc
Silicon Valley Bank and MidCap Financial LLP, theters under our Credit Facility. The warrants were
immediately exercisable at a per share exercise pfi$11.00 and have a term of 10 years. We isthesed warran
in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act®33, as amended, as a transaction not involaipgblic offering

Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stoc

On April 21, 2010, our Registration Statement omi&-1 (File No. 333-162782)as declared effective by t
SEC for our initial public offering, pursuant to ish we sold 6,550,000 shares of our common stoekpatblic
offering price of $11.00 per share. We receivedpneteeds of approximately $66.1 million from thiEnsaction,
after deducting underwriting discounts, commissiang other offering costs. The underwriters ofdffering were
Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, Citigroup Glbharkets Inc., Cowen and Company, LLC, and
Oppenheimer & Co., Inc. On April 27, 2010 we paidb® million to pSivida to satisfy our $15.0 millimote
payable and accrued but unpaid interest therecgreTtiave been no material changes in our use ongdause of
proceeds from the initial public offering from thddscribed in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qtli@rquarter
ended March 31, 2010, filed with the SEC on Juri2070.
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ITEM 6 SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The tables below summarize our financial data. fbHewing statements of operations data for fisgedrs
2010, 2009 and 2008, and the balance sheet dafdDeszember 31, 2010 and 2009 have been derived dur
audited financial statements and related notesaaméhcluded elsewhere in this annual report omFH-K. The
statement of operations data for fiscal years 2062006, and the balance sheet data as of Dec&hb2008,
2007 and 2006 are derived from our audited findrstéiements not included herein. Our historicauls for any
prior period are not necessarily indicative of testo be expected in any future period.

The following summary financial data should be reagkther with our financial statements and relatetegs
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Firer@ondition and Results of Operations” includésbeshere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Statement of Operations Data

Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(In thousands, except per share data)

Operating expens

Research and developm:e $12,58. $15,057 $43,76¢ $ 8,36 $ 6,73¢

General and administratiy 4,61( 3,407 5,05¢ 3,18¢ 3,02¢

Marketing 4,88( 752 1,25¢ 96¢ 61€
Total operating expens 22,07 19,21¢ 50,08 12,51¢ 10,38(
Interest and other incon 73 37 58t 1,07¢ 59¢€
Interest expens (84¢) (1,89%) (1,519 2 2
Gain on early extinguishment of d¢ 1,34: — — — —
Decrease (increase) in fair value of preferredkstoc

conversion featur 3,644 (23,147 (10,459 1 6
Loss from continuing operatiol (17,859 (44,219 (61,464 (11,439 (9,780
Income (loss) from discontinued operatic 4,00( — — 5,73: (3,197
Net loss (13,859 (44,218 (61,469 (5,708 (12,97)
Beneficial conversion feature of preferred st — (355) — — —
Preferred stock accretic (46€) (623) (718) (24¢) (243
Preferred stock dividenc (2,639 (7,22%) (6,579) (4,685 (3,54¢)
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $(16,969) $(52,42) $(68,755) $(10,639 $(16,767)
Basic and diluted loss per share attributable toroon

stockholder: $ (0.77) $ (3456 $ (4550 $ (7.09 $ (11.66

Weighted average number of shares used to compste
and diluted loss per share attributable to common
stockholder: 22,16¢ 1,515 1,511 1,50( 1,437
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Balance Sheet Dat:

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)
Cash and cash equivalel $ 28514 $ 4,85¢ $ 17,87F $20,84° $27,15)
Investment: 26,33( — — —
Working capital (deficit 49,77 (4,42%) 14,55 19,86: 25,29
Total asset 56,41« 6,561 20,26«  24,51¢  31,25]
Long-term liabilities 4,78~ 47,90¢ 28,21 31 60
Preferred stoc — 113,38 103,01° 67,99C 63,057
Additional paic-in capital 233,33 4,83¢ 3,47¢ 2,861 2,571
Accumulated defici (188,859 (171,89) (119,47() (50,71% (40,077
Total stockholder equity (deficit) 45,21 (165,47) (115,88) (47,739 (37,399

ITEM7 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should beli@aconjunction with our audited annual consolielat
financial statements and the related notes thaeapglsewhere in this Annual ReportForm 10-K. This
discussion contains forward-looking statementsecgiihg our current expectations that involve rigksl
uncertainties. Actual results may differ materidigm those discussed in these forward-lookingest&ints due to a
number of factors, including those set forth in $keetion entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere fistAnnual
Report orForm 10-K. For further information regarding forwdiooking statements, please refer to the “Special
Note Regarding ForwarLooking Statements and Projections” at the begigrif Item 1 of this Annual Report on
Form 1(-K.

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company that specializttge research, development and commercialization
prescription ophthalmic pharmaceuticals. We arsgmily focused on diseases affecting the backeoéyte, or
retina, because we believe these diseases arestidtemted with current therapies and represeigrificant marke

opportunity.

Our most advanced product candidate is ILUVIEN,clihive are developing for the treatment of diabetic
macular edema (DME). DME is a disease of the rdtinhaffects individuals with diabetes and canl leasevere
vision loss and blindness. In September 2010 wepbeted two Phase 3 pivotal clinical trials (colieety, our
FAME Study) for ILUVIEN involving 956 patients irites across the U.S., Canada, Europe and Indissesa the
efficacy and safety of ILUVIEN in the treatment@ME. Based on our analysis of the month 24 cliniealdout
from our FAME Study in December 2009, we filed aiN@rug Application (NDA) in June 2010 for the lowsk of
ILUVIEN in the U.S. with the U.S. Food and Drug Athistration (FDA), followed by registration filings the
United Kingdom, Austria, France, Germany, ItalyrtBgal and Spain in July 2010. In December 2010regeived
a Complete Response Letter (CRL) from the FDA. FBé\ issued the CRL to communicate its decision that
NDA for ILUVIEN could not be approved in its preséarm. No new clinical studies were requestedhs/EDA in
the CRL. However, the FDA asked us for analysab®fafety and efficacy data through the end ofFhRIE
Study to further assess the relative benefits kg of ILUVIEN. We are currently preparing the bis&s the FDA
requested having completed the FAME Study and plybieleased data on February 3, 2011. The FDAsis a
seeking additional information regarding contraisl apecifications concerning the manufacturingkpging and
sterilization of ILUVIEN, which we are currently smiling. We currently anticipate submitting ourpesse to the
CRL to the FDA early in the second quarter of 20Qar submission to the FDA will be considered as€la
response, which will provide for a review periodupfto an additional six months for our NDA. Basedour
discussions with the FDA, we anticipate that thedRidll call an advisory committee during this rewie
Additionally, we plan to submit the additional sgfand efficacy data through the final readouhaténd of
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the FAME™ Study to regulatory authorities in the United Kiogd Austria, France, Germany, Italy, Portugal and
Spain in the second quarter of 2011. If our NDAIfdOVIEN is approved by the FDA, we plan to commiatize
ILUVIEN in the U.S. by marketing and selling it tetinal specialists as early as late 2011. In auldib treating
DME, ILUVIEN is being studied in three Phase 2 idal trials for the treatment of the dry form ofearglated
macular degeneration (AMD), the wet form of AMD amtinal vein occlusion (RVO).

We are also conducting testing on two classesagitimamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH)
oxidase inhibitors, for which we have acquired egite, worldwide licenses from Emory University tive
treatment of dry AMD. We plan to evaluate the usBADPH oxidase inhibitors in the treatment of athiéseases
of the eye, including wet AMD and diabetic retindpa We intend to seek a collaboration partnerstdes and
marketing activities outside North America. We emtty contract with development partners or outsiaes for
various operational aspects of our developmentiies, including the preparation of clinical sujgsland have no
plans to establish in-house manufacturing capadslit

We commenced operations in June 2003. Since oapiimn we have incurred significant losses. As of
December 31, 2010, we have accumulated a defii188.9 million. We expect to incur substantiakkes through
the projected commercialization of ILUVIEN as we:

» complete the clinical development and registratibiL.UVIEN;

build our sales and marketing capabilities forah&cipated commercial launch of ILUVIEN in late120

add the necessary infrastructure to support ouwitrc

evaluate the use of ILUVIEN for the treatment dfetdiseases; ar

advance the clinical development of other peaduct candidates either currently in our pipelmethat we
may license or acquire in the futu

Prior to our initial public offering (IPO), we fued our operations through the private placemenbofmon
stock, preferred stock, warrants and convertible,des well as by the sale of certain assets ofitimeprescription
business in which we were previously engaged. Onil 2pb, 2010, our Registration Statement on Forth @s
amended) was declared effective by the SecuritidsExchange Commission (SEC) for our IPO, purst@mthich
we sold 6,550,000 shares of our common stock abégoffering price of $11.00 per share. We reedinet
proceeds of approximately $66.1 million from thisnsaction, after deducting underwriting discouctsnmissions
and other offering costs.

As of December 31, 2010, we had approximately $88l%on in cash and cash equivalents and $26.8anil
of investments in trading securities. In additiorotir net IPO proceeds, our cash and cash equtsateiude the
January 2010 receipt of $10.0 million in proceedsfthe exercise of outstanding Series C-1 warramis a
$4.0 million option payment from Bausch & Lomb Imporated (Bausch & Lomb) upon the exercise by Badsc
Lomb of its option to extend by two years the peériiring which it may continue to develop an aljepgoduct
acquired from us in 2006.

In October 2010, we obtained a $32.5 million sesixured credit facility (Credit Facility) to hefipnd our
working capital requirements. The Credit Facilignsists of a $20.0 million revolving line of creditd a
$12.5 million term loan. The lenders have advarg®&@5 million under the term loan and may advahee t
remaining $6.25 million following FDA approval dfUVIEN, but no later than July 31, 2011. Given #iatus of
the FDA's review of the NDA for ILUVIEN, we do naurrently expect that FDA approval would occur ptm
July 31, 2011. We are in discussions with the lesitie amend the terms of the Credit Facility topamother
things, extend the availability of the term loamvitver, there are no assurances that the CrediityFadll be
amended. We may draw on the revolving line of dragainst eligible, domestic accounts receivablessquent to
the launch of ILUVIEN.

We do not expect to generate revenues from ouryetotL UVIEN, until late 2011, if at all, and thdoge we d
not expect to have positive cash flow from operatibefore that time. We believe our cash,
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cash equivalents, investments and Credit Facifigysafficient to fund our operations through thejgcted
commercialization of ILUVIEN and the expected gextien of revenue in late 2011. The commercializatid
ILUVIEN is dependent upon approval by the FDA, heer and we cannot be sure that ILUVIEN will be aped
by the FDA or that, if approved, future sales dMIEN will generate enough revenue to fund our aegiens
beyond its commercialization. Due to the unceryaambund FDA approval, management cannot be cettainwve
will not need additional funds for the commerciatinn of ILUVIEN. If ILUVIEN is not approved, or iipproved,
does not generate sufficient revenue, we may adjustommercial plans so that we can continue &ryatp with oL
existing cash resources or seek to raise additforaicing.

Our Agreement with pSivida US, Inc.

In February 2005, we entered into an agreementp@ikida US, Inc. (pSivida) for the use of fluodmwe
acetonide (FACc) in pSivida'proprietary delivery device. pSivida is a glothalg delivery company committed to
biomedical sector and the development of drug dgjiyproducts. Our agreement with pSivida providesvith a
worldwide exclusive license to develop and sell IBN, which consists of a tiny polyimide tube witembrane
caps that is filled with FAc in a polyvinyl alcohalatrix for delivery to the back of the eye for theatment and
prevention of eye diseases in humans (other thaitisiv This agreement also provided us with a dwitle non-
exclusive license to develop and sell pSivida'ppietary delivery device to deliver other corticstids to the back
of the eye for the treatment and prevention ofdigeases in humans (other than uveitis) or to D&&E by
delivering a compound to the back of the eye thncauglirect delivery method through an incision iegplifor a 25-
gauge or larger needle. We do not have the rigletelop and sell pSivida’s proprietary deliveryide for
indications for diseases outside of the eye ottfertreatment of uveitis. Further, our agreemett pSivida permit
pSivida to grant to any other party the right te its intellectual property (i) to treat DME thrdugn incision
smaller than that required for a 25-gauge neediess using a corticosteroid delivered to the lHdke eye, (i) to
deliver any compound outside the back of the eyessrit is to treat DME through an incision reqdifer a 25-
gauge or larger needle, or (iii) to deliver nontimmsteroids to the back of the eye, unless b is¢at DME through
an incision required for a 25-gauge or larger need|

Under the February 2005 agreement, we and pSigozed to collaborate on the development of ILUVIieN
DME, and share financial responsibility for the diepment expenses equally. Per the terms of theeaggnt, we
each reported our monthly expenditures on a casis,k@nd the party expending the lesser amourdasif during th
period was required to make a cash payment toahg pxpending the greater amount to balance thle ca
expenditures. We retained primary responsibilitytfe development of the product, and thereforegwenerally
the party owed a balancing payment. Between Fep2@06 and December 2006, pSivida failed to makengats
to us for its share of development costs totalia@ $nillion. For each payment not made, pSividaiired a penalty
of 50% of the missed payment and interest begamiaccat the rate of 20% per annum on the missgchpat and
the penalty amount. In accordance with the termb@figreement, pSivida was able to remain in camgd with
the terms of the February 2005 agreement as lotigea®tal amount of development payments pastiliaot
exceed $2.0 million, and pSivida began making paymagain in December 2006 in order to maintaing@mce
with the agreement.

The February 2005 agreement provided that aftenoertialization of ILUVIEN, profits, as defined ihe
agreement, would be shared equally. In March 2@@8and pSivida amended and restated the agreemprovide
us with 80% of the net profits and pSivida with 208%4he net profits.

Total consideration to pSivida in connection whie £xecution of the March 2008 agreement was $88li@&n,
which consisted of a cash payment of $12.0 millibe,issuance of a $15.0 million note payable,taedorgivenes
of $6.8 million in outstanding receivables. The $i/illion promissory note accrued interest at 886 gnnum,
payable quarterly and was payable in full to pSivighon the earliest of a liquidity event as defiirethe agreemer
the occurrence of an event of default under oueegent with pSivida, or September 30, 2012. Ifribe was not
paid in full by March 31, 2010, the interest rateswo increase to 20% effective as of April 1, 2Ctd we were
required to begin making principal payments of $800 per month. On April 27, 2010, we paid pSivida
approximately $15.2 million in principal and intste
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to satisfy the note payable with the proceeds foomIPO. We will owe pSivida an additional milestopayment of
$25.0 million upon FDA approval of ILUVIEN.

Our Credit Facility
Term Loan Agreement

On October 14, 2010 (Effective Date), we enteréd inLoan and Security Agreement with Silicon Vialgank
and MidCap Financial LLP under (Lenders) which wayrborrow up to $12.5 million (Term Loan Agreemeiit)e
lenders advanced $6.25 million on the Effectiveed@titial Tranche) and may advance the remain.@% million
following FDA approval of ILUVIEN, but no later timaJuly 31, 2011 (Second Tranche). Given the stttise
FDA's review of the NDA for ILUVIEN, it is unlikely tha=DA approval would occur prior to July 31, 20¥¥e ar¢
in discussions with the Lenders to amend the tarftise Credit Facility to, among other things, extehe
availability of the term loan. However, there aceassurances that the Credit Facility will be aneehd o secure tt
repayment of any amounts borrowed under the Teraml&greement, we granted to the lenders a firstipyi
security interest in all of our assets, other tbanintellectual property (provided that in the ewveve fail to meet
certain financial conditions, a curable lien widl lmposed on our intellectual property). We alsead not to pled¢
or otherwise encumber our intellectual propertyetss

We are required to maintain our primary operating ather deposit accounts and securities accouitiis w
Silicon Valley Bank, which accounts must represgnéast 50% of the dollar value of our accountslldtnancial
institutions.

We will be required to pay interest on borrowingsler the Term Loan Agreement at a rate of 11.5% on
monthly basis through July 31, 2011. Thereafterwilebe required to repay the principal, plus ietgt at such rate
if the Second Tranche is advanced to us prior tordy 28, 2011 (and plus interest at a rate of faie Second
Tranche is advanced to us after February 28, 201 2), equal monthly installments. We paid to taeders an
upfront fee of $62,500, and will pay to the lendamsadditional final payment of 3% of the totalngipal amount. li
addition, if we repay the loan prior to maturitye will pay to the lenders a prepayment penalty%fds the total
principal amount if the prepayment occurs withire gear after the funding date, 3% of the total @pal amount if
the prepayment occurs between one and two yeansthé funding date and 1% of the total principabant of the
prepayment occurs thereafter (each a PrepaymeattiPeprovided in each case that such PrepaymemalB will
be reduced by 50% in the event we are acquired.

To secure the repayment of any amounts borrowedrihd Term Loan Agreement, we granted to the Lende
a first priority security interest in all of oursats, other than our intellectual property, progitieat, for any date
during which the notes are outstanding, our uricgstt balance sheet cash and cash equivalentshalexcess
available under the Term Loan Agreement are lems the product of six times the monthly cash bumoant. In
the event we fail to meet this financial conditiangurable lien will be imposed on our intellectpedperty. Should
such a lien event take place, the lien would rermaforce until such date that the Company’s umietstd cash and
cash equivalents plus the excess available undére¢hm Loan Agreement were equal to or greater tivatve
times the monthly cash burn amount. We also agneetb pledge or otherwise encumber our intelldguaperty
assets. Additionally, we must seek the Lenderst@d prior to the payment of any cash dividends.

In connection with entering into this agreement,isgeied to the Lenders, warrants to purchase ameggig of
up to 39,773 shares of our common stock. Eacheofidrrants is exercisable immediately, has a paresbxercise
price of $11.00 and has a term of 10 years. Intanidithe Lenders will have certain registratioghts with respect
to the shares of common stock issuable upon exeofighe warrants. We estimated the aggregatediie of the
warrants, using the Black-Scholes model, to be E88D We allocated a portion of the proceeds froenTterm
Loan Agreement to the warrants in accordance wBICA70-20-25-2Debt Instruments with Detachable Warrants.
As a result, we recorded a discount of $366,00€kts being amortized to interest expense usingteetive
interest method.
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Revolving Loan Agreemer

Also on the Effective Date, we and Silicon Vallegrik entered into a Loan and Security Agreement¢Réayg
Loan Agreement), pursuant to which we obtainedcarsel revolving line of credit from Silicon Vall&ank with
borrowing availability up to $20.0 million.

The Revolving Loan Agreement provides for a workiagital-based revolving line of credit (Revolvibige)
in an aggregate amount of up to the lesser o2@ G million, or (ii) 85% of eligible domestic aaauts receivable.
The Revolving Line matures on October 31, 2013.

Amounts advanced under the Revolving Line beardésteat an annual rate equal to Silicon Valley Bank
prime rate plus 2.50% (with a rate floor of 6.50%jerest on the Revolving Line is due monthly,hatite balance
due at the maturity date. We paid to the SilicotieyaBank an upfront fee of $100,000. In additidnwe terminate
the Revolving Line prior to maturity, we will pag Silicon Valley Bank a fee of $400,000 if the tamation occurs
within one year after the Effective Date and ade$200,000 if the termination occurs more than pear after the
Effective Date (each a Termination Fee), providedach case that such Termination Fee will be ediby 50% in
the event we are acquired.

To secure the repayment of any amounts borrowedrithd Revolving Loan Agreement, we granted ta&ili
Valley Bank a first priority security interest ifl af our assets, other than our intellectual progeprovided that, fo
any date during which the notes are outstandinguorestricted balance sheet cash and cash equisglis the
excess available under the Term Loan Agreemereasethan the product of six times the monthly dasim
amount. In the event we fail to meet this financihdition, a curable lien will be imposed on autellectual
property. Should such a lien event take placeliéimewould remain in force until such date that aorestricted cas
and cash equivalents plus the excess available tinelderm Loan Agreement were equal to or grahtar twelve
times the monthly cash burn amount. We also agneetb pledge or otherwise encumber its intellelgmaperty
assets. Additionally, we must seek Silicon ValleynR's approval prior to the payment of any caslhodinds.

The occurrence of an event of default could rasuthe acceleration of our obligations under theddang
Loan Agreement and an increase to the applicabdegst rate, and would permit Silicon Valley Baalekercise
remedies with respect to the collateral under teedRing Loan Agreement.

Our Discontinued Non-Prescription Business

At the inception of our company, we were focusathgrily on the development and commercializatiomaih-
prescription over-the-counter ophthalmic produkt€ctober 2006, due to the progress and resoemérements
related to the development of ILUVIEN, we decidedliscontinue our non-prescription business. Assallt, we
received proceeds of $10.0 million from the salewfallergy products in December 2006 and $6.Tonifrom the
sale of our dry eye product in July 2007, both gugch & Lomb. If one of the allergy products reesi¥ DA
approval, we are entitled to an additional $8.0Qiamlpayment from Bausch & Lomb under the salegagrent. In
January 2010 we received a $4.0 million option paynirom Bausch & Lomb upon the exercise by Bausch
Lomb of its option to extend the period during whitmay continue to develop this allergy produgtio years.
However, there can be no assurance that Bauschnéblwaill continue the development of this allergpguct, that
it will receive FDA approval or that we will receithe $8.0 million payment. As a result of the digmuance of
our non-prescription business, all revenues anéresgs associated with our over-the-counter pautéok included
in the loss from discontinued operations in theoagganying statements of operations.

Financial Operations Overview
Revenue

To date we have only generated revenue from oueggynon-prescription product. From the launchaef t
product in September 2004 to its sale in July 20@¥generated $4.4 million in net revenues. Weaterpect to
generate any significant additional revenue unteéamtil we obtain regulatory approval of, and coemaialize, our
product candidates or in-license additional proslticht generate revenue. In addition to
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generating revenue from product sales, we intersééi to generate revenue from other sources sugpfieont fee:
milestone payments in connection with collaborativstrategic relationships, and royalties resglfiom the
licensing of our product candidates and other limt&lial property. We expect any revenue we generifitductuate
from quarter to quarter as a result of the natiméng and amount of any milestone payments we reagive from
potential collaborative and strategic relationshgswell as revenue we may receive upon the $alergroducts t
the extent any are successfully commercialized.

Research and Development Expenses

Substantially all of our research and developmgpenses incurred to date related to our continoperations
have been related to the development of ILUVIENthie event the FDA approves our NDA for ILUVIEN, wl
owe an additional milestone payment of $25.0 millio pSivida. We anticipate that we will incur atthal
research and development expenses in the futwe avaluate and possibly pursue the developmelhi BfIEN
for additional indications, or develop additionabguct candidates. We recognize research and dewvelat
expenses as they are incurred. Our research amtbgevent expenses consist primarily of:

- salaries and related expenses for persol

 fees paid to consultants and contract reseangédmizations (CRO) in conjunction with indepentien
monitoring clinical trials and acquiring and evdlog data in conjunction with clinical trials, inging all
related fees such as investigator grants, pat@aesing, lab work and data compilation and siasikt
analysis;

 costs incurred with third parties relatedhe establishment of a commercially viable manufémguprocess
for our product candidate

« costs related to production of clinical materiagjuding fees paid to contract manufactur
 costs related to upfront and milestone paymentguin-licensing agreement

« costs related to compliance with FDA regulatoryuisgments

» consulting fees paid to thi-parties involved in research and development digtszianc

 costs related to stock options or other stoaged compensation granted to personnel in developm
functions.

We expense both internal and external developnmasis@s they are incurred.

We expect that a large percentage of our reseattide@velopment expenses in the future will be irediin
support of our current and future technical, précél and clinical development programs. These edijieres are
subject to numerous uncertainties in terms of lthoeir timing and total cost to completion. We exgeccontinue to
develop stable formulations of our product candidatest such formulations in preclinical stud@stdéxicology,
safety and efficacy and to conduct clinical trf@ilseach product candidate. We anticipate fundiingoal trials
ourselves, but we may engage collaboration parttersrtain stages of clinical development. As W&aim results
from clinical trials, we may elect to discontinued®lay clinical trials for certain product candieor programs in
order to focus our resources on more promisingywbdandidates or programs. Completion of clinidals by us
or our future collaborators may take several yearsore, the length of time generally varying wtitle type,
complexity, novelty and intended use of a prodactdidate. The costs of clinical trials may varyngfigantly over
the life of a project owing to but not limited teet following:

 the number of sites included in the trie
« the length of time required to enroll eligible ais;
 the number of patients that participate in thd<yi

» the number of doses that patients rece
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« the droj-out or discontinuation rates of patier

« the duration of patierfollow-up;

« the phase of development the product candidate enid
« the efficacy and safety profile of the product ddate.

Our expenses related to clinical trials are basedstimates of the services received and effopsmoed
pursuant to contracts with multiple research intins and contract research organizations thadwcdrand manage
clinical trials on our behalf. The financial terimisthese agreements are subject to negotiatiorvarydfrom contrac
to contract and may result in uneven payment fla@enerally, these agreements set forth the scoperifto be
performed at a fixed fee or unit price. Paymenideurthe contracts depend on factors such as thessfal
enrollment of patients or the completion of clidit@l milestones. Expenses related to clinical$rgenerally are
accrued based on contracted amounts applied tevbEof patient enroliment and activity accordioghe protocol
If timelines or contracts are modified based upleanges in the clinical trial protocol or scope afrlwto be
performed, we modify our estimates of accrued egeemccordingly on a prospective basis.

None of our product candidates has received FDfar@ign regulatory marketing approval. In ordegtant
marketing approval, a health authority such ad=bA or foreign regulatory agencies must conclugs ttinical
and preclinical data establish the safety and &ffioof our product candidates with an appropriateefit to risk
profile relevant to a particular indication, andtthe product can be manufactured under curreatiGo
Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) in a reproducible marto deliver the product’s intended performamcterms of
its stability, quality, purity and potency. Untilosubmissions are reviewed by health authoritiese is no way to
predict the outcome of their review. Even if thimiclal studies meet their predetermined primarypaints, and a
registration dossier is accepted for filing, a Healuthority could still determine that an apprat@ibenefit to risk
relationship does not exist for the indication tivatare seeking. We cannot forecast with any degfreertainty
which of our product candidates will be subjectuture collaborations or how such arrangements waffiect our
development plan or capital requirements. As alre$uhe uncertainties discussed above, we arélerta
determine the duration and completion costs ofdewelopment projects or when and to what extenvilleeceive
cash inflows from the commercialization and salemfpproved product candidate.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piiynafrcompensation for employees in executive and
administrative functions, including finance, acctiog and human resources. Other significant costiside
facilities costs and professional fees for accaunéind legal services, including legal services@ated with
obtaining and maintaining patents. We anticipateiiring a significant increase in general and adstriative
expenses, as we add additional employees and gerttiroperate as a public company. These incre@Beésclude
increased costs for insurance, costs related thithegy of additional personnel and payments tsiolgt consultants,
lawyers and accountants. We also expect to contmirecur significant costs to comply with the corate
governance, internal control and similar requirets@pplicable to public companies.

Marketing Expenses

Marketing expenses consist primarily of compensafiis employees responsible for assessing the caoimhe
opportunity of and developing market awarenesslamach plans for our product candidates. Othersciostude
professional fees associated with developing brésdsur product candidates and maintaining putglations. We
expect significant increases in our marketing agiling expenses as we hire additional personnekatablish our
sales and marketing capabilities in anticipatiothef commercialization of our product candidates. iWend to
capitalize on our management’s past experiencegpertise with eye-care products by marketing atithg
ILUVIEN to the approximately 1,600 retinal specstdi practicing in the approximately 900 retina eemtaicross the
u.s.
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Our plan is to develop our own specialized domesgles and marketing infrastructure, comprised of
approximately 40 people, to market ILUVIEN and atbphthalmic products that we may acquire or dgvé@iahe
future. We hired regional managers with extenspetioalmic-based sales experience in the third quaft2010
and plan to begin adding sales representativdwifourth quarter of 2011. We entered into a rehstnip with
OnCall LLC, a contract sales force company, thditwiilize its employees to act as our sales regmégives if we
receive approval of the ILUVIEN NDA from the FDA. &\&xpect that following an FDA approval, the OnlGales
force will be able to access and form relationskfib retinal specialists in approximately 900 meticenters for to
the commercial launch of ILUVIEN, following FDA appval of our NDA. In connection with the commercial
launch of ILUVIEN, we expect to hire additional pennel to support the activities of customer senost-
marketing pharmacovigilance, medical affairs, agglitatory compliance.

Interest and Other Income

Interest income consists primarily of interest earon our cash, cash equivalents and investments.

Interest Expense

Beginning in March 2008, we began recognizing egepn our $15.0 million note payable to pSividarat
effective interest rate of 12.64% per annum (tlieraccrued interest at the rate of 8% per annam fnception
through March 31, 2010 and at the rate of 20% peum effective as of April 1, 2010). On April 2Q10, we paid
pSivida approximately $15.2 million in principaldaimterest to satisfy the note payable. In Oct@0, we drew
the Initial Tranche of $6.25 million on our termatofrom Silicon Valley Bank and MidCap FinancialR hich
accrues interest at the rate of 11.5% per annunisgoalyable monthly.

Change in Fair Value of Preferred Stock Conversidieature

Prior to being converted into common stock in catiog with our IPO, our preferred stock containedain
conversion features which were considered embeddgdatives. We accounted for such embedded déerévat
financial instruments in accordance with Account8tgndards Codification 815. We recorded derivdiivencial
instruments as assets or liabilities in our balastmet measured at their fair value. We recordedhianges in fair
value of such instruments as non-cash gains oe$dassthe statement of operations. The prefermekstonversion
feature was eliminated upon the conversion of eefgpred stock to common stock in connection with I®O in
April 2010.

Preferred Stock Accretion

Prior to our IPO, our preferred stock was recoraeidsuance at the proceeds received net of angriss
discounts, issuance costs and the fair value ofdhgersion features at issuance. The differenbedssn the amou
recorded at issuance and the original issue prasagcreted on a straight-line basis over a pesitehding from
the date of issuance to the date at which the pegfestock would have become redeemable at theropfithe
holder. Accretion of the difference ceased uporctiresersion of our preferred stock to common staatonnectior
with our IPO in April 2010.

Preferred Stock Dividends

Prior to our IPO, our preferred stock accrued dimds at 8% per annum which were recorded as agaserin
the carrying amount of the respective preferredkstat the time our preferred stock was converted common
stock in connection with our IPO, $1.5 million a¥idlends accrued on our Series A preferred stoik po
November 17, 2005 were converted into 380,301 shafreur common stock. All other preferred stockidiénds
were eliminated upon conversion of the underlyirgfgrred stock in April 2010.
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Basic and Diluted Net Loss Applicable to Common &tbolders per Common Shai

We calculated net loss per share in accordanceA@th 260. We have determined that our previously
outstanding Series A, Series B, Series C and S€riepreferred stock represent participating s¢iesrin
accordance with ASC 260. However, since we opexrbseloss, and losses are not allocated to thernpeef stock,
the two class method does not affect our calculatfoearnings per share. We had a net loss frortireong
operations for all periods presented; accordindg,.inclusion of common stock options and warramsld be anti-
dilutive. Dilutive common stock equivalents woutttiude the dilutive effect of convertible secustieommon
stock options, warrants for convertible securitiad warrants for common stock equivalents. Potgntidutive
weighted average common stock equivalents totglpdoaimately 9,131,451, 22,149,592, and 19,741fbbthe
years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 200&atésgly. Potentially dilutive common stock equisals were
excluded from the diluted earnings per share denatoi for all periods of net loss from continuingeoations
because of their antilutive effect. Therefore, for the years ended &wber 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the weig
average shares used to calculate both basic anddlibss per share are the same.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caaditind results of operations are based on oundiah
statements which have been prepared in accordaitit@ezounting principles generally accepted inth8. The
preparation of these financial statements requiset® make estimates and judgments that affecefharted
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and exg=er@®n an ongoing basis, we evaluate these estiraate
judgments, including those described below. We basestimates on historical experience and orouarothel
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable uhdaircumstances. These estimates and assumfiiomshe
basis for making judgments about the carrying v@bfeassets and liabilities that are not readilyaapnt from other
sources. Actual results and experiences may diffgerially from these estimates. We believe thatfttiowing
accounting policies are the most critical to aid yo fully understanding and evaluating our repafiaancial
results and affect the more significant judgments estimates that we use in the preparation ofinancial
statements.

Clinical Trial Prepaid and Accrued Expenses

We record prepaid assets and accrued liabilitieger@ to clinical trials associated with contraedearch
organizations, clinical trial investigators andatlrendors based upon amounts paid and the estimateunt of
work completed on each clinical trial. The finan¢é&ams of agreements vary from vendor to vendakr raay result
in uneven payment flows. As such, if we have adedrfands exceeding our estimate of the work coraglere
record a prepaid asset. If our estimate of the workpleted exceeds the amount paid, an accruattfiab
recorded. All such costs are charged to reseamdtiavelopment expenses based on these estimatessidoates
may or may not match the actual services perforbyeithe organizations as determined by patient Bneuit levels
and related activities. We monitor patient enroltnevels and related activities to the extent fidsshrough
internal reviews, correspondence and discussiotisaur contract research organization and revieaootractual
terms. However, if we have incomplete or inaccunatermation, we may underestimate or overestinaatevity
levels associated with various clinical trials @fiwen point in time. In this event, we could ratsignificant
research and development expenses in future peribes the actual level of activities becomes knoWamdate, we
have not experienced material changes in theseass. Additionally, we do not expect material athuents to
research and development expenses to result franmels in the nature and level of clinical triaivatt and related
expenses that are currently subject to estimakiothe future, as we expand our clinical trial itiiés, we expect to
have increased levels of research and developrostd that will be subject to estimation.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development expenditures are expagssedurred, pursuant to ASC 730. Costs to license
technology to be used in our research and developthat have not reached technological feasibitgfined as
FDA approval for our current product candidatesl have no alternative future use are expensed when
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incurred. Payments to licensors that relate tatihéevement of preapproval development milestoresezorded
research and development expense when incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2005, we adopted the fair@akcognition provisions of ASC 718 using the miedif
prospective application method. We recognize tiaatgdate fair value as compensation cost of emplsy@ck-
based awards using the straight-line method oweathual vesting period, adjusted for our estimatdsrfeiture.
Typically, we grant stock options with a requisigrvice period of four years from the grant date. Ndve elected
use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to deiee the fair value of stock-based awards.

We concluded that this was the most appropriatéodaeby which to value our share-based payment
arrangements, but if any share-based payment imetrts should be granted for which the Black-Scholethod
does not meet the measurement objective as stidtteid wWSC 718, we will utilize a more appropriateethod for
valuing that instrument. However, we do not belithat any instruments granted to date and accodatachder
ASC 718 would require a method other than the Bfackoles method.

Our determination of the fair market value of sHaased payment awards on the grant date usingnoptio
valuation models requires the input of highly sehbje assumptions, including the expected pricatdly and
option life. For the calculation of expected vdigtj because we lack significant company-spedifstorical and
implied volatility information, we estimate our atility by utilizing an average of volatilities plblicly traded
companies, including our own, deemed similar tinuerms of product composition, stage of lifecycle
capitalization and scope of operations. We intencbintinue to consistently apply this process u#iigysame index
until a sufficient amount of historical informatioagarding the volatility of our own share pricebmes available.

To estimate the expected term, we utilize the “diinep” method for “plain vanilla’options as discussed witt
the Securities and Exchange Commission’s (SECe®tt of Accounting Bulletin (SAB) 107. We belighat all
factors listed within SAB 107 as pre-requisitesutlizing the simplified method are true for usdafor our share-
based payment arrangements. We intend to utilesithplified method for the foreseeable futureluntire
detailed information about exercise behavior wéllrhore widely available.

Total stock-based compensation expense, relateltl aar stock-based awards for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2007, was compristdtedbllowing:

Years Ended
December 31,
2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)

Marketing $127 $ 43 $10¢
Research and developmt 20¢ 161 26¢
General and administratiy 45¢ 307 372
Total employee sto-based compensation expel $794 $511 $75C

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilitiesgmporary differences between the financial répgrbasis
and the tax basis of its assets and liabilitiesccordance with ASC 740. We evaluate the positideraegative
evidence bearing upon the realizability of our defe tax assets on an annual basis. Significanagement
judgment is involved in determining the provisiam income taxes, deferred tax assets and lialsijited an
valuation allowance recorded against net defemg@ssets. Due to uncertainties with respect toghkzation of
our deferred tax assets due to our history of djperdosses, a valuation allowance has been eskedaliagainst our
deferred tax asset balances to reduce the neirgrglue to an amount that is more likely thantadbe realized.
As a result we have fully reserved against therdedetax asset balances. The valuation allowaneekased on our
estimates of taxable income in the jurisdictions/irich we operate and the period over which defetag assets
will be recoverable. In the event that actual
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results differ from these estimates or we adjusse¢hestimates in future periods, a change in thatian allowance
may be needed, which could materially impact onauficial position and results of operations. Ouedefl tax
assets primarily consist of net operating loss (IN€drry-forwards. At December 31, 2010 we had fadeOL
carry-forwards of approximately $97.8 million artdte NOL carry-forwards of approximately $81.0 roifl,
respectively, that are available to reduce futnoeine otherwise taxable. If not utilized, the fed®&OL carry-
forwards will expire at various dates between 2888 2030 and the state NOL carry-forwards will expait various
dates between 2020 and 2030. If it is determinatidignificant ownership changes have occurrecesiinese NOLs
were generated, we may be subject to annual liimitston the use of these NOLs under Internal Rex&uade
Section 382 (or comparable provisions of state .l&g have not yet completed a formal evaluatiowloéther our
IPO resulted in certain changes in ownership thatld/limit our ability to utilize a portion of oudOL carry-
forwards.

In the event that we were to determine that weahble to realize any of our net deferred tax agedtse future,
an adjustment to the valuation allowance woulddase net income in the period such determinaticnmasde. We
believe that the most significant uncertainty thdkimpact the determination of our valuation allance will be our
estimation of the extent and timing of future metame, if any.

We considered our income tax positions for uncetyan accordance with ASC 740. We believe our meo
tax filing positions and deductions are more likéflgn not of being sustained on audit and do niitipate any
adjustments that will result in a material changeur financial position; therefore, we have naoreled ASC 740
liabilities. We recognize accrued interest and fi@msarelated to unrecognized tax benefits as ésteexpense and
income tax expense, respectively, in our statenaaperations. Our tax years since 2003 remaifestibo
examination in Georgia, Tennessee, and on thedkldsel. We do not anticipate any material chartgesur
uncertain tax positions within the next 12 months.

Results of Operations

The following selected financial and operating daaderived from our financial statements and khbe reac
in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion andafysis of Financial Condition and Results of Opierst” and
our financial statements.

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
(In thousands except share and per sha
data)
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSE $12,58. $15,057 $43,76¢
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 4,61( 3,401 5,05¢
MARKETING EXPENSES 4,88( 752 1,25¢
OPERATING EXPENSE! 22,07: 19,21¢ 50,08:
INTEREST AND OTHER INCOME 73 37 58&
INTEREST EXPENSE (848)  (1,897) (1,519
GAIN ON EARLY EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT 1,34: — —
DECREASE (INCREASE) IN FAIR VALUE OF PREFERRED STRC
CONVERSION FEATURE 3,64¢ (23,147)) (10,459
LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATION: $(17,859) $(44,21¢) $(61,46/)

Year ended December 31, 2010 compared to the yede@ December 31, 2009

Research and development expensBgsearch and development expenses decreasegroyxiamately
$2.5 million, or 17%, to approximately $12.6 mitlidor the year ended December 31, 2010 compared to
approximately $15.1 million for the year ended Deber 31, 2009. The decrease was primarily attritiati
decreases of $3.6 million in costs related to AAMME Study, $1.1 million in technical transfer cossssociated with
establishing manufacturing capabilities with adhparty manufacturer for ILUVIEN in 2009, and $3000 related
to license fees paid to Emory University in 2008tfeo classes of NADPH oxidase inhibitors, offsgtificreases of
$2.0 million in costs to file our NDA in the U.Saéimarketing applications
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for ILUVIEN in Austria, France, Germany, Italy, Rogal, Spain, and the U.K., $410,000 in costs aasst with
contracting medical science liaisons to engage weitinal specialists in the study of ILUVIEN, andid®,000 in
costs associated with our ancillary studies. Theedese in costs for our FAME Study was primarilg ¢ decreast
of $1.6 million for our CROs, $1.1 million for clical trial site costs, $590,000 for our third parading center for
the analysis of retinal images, and $220,000 inscasmbursable to pSivida for its costs to develdgVIEN as the
FAME Study was completed in the third quarter o1@0

General and administrative expense§&eneral and administrative expenses increasegbjpsoximately
$1.2 million, or 35%, to approximately $4.6 milliéor the year ended December 31, 2010 compared to
approximately $3.4 million for the year ended Deben31, 2009. The increase was primarily attribletadp
increases of $940,000 in costs incurred after B@r in April 2010 associated with operating as dipudnmpany
including additional audit, tax and legal feesr@ased directors’ and officers’ insurance costd,lavard of
directors’ compensation, and $120,000 of noncastkstompensation incurred in connection with eviahga
financing options prior to our IPO.

Marketing expensesMarketing expenses increased by approximately S4llion or 513%, to approximately
$4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 20dfgared to approximately $0.8 million for the yeaded
December 31, 2009. The increase was primarilybaiiable to increases of $1.1 million in costs edab our
advertising agency’s development of a detailed abneg and promotional plan for ILUVIEN, $640,068
increased medical marketing to the physician comtydinrough medical publications, relationshipsiwkiey
opinion leaders, and increased presence at meatidascientific conferences, $580,000 in personostscas we
increased the number of employees in our marketgmartment, $560,000 in increased corporate conations
costs related to our post-launch message develdmnemmedia management, $500,000 of pharmacoeconomi
research to evaluate the pricing of ILUVIEN in eS., Canada and Europe, and $490,000 in costeddia
consulting fees incurred to develop our manageketatrategy.

Interest and other incomelnterest and other income increased by approxin®36,000, or 97%, to
approximately $73,000 for the year ended DecembgeP@10 compared to approximately $37,000 for ey
ended December 31, 2009. The increase was dugherhtash balances and investments as a reshk pfoceeds
received from our IPO in April 2010.

Interest expense Interest expense decreased by approximatelyrfillibn, or 58%, to approximately
$0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 20dfgared to approximately $1.9 million for the yeaded
December 31, 2009. The decrease was primarilyoattble to a decrease of $1.3 million of interesbar
$15.0 million promissory note to pSivida, offsetday increase of $230,000 of interest expense agsdaoivith our
$6.3 million notes payable to Silicon Valley BarmdaMidCap Financial LLP.

Decrease (increase) in fair value of preferred &toonversion feature.During the year ended December 31,
2010, we recognized a gain of approximately $3.Mianirelated to the decrease in the fair valu¢hef conversion
feature of our preferred stock. During the yeareshBecember 31, 2009, we recognized a loss of ajppately
$23.1 million related to the increase in the faitue of the conversion feature of our preferredist@he changes in
fair values were primarily due to changes in thémested fair value of our common stock.

Income from discontinued operation$Ve recognized income from discontinued operatauring the year
ended December 31, 2010 of $4.0 million for a paytmee received from Bausch & Lomb. This payment was
related to the exercise by Bausch & Lomb of its@mpto extend by two years the period during whiaghay
continue to develop an allergy product acquiredhfigs in 2006. We did not have any income or lossfr
discontinued operations for the year ended Deceibe2009.

Year ended December 31, 2009 compared to the yeded December 31, 2008

Research and development expensBgsearch and development expenses decreasegroyxiamately
$28.7 million, or 66%, to approximately $15.1 natii for the year ended December 31, 2009 compared to
approximately $43.8 million for the year ended Dmber 31, 2008. The decrease was principally ataitde
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to the restructuring of our agreement with pSiviua, which resulted in incremental expenses of.&28illion in
the year ended December 31, 2008 that were notrggtin the year ended December 31, 2009. The $8Ii8n
cost in 2008 was comprised of a $12.0 million gaayment, a $15.0 million promissory note issuedSwida, and
the forgiveness of $2.8 million of net outstandirgeivables due from pSivida related to the agreenvie
continued to incur costs in 2009 with respect toFPAME Study, which completed enrollment in OctoB807, and
preparations for its anticipated registration with FDA. We incurred increased costs in 2009 rdledeour FAME
Study of $620,000 for our CRO costs as we prepimeand completed the lock of our FAME Study datsband
month 24 readout in the fourth quarter of 2009 $4@0,000 in technology transfer costs associatéuegtablishin
manufacturing capabilities with a third-party maamtfirer for ILUVIEN. These amounts were offset legiitases of
$1.2 million in FAME Study trial site costs, $310for our reading center to evaluate picturesasheenrollee’s
retina, and $240,000 for our PK Study due to themetion of enrollment and fewer patient visits pesnth as the
trial progressed. Additionally, total developmeasts related to ILUVIEN increased by $1.3 milliomecto the
absence of cost sharing reimbursements from pSasdaresult of the restructuring of our agreenmeMarch 200¢
We also decreased spending on the evaluation MARPH oxidase inhibitors obtained from Emory Unisigy anc
other development pipeline candidates by $270,Q@0td the restricted capital markets in 2009 anatdter to focu
our resources on completing the development of ILEN/ but incurred $300,000 in initial license fér<2009 to
enter into these agreements with Emory University.

General and administrative expense&eneral and administrative expenses decreasagdypximately
$1.7 million, or 33%, to approximately $3.4 milliéor the year ended December 31, 2009 compared to
approximately $5.1 million for the year ended Debenm31, 2008. The decrease was primarily attridatth
$1.3 million incurred in preparation for the arpiated 2008 initial public offering of our commonwdit that was
expensed in the year ended December 31, 2008 whaletgrmined that an initial public offering wadikely in the
then near term and $380,000 in legal fees assdordth the restructuring of our agreement with p&y the
evaluation of intellectual property regarding oUUVIEN inserter system and the evaluation of certtrategic
options.

Marketing expensesMarketing expenses decreased by approximatel@,$60, or 40%, to approximately
$750,000 for the year ended December 31, 2009 cadpa approximately $1.3 million for the year edde
December 31, 2008. The decrease was primarilypatéble to $230,000 in decreased spending on teackhener:
corporate awareness due to the restricted capétedets in 2009 and in order to focus our resouocesompleting
the development of ILUVIEN, and $210,000 incurredthe initiation of pricing studies of the U.S.daBuropean
markets for ILUVIEN during the year ended DecemRkr2008 that were not incurred in the year ended
December 31, 2009.

Interest and other incomelnterest income decreased by approximately $880,6r 94%, to approximately
$40,000 for the year ended December 31, 2009 cadparapproximately $590,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2008. The decrease in interest int®prémarily attributable to a decrease in our agercash
balance from $25.5 million during the year endedédeber 31, 2008 to $11.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2009, combined with a substantial drape rates of return available on our money raadccounts
from approximately 2.3% during the year ended Ddimm31, 2008 to 0.3% for the year ended Decemhe2(B19.

Interest expense.nterest expense increased by approximately $880or 25%, to approximately $1.9 milli
for the year ended December 31, 2009 comparedpimzimately $1.5 million for the year ended Decemdik,
2008. Our interest expense is associated with dai0million note payable to pSivida issued in Ma2008, and
the increase is due to the note payable beingamdstig for the full year ended December 31, 2008pp®sed to
being outstanding for nine months in 2008.

Decrease (increase) in fair value of preferred ktoonversion feature.For the year ended December 31, 2009
we recognized an expense of approximately $23.llomitelated to the increase in the fair valuehaf tonversion
feature of our preferred stock. The increase waihatable to an increase in the estimated fain@af our common
stock from $3.71 at December 31, 2008 to $8.53eatember 31, 2009 and increased volatility in theketavalues
of our peer group.
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Income from discontinued operation§Ve did not have any income (loss) from discorgthoperations for
either of the year ended December 31, 2008 or DeeeBil, 2009 due to the sale of our dry eye protuct
Bausch & Lomb in July 2007.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

To date we have incurred recurring losses, negatigl flow from operations, and have accumulataefiait
of $188.9 million from our inception through Deceen!31, 2010. Prior to our IPO in April 2010, we fienl our
operations through the private placement of comsiook, preferred stock, warrants and convertible,des well as
by the sale of certain assets of the non-presorigiusiness in which we were previously engaged.

On April 21, 2010, our Registration Statement om#8-1 (as amended) was declared effective by H@ f6r
our IPO, pursuant to which we sold 6,550,000 shaef@sir common stock at a public offering price$dfl.00 per
share. We received net proceeds of approximate3ydd@illion from this transaction, after deductimgderwriting
discounts and commissions. In October 2010, welrddea $32.5 million senior secured credit faci(iBredit
Facility) to help fund our working capital requirents. The Credit Facility consists of a $20.0 miilrevolving line
of credit and a $12.5 million term loan. The lersleave advanced $6.25 million under the term loahraay
advance the remaining $6.25 million following FDppeoval of ILUVIEN, but no later than July 31, 2013iven
the status of the FDA's review of the ILUVIEN NDAis unlikely that FDA approval would occur pritor July 31,
2011. We are in discussions with the lenders torahtiee terms of the Credit Facility to, among otiirémgs, extend
the availability of the term loan. However, there no assurances that the Credit Facility will beeaded. We may
draw on the revolving line of credit against eligibdomestic accounts receivable, as defined, sulese to the
launch of ILUVIEN. To secure the repayment of anyoaints borrowed under the Term Loan Agreement, we
granted to the Lenders a first priority securitienest in all of our assets, other than our inttlial property,
provided that, for any date during which the naesoutstanding, our unrestricted balance shebtaras cash
equivalents plus the excess available under thea T@an Agreement is less than the product of sies the
monthly cash burn amount. In the event we fail &eftrthis financial condition, a curable lien wid bnposed on ot
intellectual property. Should such a lien eventetplace, the lien would remain in force until sulelte that the
Company’s unrestricted cash and cash equivaleasstpe excess available under the Term Loan Agreewes
equal to or greater than twelve times the montashdourn amount. We also agreed not to pledgeherwise
encumber our intellectual property assets. Addéilynwe must seek the lenders’ approval priot® payment of
any cash dividends. As of December 31, 2010, wedpadoximately $28.5 million in cash and cash egjants and
$26.3 million of investments. We believe that wedaufficient funds available to fund our operasidinrough the
projected commercialization of ILUVIEN and the egfel generation of revenue in late 2011. The
commercialization of ILUVIEN is dependent upon apml by the FDA, however, and we cannot be sure tha
ILUVIEN will be approved by the FDA or that, if appved, future sales of ILUVIEN will generate enouglrenue
to fund the Company’s operations beyond its comrakzation. Due to the uncertainty around FDA apado
management cannot be certain that we will not raeketitional funds for the commercialization of ILUBMN. If
ILUVIEN is not approved, or if approved, does nehgrate sufficient revenue, we may adjust our comialeplans
so that we can continue to operate with our exastimsh resources or seek to raise additional fingnc

In the event additional financing is needed or mesiwe may seek to fund our operations througtséhe of
equity securities, strategic collaboration agreemsand debt financing. We cannot be sure that iathdit financing
from any of these sources will be available wheedeel or that, if available, the additional finamcisill be
obtained on terms favorable to us or our stockhsldepecially in light of the current difficult fimcial environmer
If we raise additional funds by issuing equity s@ts, substantial dilution to existing stockhatslevould likely
result and the terms of any new equity securitiag hrave a preference over our common stock. Iftiegrgt to
raise additional funds through strategic collaboragreements and debt financing, we may not beessful in
obtaining collaboration agreements, or in receivitiestone or royalty payments under those agretsnenthe
terms of the debt may involve
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significant cash payment obligations as well aoants and specific financial ratios that may ietstur ability to
commercialize our product candidates or operatéasiness.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2010, usesthin our continuing operations of $22.1 milleas
primarily due to our net loss from continuing ofiemas of $17.9 million increased by n@ash gains of $3.6 millic
related to the change in fair value of our preféstock conversion feature and $1.3 million asgediavith the
repayment of our $15.0 million promissory note &ivyida in April 2010, offset by nonash charges of $960,000
stock compensation expense, and $190,000 for deficecand amortization expense. Further increasimget
cash used in continuing operations was an incriegzepaid and other current assets of $570,06&bHy an
increase in accounts payable, accrued liabilitteba@ther current liabilities of $130,000. The irase in prepaid and
other current assets was primarily due to increat8240,000 in cash receivable for the governnse@uialifying
Therapeutic Discovery Project Tax Credit, $210,bDibiterest receivable on our investments offsealgduction ¢
$110,000 of prepaid costs related to our FAME arddllary clinical studies as work on these studiestinued. The
increase in accounts payable, accrued expensestiadcurrent liabilities was primarily due to ireses of
$730,000 of amounts payable to providers of cogorammunications and medical marketing servicepffe-
launch activities, and $450,000 of accrued bonase2010 employee bonuses were not paid until Ja20dr
offset by a decrease of $1.1 million payable toitlvestigators in our FAME Study and ancillary atad studies.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2009, usesthin our continuing operations of $17.5 milleas
primarily due to our net loss from continuing opima of $44.2 million offset by non-cash chargeduwling
$23.1 million related to the change in fair valdeor preferred stock conversion feature, $1.1liotilin
depreciation and amortization expense associatethply with equipment used for the manufactureof
ILUVIEN registration batches, $550,000 in stock gamsation and other expense and $300,000 in ndn-cas
research and development expense paid to Emoryelsiiy with our common stock as an initial licefise for two
classes of NADPH oxidase inhibitors. Further ofisgtour net losses from continuing operations wececases in
accounts payable, accrued liabilities and otherecuiiabilities of $890,000 and other long-terablilities of
$150,000, and a decrease in prepaid expenses lagdcotrent assets of $590,000. Accounts payabbeyad
liabilities and other current liabilities increasgde to increases of $1.1 million in amounts pagablour clinical
trial sites and $550,000 in interest accrued on$diar.0 million promissory note to pSivida, paryadiffset by
decreases of $420,000 in professional fees paymlslennection with the preparation for an initiabic offering of
our common stock in 2008 and $390,000 in amounyalga to one of our third party manufacturers. Foeease in
other long term liabilities is due to interest lipaccrued on our promissory note to pSivida. Prepapenses and
other current assets decreased primarily due tpribgression of the technology transfer of ILUVIBNd the
utilization of prepayments to our third party masttirer.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, our cashimnsetinuing operations of $32.2 million was pairity
due to our net loss from continuing operations&f.$ million offset by non-cash charges includingramissory
note payable of $15.0 million issued to pSivida #mlforgiveness of $2.8 million of net receivahde® from
pSivida in connection with the amendment of oueagrent, $10.5 million related to the change invalue of our
preferred stock conversion feature, $750,000 iokst@mpensation and other expense, and $240,08€pireciation
and amortization. An increase of $1.2 million irepaid and other current assets was offset by iseseaf $700,000
accounts payable, accrued expenses and other tliaiglities and $540,000 in other long-term likties. The
increase in prepaid expenses and other currertsagas due primarily to $1.1 million in advance®tw third party
manufacturers for the technology transfer of ILUMIEnd an $880,000 increase in our receivable cima fSivida
prior to the renegotiation of our agreement, offsetiecreases in prepayments of $460,000 to cesfiainal trial
sites and $360,000 to our contract research orgtois as our FAME Study progressed. Accounts gayabcruec
expenses and other current liabilities increasedanily due to $440,000 to our CROs as our FAMEdStu
continued, $400,000 related to the technology fearaf ILUVIEN and $380,000 associated with preparafor an
initial public offering of our common stock, offsey decreases of $440,000 in amounts payable tolimical trial
sites and $150,000 for our animal toxicology angrddation studies. The increase in other long ternilities is
due to interest being accrued on our promissorg topSivida.
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Net cash used in the investing activities of ourttming and discontinued operations in the yeaded
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)
Continuing Operation $(26,46() $(65) $(640)
Discontinued Operatior 4,00( — —
Total $(22,46() $(65) $(640

For the year ended December 31, 2010 net cashiused investing activities of our continuing opgoas was
$26.5 million, which was primarily due to the puasies of $26.4 million of investments, net of maiesi and
$130,000 of computer equipment and software tditate the filing of our NDA for ILUVIEN and for wsby new
employees. Net cash provided in our discontinuestatipns was $4.0 million, which was due to thereise by
Bausch & Lomb of its option to extend by two ye#ims period during which it may continue to devedopallergy
product acquired from us in 2006.

For the years ended December 31, 2009, and 20Q&sketused in the investing activities of our amunitig
operations was attributable to purchases of prg@ertl equipment.

For the year ended December 31, 2010 net cashdebty our financing activities was $68.2 millievhich
was due primarily to the receipt of net proceed$6d.5 million, after underwriting discounts andraissions,
from the sale of common stock in our IPO and ouplegee stock purchase program, net proceeds o0$tillion
from the exercise of warrants to purchase sharesi§eries C-1 preferred stock, proceeds of $@lRBmfrom the
issuance of our notes payable to Silicon ValleykBand MidCap Financial LLP, and $710,000 from tkereise of
options and warrants to purchase shares of our constock offset by the payment of $1.9 million ofts related
to our IPO and the repayment of our $15.0 millioorpissory note to pSivida.

For the year ended December 31, 2009 net cashdetiy our financing activities was $4.6 millioniat
were primarily due to net proceeds of $4.9 millfeneived from the issuance of our Series C-1 predestock and
warrants for our Series C-1 preferred stock.

For the year ended December 31, 2008 net cashdaty our financing activities was $29.8 milliohish
was provided primarily by net proceeds from theasge of our Series C preferred stock.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following table summarizes our contractual @dions and commitments as of December 31, 2010:

Payments Due by Future Perioc

Less thar
Total 1 Year 1— 3 Years 3—5 Years 5+ Years
(In thousands)
Note payable $6,25C $ 1,157 509: $ — $ —
Operating leas 262 262 — — —
Capital lease 29 11 18 — —
Total $6,541 $ 1,43( 5111 § — $ —

The following amounts have not been included int#ide above as the timing of the payments is uairer

« In connection with our March 2008 agreemenhwiSivida we are obligated to make a milestoneray of
$25.0 million upon FDA approval of ILUVIEN

« In connection with our July 2009 license and opagneement with Emory University for the fulvenasd of
NADPH oxidase inhibitors, we are required to makeual minimum royalty payments in the first throt
the fourth calendar years following regulatory agwad of the product in a major mark
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country (i.e., the U.S., Japan, China, Indiaror Buropean country) in the amount of $250,000 0$300,

$1.0 million and $2.5 million, respectively, and $nillion for each subsequent year during the tefrour
agreement. We will also be required to make paysehtip to $5.8 million depending upon which reguig
milestones we achieve. If we do not make any nilespayments to Emory University under our agreémen
prior to the third anniversary of the effectivealaf the agreement, then we will be required to anory
University annual license maintenance fees ranfyjorg $500,000 to $2.0 million (depending upon when
such payment is made) until a milestone paymemiaide under the agreement. As an upfront licenstofee
the license granted by Emory University to us, sgied to Emory University (and its inventors) tatber

of shares of our common stock with a fair markéti@aqual to $150,000 on the date of issuance.af®, do
other payments have been made to Emory Universitpinnection with this license agreem

¢ In connection with our August 2009 license aption agreement with Emory University for the
triphenylmethane class of NADPH oxidase inhibitove,are required to make annual minimum royalty
payments in the first through the fourth calendzarg following regulatory approval of the productimajol
market country (i.e., the U.S., Japan, China, lmdiany European country) in the amount of $250,000
$500,000, $1.0 million and $2.5 million, respeclivend an annual minimum royalty payment of
$2.5 million for each subsequent year during thmtef our agreement. We will also be required tkena
payments of up to $5.9 million depending upon whiulatory milestones we achieve. If we do notenak
any milestone payments to Emory University underagreement prior to the third anniversary of the
effective date of the agreement, then we will lipineed to pay Emory University annual license memance
fees ranging from $500,000 to $2.0 million (depegdipon when such payment is made) until a mileston
payment is made under the agreement. As an ugfcentse fee for the license granted by Emory Ursiipgr
to us, in the fourth quarter of 2009 we issuednB University (and its inventors) that numbesbéres of
our common stock with a fair market value equa$160,000 on the date of issuance. To date, no other
payments have been made to Emory University in eciion with this license agreeme

« In connection with our November 2007 agreemtit Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co., Ltd. (Dainippo
we will be required to make a payment in the amaii$200,000 to Dainippon within 30 days followitige
first regulatory approval of a licensed producthia U.S. by the FDA

< In January 2006, we entered into an agreemithta contract research organization for clinizatl data
management services to be performed in connectitthour FAME Study clinical sites in the U.S., Cdaa
and Europe. In accordance with the terms of theeagent, we will incur approximately $16.9 millioh o
expenses with the contract research organizatiougfn 2011. Through December 31, 2010 we incurred
$16.2 million of expense associated with this agremst.

* In July 2006, we entered into an agreemertt witontract research organization for clinicaVieess to be
performed in connection with our FAME Study clifisées in India. In accordance with the termshaf t
agreement, we will incur approximately $1.8 milliohexpenses with the contract research organizatio
through 2011. Through December 31, 2010 we incupded million of expense associated with this
agreement

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any relationships with unconsolidi&tetities or financial partnerships, such as iestibften
referred to as structured finance or special pwgwgities, that would have been established fptirpose of
facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements (asttran is defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of RegutatiS-K) or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes. As sugh,are not exposed to any financing, liquidity, kedror credit
risk that could arise if we had engaged in thopesyof relationships. We enter into guaranteelkerotdinary cours
of business related to the guarantee of our owfopeance and the performance of our subsidiaries.

75




Table of Contents

New Accounting Pronouncement:

From time to time, new accounting pronouncemergssaued by the Financial Accounting Standards ®aar
FASB, or other standard setting bodies that arg@tedioby us as of the specified effective date. Emietherwise
discussed, we believe that the impact of recerflyed standards that are not yet effective willaee a material
impact on our financial position or results of cgt@ns upon adoption.

ITEM 7A QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk related to changederest rates. As of December 31, 2010, we had
approximately $28.5 million in cash and cash edeivis and $26.3 million in investments. Our intéfesome is
exposed to market risk primarily due to changebiéngeneral level of U.S. interest rates, partityllaecause our
investments are in short-term securities. Due ¢ostiort-term duration of our investment portfoli@ahe low risk
profile of our investments, an immediate 10% chaingeterest rates would not have a material eféecthe fair
market value of our portfolio. Accordingly, we wduhot expect our operating results or cash flowsetaffected to
any significant degree by the effect of a suddeange in market interest rates on our securitiedqiar.

Our interest expense is exposed to market riskgriiyndue to the variability of interest on our odving loan
agreement which is calculated as the prime rate 2I50% (with a rate floor of 6.50%). As of Decem8g, 2010,
we have not borrowed any funds available underétielving loan agreement.

We contract for the conduct of some of our clinitglls and other research and development a&svitiith
contract research organizations and investigatisites in the U.S., Europe and India. We may béestio
exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange ratemnnection with these agreements. We do notéedg foreign
currency exposures. We have not used derivatianéial instruments for speculation or trading psgs

ITEM 8 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements and related financiabstant schedules required to be filed are indexeobhge 81
and are incorporated herein.

ITEM9 CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURE:!

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Cligécutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure otsiind procedures as of December 31, 2010. The"tisclosure
controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules Ea)land 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, meamisats and
other procedures of a company that are designeddore that information required to be disclosed bpmpany in
the reports that it files or submits under the Exaje Act is recorded, processed, summarized adteglp within
the time periods specified in the SEC'’s rules amthk. Disclosure controls and procedures includtout
limitation, controls and procedures designed taenthat information required to be disclosed lmpampany in the
reports that it files or submits under the Exchafigeis accumulated and communicated to the confpany
management, including its principal executive aridgipal financial officers, as appropriate to alltimely
decisions regarding required disclosure. Managemesoignizes that any controls and procedures, ritenfaow
well designed and operated, can provide only residerassurance of achieving their objectives anthigement
necessarily applies its judgment in evaluatingabstbenefit relationship of possible controls and pchoes. Base
on the evaluation of our disclosure controls aratedures as of December 31, 2010, our Chief Execificer
and Chief Financial
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Officer concluded that, as of such date, our dmale controls and procedures were effective atedsonable
assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

The SEC, as required by Section 404 of the Sarb@nésy Act, adopted rules requiring companies fhat
reports with the SEC to include a management raosuch company’s internal control over finanoggdorting in
its annual report. In addition, our independentsteged public accounting firm may be requiredttest to our
internal control over financial reporting. This oepon Form 10-K does not include a report of mamagnt’s
assessment regarding internal control over findmef@orting or an attestation report of our indegent registered
public accounting firm due to a transition perictiablished by SEC rules applicable to newly putdimpanies.
Management will be required to provide an assestofahe effectiveness of our internal control ofinancial
reporting as of December 31, 2011. We believe Wiehave adequate resources and expertise, botmaitand
external, in place to meet this requirement. Howgthere is no guarantee that our efforts will tesu
managemens ability to conclude, or, if required, our indedent registered public accounting firm to attesit bu
internal control over financial reporting is effeet as of December 31, 2011.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There has been no change in our internal contred fimancial reporting (as defined in Rules 13af1aid
15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the fourthager of 2010 that has materially affected, oemsonably likely
to materially affect, our internal control overdincial reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Control systems, no matter how well conceived guetated, are designed to provide a reasonabledban
absolute, level of assurance that the objectivésetontrol system are met. Further, the designauntrol system
must reflect the fact that there are resource caing$, and the benefits of controls must be carsid relative to
their costs. Because of the inherent limitationalirtontrol systems, no evaluation of controls pesvide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instanciauwd, if any, have been detected. Because ofitierént limitation
in any control system, misstatements due to emréraod may occur and not be detected.

ITEM 9B Other Information

None.

PART IlI

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNXCE

Information required under this item will be comtadl in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEGhivi 120 days after the end of the fiscal year dridecember 3
2010, under the captions “Election of Directorgiécutive Officers,” “Corporate Governance”, aneét8on 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” andnisarporated herein by reference pursuant to General
Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K.

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required under this item will be comtadl in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEGhii 120 days after the end of the fiscal year dridecember 3
2010, under the captions “Corporate Governance™amdcutive Compensation,” and is incorporated hmeby
reference pursuant to General Instruction G(3)aarF10-K, except that information required by Ité6v(e)(5) of
Regulation S-K will be deemed furnished in thisRdr0-K and will not be
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deemed incorporated by reference into any filingarrthe Securities Act of 1933 or the Securitiestaxge Act of
1934, except to the extent that we specificallypiporate it by reference into such filing.

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Except for the information set forth below, theamhation required under this item will be contaimethe
Company'’s Proxy Statement for the Annual MeetinGtafckholders to be filed with the SEC within 1244 after
the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 20ddkr the caption “Security Ownership by Certagm&ficial
Owners and Management” and is incorporated herenefierence pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to
Form 10-K.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of Ded®er 31, 2010, with respect to shares of our comstack
that may be issued, subject to certain vestingireauents, under our existing equity compensati@amg| including
our 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (“2010 Plan”), 2@B&uity Incentive Plan (2005 Plan"2004 Equity Incentive Ple
(“2004 Plan”) and our 2010 Employee Stock Purclizlae (“ESPP”).

A B C
Number of Securities
Remaining Available

Number of Securities for Future Issuance
to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average Under Equity Compensation
Exercise of Exercise Price of Plans (Excluding
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Securities Reflected ir
Plan Category Warrants, and Rights Warrants, and Rights Column (A))

Equity compensation plans approved

security holder: 2,829,40(1) $ 3.9C 1,888,71/(2)
Equity compensation plans not appro

by security holder — — —

Total 2,829,40! $ 3.9C 1,888, 71.

(1) Of these shares, 570,150 were subject to opti@rsdhtstanding under the 2010 Plan, 1,802,080 sudrgect to
options then outstanding under the 2005 Plan aBg736 were subject to options then outstanding utie
2004 Plan

(2) Represents 1,402,536 shares of common stock aleaftatissuance under our 2010 Plan and 486,1 7@ sl
common stock available for issuance under our ESIBRshares are available for future issuance utiee2005
Plan or 2004 Plan. In addition, our 2010 Plan piesifor annual increases in the number of shaitahle for
issuance thereunder on the first day of each figeat equal to the least of: (1) 2,000,000 shafesiocommon
stock; (2) 4% of the shares of common stock outBienat that time; and (3) such other amount asoard of
directors may determine. On January 1, 2011, aitiedl 1,250,238 shares became available for éutur
issuance under our 2010 Plan in accordance witharitheal increase. In addition, our ESPP providearaual
increases in the number of shares available faaisse thereunder equal to such number of sharessay to
restore the number of shares reserved thereund®4td22 shares of our common stock. As such, onaig 1,
2011, an additional 8,246 shares became availabfeiure issuance under our ESPP. These additehraaks
from the annual increase under the 2010 Plan an&8PP are not included in the table ab

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, ANCDIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Information required under this item will be comtadl in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEGhivi 120 days after the end of the fiscal year dnde
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December 31, 2010, under the caption “CorporateeBm@mnce” and is incorporated herein by referencsyaunt to
General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K.
ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required under this item will be comiadl in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEGhii 120 days after the end of the fiscal year dridecember 3
2010, under the caption “Ratification of Selectafrindependent Registered Public Accounting Firmd &
incorporated herein by reference pursuant to Géhestruction G(3) to Form 10-K.

PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULES

The consolidated financial statements filed as pftthis annual report on Form 10-K are listed armttbxed at
page 81. Certain schedules are omitted becauseatbaot applicable, or not required, or becausedhuired
information is included in the consolidated finaaldtatements or notes thereto.

The Exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immediat@receding the Exhibits are filed as part of tiswual repol
on Form 10-K.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 and) i (the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the itegig has
duly caused this annual report on Form 10-K toigeesi on its behalf by the undersigned, thereuntp d
authorized, in Alpharetta, Georgia, on March 25,20

ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

By: /s/ C. DaNIEL MYERS
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securitiesof&034, this annual report on Form 10-K has bégmes
below by the following persons on behalf of theisgignt and in the capacities and on the datesanel.

Signature Title Date
/sl C. Daniel Myers President, Chief Executive Officer and  March 25, 201
C. Daniel Myers Director (Principal Executive Officer)
/sl Richard S. Eiswirth, Jr. Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financi  March 25, 201
Richard S. Eiswirth, J Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Philip R. Tracy Chairman of the Board of Directors March 25, 201
Philip R. Tracy
/sl Mark J. Brooks Director March 25, 201
Mark J. Brooks
/sl Brian K. Halak, Ph.D Director March 25, 201

Brian K. Halak, Ph.C

/s/ Anders D. Hove, M.D. Director March 25, 201
Anders D. Hove, M.D

/sl Peter J. Pizzo, Il Director March 25, 201
Peter J. Pizzo, I

/sl Calvin W. Roberts, M.D. Director March 25, 201
Calvin W. Roberts, M.D

/sl Bryce Youngren Director March 25, 201
Bryce Youngrer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Alimera Sciences, Inc.
Alpharetta, Georgia

We have audited the accompanying balance sheétinoéra Sciences, Inc. (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related staterofoperations, changes in stockholders’ eqdigficit), and
cash flows for each of the three years in the peginded December 31, 2010. These financial statsnaes the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these fiah
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighargio
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement. An audit includes consideratioimtgrnal contra
over financial reporting as a basis for designindiaprocedures that are appropriate in the cir¢cantes, but not fi
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effentiss of the Company’s internal control over faialhreporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An autlibancludes examining, on a test basis, evidenpparting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statemastessing the accounting principles used andfisaymt
estimates made by management, as well as evalubh@rmyerall financial statement presentation. \&lkeke that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opini

In our opinion, such financial statements presainlyf, in all material respects, the financial gimsi of the
Company as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, ancudts of its operations and its cash flows foheafcthe three
years in the period ended December 31, 2010 inocaniy with accounting principles generally accebiie the
United States of America.

As described in Note 4, the accompanying finarstiaiements have been prepared assuming the Comjiany
continue as a going concern. The Company’s reaumét losses, negative cash flow from operatioosmulated
deficit, and current lack of a commercial prodwaise substantial doubt about its ability to corgims a going
concern. Management'’s plans concerning these materalso discussed in Note 4. The financial staiés do not
include any adjustments that might result fromdbt&ome of this uncertainty.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 25, 2011
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ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND 2009

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalel
Investment:
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Deferred financing cos

Total current asse
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT— at cost less accumulated deprecia
TOTAL ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expenses (Note
Outsourced services payal
Notes payable (Note !
Capital lease obligatior

Total current liabilities
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Notes payable, net of discolr— less current portion (Note
Fair value of preferred stock conversion fea
Other lon¢-term liabilities
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 1C
PREFERRED STOCK
Series A preferred stock, $.01 par value — no shan¢horized, issued, and outstanding at
December 31, 2010 and 6,624,866 shares authonmkf,624,844 shares issued, and
outstanding at December 31, 2009; liquidation peafee of $37,019 at December 31, 2
Series B preferred stock, $.01 par ve— no shares authorized, issued, and outstandi
December 31, 2010 and 7,147,912 shares authonmwed, 447,894 shares issued, and
outstanding at December 31, 2009; liquidation pefee of $41,057 at December 31, 2!
Series C preferred stock, $.01 par value — no shawthorized, issued, and outstanding at
December 31, 2010 and 5,807,131 shares authonwe8,807,112 shares issued and outstal
at December 31, 2009; liquidation preference of, 3% at December 31, 20
Series C-1 preferred stock, $.01 par value — neoeshauthorized, issued, and outstanding at
December 31, 2010 and 2,903,565 shares authonmk€6y,845 shares issued and outstand
at December 31, 2009; liquidation preference 0148 ,at December 31, 20
Preferred stock, $.01 par value — 10,000,000 stear#wrized and no shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2010 and 2
STOCKHOLDER¢ DEFICIT:

December 31

2010

2009

(In thousands, except pe
share data)

Common stock, $.01 par value — 100,000,000 shareeazed and 31,255,953 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2010 and 29,411,764shathorized and 1,598,571 shares issued

and outstanding at December 31, 2
Additional paic-in capital
Series (-1 preferred stock warran
Common stock warran
Accumulated defici

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERY EQUITY (DEFICIT)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERSE' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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$ 2851c $ 4,856
26,33( —
1,07¢ 634

272 81t
56,19t 6,307
22C 254

$ 5641: $ 6,561

$ 1,677 $ 1,75¢
2,731 3,31¢

841 1,157
1,157 4,50(
11 6
6,417 10,73¢
4,767 10,50(
— 36,70:
18 70€
— 36,461
— 40,61
— 33,45;
— 2,85:
31z 54
233,33 4,83¢
— 1,472
41F 57

(188,85)  (171,89)
4521  (165,47)

$ 5641- $ 6,561




Table of Contents

ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2009, AND 208

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
(In thousands except share and per share data)

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSE $ 12,58. $ 15,051 $ 43,76¢
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 4,61( 3,401 5,05¢
MARKETING EXPENSES 4,88( 752 1,25¢
OPERATING EXPENSE! 22,07: 19,21¢ 50,081
INTEREST AND OTHER INCOME 73 37 58t
INTEREST EXPENSE (84¢€) (1,897 (1,519
GAIN ON EARLY EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT (NOTE 7 1,34: — —
DECREASE (INCREASE) IN FAIR VALUE OF PREFERRED STRC

CONVERSION FEATURE 3,644 (23,147 (10,459
LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATION: (17,859 (44,219 (61,469
INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (NOTE « 4,00( — —
NET LOSS (13,859 (44,219 (61,464
BENEFICIAL CONVERSION FEATURE OF PREFERRED STOCK

(NOTE 11) — (355) —
PREFERRED STOCK ACCRETIO (466) (629) (71€)
PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDEND:! (2,636 (7,225) (6,579
NET LOSS APPLICABLE TO COMMON SHAREHOLDER $ (16,969 $ (52,42) $ (68,759
NET LOSS PER SHARE APPLICABLE TO COMMO

SHAREHOLDERS— Basic and dilute: $ (0.77) $ (3455 $ (45.52)
WEIGHTED — AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING — Basic and

diluted 22,167,87 1,517,36! 1,510,49I

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFI CIT)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2009, AND 208

BALANCE — December 31, 20C
Preferred stock accretion and dividel
Repurchase and retirement of common s
Stock compensation exper
Exercise of warrant
Net loss

BALANCE — December 31, 20C

Redeemable preferred stock accretion and divid

Issuance of common sto

Exercise of stock optior

Exercise of common stock warrai
Retirement of common stock warra
Issuance oseries (-1 preferred stock warran

Accretion of series C-1 preferred stock benefic@iversion

feature (Note 11
Stock compensation exper
Net loss

BALANCE — December 31, 20C

Redeemable preferred stock accretion and divid

Issuance of common sto

Issuance of common warrants (Note
Exercise of stock optior

Exercise of common stock warral

Exercise o'series (-1 preferred stock warran
IPO costs

Elimination of preferred stock conversion featupem

conversion of preferred stock to common stock (Nditg

Stock compensation exper
Net loss

BALANCE — December 31, 201

Additional Series (-1
Common Stock Paid-In  Preferred Common Accumulated
Shares Amount  Capital Warrants Warrants Deficit Total
(In thousands except share date

1,516,380 $ 52 $ 2861 $ — 3 58 $ (50,71%) $ (47,739
— — — — — (7,29)) (7,29))
(27,74¢) (D) (149) — — — (150)
— — 75C — — 75C
1,47(C — 6 — — — 6
— — — — — (61,464 (61,469
1,490,11: 51 3,47¢ — 58 (119,47() (115,88)
— — — — — (7,84%) (7,84%)
92,35! 3 45¢ — — — 461
3,86( — 6 — — — 6
12,24 — 31 — — — 31
— — 1 — 1) — —
— — — 1,472 — — 1,472
— — 35E — — (355) —
— — 511 — — — 511
— — — — — (44,218 (44,219
1,598,57. 54 4,83¢ 1,47 57 (171,89)) (165,477
— — — — — (3,109 (3,109
29,421,94 25€ 192,70 — — — 192,96
— — — — 36€ — 36¢€
44,49¢ 1 93 — — — 94
190,94: 2 61€ — 8) — 612
— — — (1,477) — — (1,472)
— — (2,2872) — — — (2,2872)
— — 36,52¢ — — — 36,52¢
— — 83¢ — — — 83¢
— — — — — (13,859 _ (13,859
31,255,995 $ 31: $233,33( $ — $ 41t $ (188,85) $ 45,210

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2009, AND 208

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Income from discontinued operations (Note
Change in fair value of preferred stock converseature
Gain from early extinguishment of de
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stock compensation expense and o
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Unrealized investment lo!
Noncash research and development expense (Notes &)
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expenses and other current liabili
Other lon¢-term asset
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities of continopgrations
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activititdiscontinued operatiot
Net cash used in operating activit
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of investmer
Proceeds from maturities of investme
Purchases of property and equipm
Net cash used in investing activities of continuipgrations
Net cash provided by investing activities of disthomed operations (Note :
Net cash used in investing activiti
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of Series C preferred s— net
Proceeds from sale Series (-1 preferred stocl— net
Proceeds from exercise of stock optit
Repurchase of common st
Proceeds from exercise of common stock warr
Proceeds from sale of common st
Payment of common stock offering co
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable (Nc
Payment of debt issuance cc
Repayment of pSivida note payable (Not¢
Payments on capital lease obligati
Net cash provided by financing activiti
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASI
CASH— Beginning of periot
CASH— End of perioc

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES
Cash paid for intere:

Supplemental schedule of noncash investing andi¢ing activities
Note payable issued in conjunction with amendmepSivida agreement (Note

Reclassification of fair value of preferred stocieersion feature to additional p-in capital
IPO issuance costs charged to eq

Notes payable issuance costs charged to equitye ()

Property and equipment acquired under capital &

Common stock issued for research and developm@ense (Note €

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)
$(13,859) $(44,21¢) $(61,469)
(4,000 — —
(3,649 23,14: 10,45
(1,349 — —

194 1,09¢ 241
957 551 75C
73 — —
2 — —
— 30C  17,80¢
(56€) 591 (1,219
391 18¢ 61E
(25¢) 705 85
— — 24
— 152 54C
(22,059 (17,499 (32,159
— (43) 43
(22,059 (17,53f) (32,116
(39,927 — —
13,59¢ — —
(128) (65) (640)
(26,460 (65) (640)
4,00( — —
(22,460 (65) (640)
— — 29,93¢
9,997 4,891 —
94 7 —
— — (150)
613 31 6
68,47( — —
(1,942) (339) —
6,25( — —
(305) — —
(15,000 — —
® (19 (19
68,16¢ 4,58¢ 29,78
23,65¢ (13,01) (2,972
4,85¢ 17,87¢ 20,84:
$2851¢ $ 485¢ $17.87¢
$ 681 $ 1200 $ 957
$ —  $ — $15,00(
$36,52¢ $ — $ =
$ 399 $ — $ —
$ 36€ $ $
$ 36 $ — $ —
$ — $ 30C $ —

There were no income tax or dividend payments ni@die years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, ad@l. 20

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Alimera Sciences, Inc. (the Company) is a biophaesutical company that specializes in the research,
development, and commercialization of ophthalmiarptaceuticals. The Company was formed on June08 20
under the laws of the State of Delaware.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, managesmerthe board of directors approved a plan to
discontinue the operations of its non-prescripbasiness (see Note 3). As a result of the completfdhe disposal
of its non-prescription business in July 2007,@&menpany no longer has active products and willhaste active
products until the Company receives U.S. Food andjBdministration (FDA) approval and launchesdriigial
prescription product (see Note 3).

The Company is presently focused on diseases iffeitte back of the eye, or retina, because thepaoyis
management believes these diseases are not veg#idrevith current therapies and represent a sigmifimarket
opportunity. The Company’s most advanced productliickate is ILUVIEN, which is being developed foeth
treatment of diabetic macular edema (DME). DME disease of the retina which affects individualthwdiabetes
and can lead to severe vision loss and blindndss Cbmpany has completed its two Phase 3 pivatatal trials
(collectively referred to as the Company’s FAME @tufor ILUVIEN involving 956 patients in sites axss the
U.S., Canada, Europe and India to assess the®ffaoad safety of ILUVIEN in the treatment of DME.

On April 21, 2010, the Company’s Registration Staat on Form S-1 (as amended) was declared eféeloiv
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) sCitmpany’s initial public offering (IPO), pursudatwhich
the Company sold 6,550,000 shares of its commark stba public offering price of $11.00 per shdree Compan
received net proceeds of approximately $68,395(6#4 this transaction, after deducting underwritdigcounts
and commissions. In connection with its IPO, thenpany effected a 1 for 3.4 reverse split of the Gany’s
common and preferred stock. All share and per séva@unts in the accompanying financial statememisnates
have been retroactively adjusted for all periodsspnted to give effect to the reverse stock split.

In June 2010, the Company submitted a New Drug isatibn (NDA) for ILUVIEN to the FDA. In July 2010,
the Company submitted a Marketing Authorization Bqgtion for ILUVIEN to the Medicines and Healthear
products Regulatory Agency in the United Kingdond émregulatory authorities in Austria, France, i@any, Italy,
Portugal and Spain. In August 2010, the FDA acakfite Company’s NDA for ILUVIEN and granted it priky
review status. Priority review status reduces éview time from ten months to six months.

In December 2010, the FDA issued a Complete Respogiter (CLR) in response to the Company’s NDA. In
the CLR, the FDA communicated its decision thatNi¥A could not be approved in its present form. riéov
clinical studies were requested in the CRL. Howgtrex FDA asked for analyses of the safety andadfi data
through month 36 of the FAME Study, including explory analyses in addition to those previouslynsitied to
the FDA, to further assess the relative benefitsrégks of ILUVIEN. The NDA included data througlonth 24.
The Company has completed month 36 of the studysapeparing the analyses the FDA requested. TheiB
also seeking additional information regarding colstand specifications concerning the manufactupagkaging
and sterilization of ILUVIEN, which the Companyiisthe process of compiling.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates in Financial StatemenrtsThe financial statements have been preparedrifocmity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the. df@\merica and, as such, include amounts basadformed
estimates and judgments of management. Actualtsesolild differ from those estimates.
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The following accounting policies relate primaritythe continuing operations of the Company:

Cash and Cash Equivalents- Cash and cash equivalents include cash andyhighid investments that
are readily convertible into cash and have a mgtofi90 days or less when purchased.

Investments— In accordance with ASC 32Debt and Equity Securitiethe Company classifies its
investments as trading securities. The Companygrezes the investments at fair value and includles a
unrealized holding gains and losses in the statenfesperations.

Long-Lived Assets— Property and equipment are stated at cost. Aaditand improvements are
capitalized while repairs and maintenance are esqukrDepreciation is provided on the straight-timethod
over the useful life of the related assets begmpmihen the asset is placed in service. The estimateful lives
of the individual assets are as follows: furnitaral fixtures, five years; office equipment, thredite years;
and software, three years.

Impairment — Property and equipment and intangible assets arewed for impairment whenever eve
or changes in circumstances indicate that the icey@mount of an asset may not be recoverable. When
indicators of impairment are present, the Compamjuates the carrying amount of such assets itioalto the
operating performance and future estimated undigeolnet cash flows expected to be generated bystbets.
If such assets are considered to be impairedpairment to be recognized is measured by the anigun
which the carrying amount of the assets exceedfathealue of the assets. The assessment of toweeability
of assets will be impacted if estimated future ating cash flows are not achieved.

Income Taxes— In accordance with ASC 74hcome Taxesthe Company recognizes deferred tax as
and liabilities for temporary differences betweke financial reporting basis and the tax basissod$sets and
liabilities. The Company records a valuation alloeg against its net deferred tax asset to redceeh
carrying value to an amount that is more likelyrtimat to be realized.

Income tax positions are considered for uncertamgccordance with ASC 740-10. The provisions of
ASC 740-10 are effective beginning January 1, 20608the Company early adopted effective JanuagpQy.
The Company believes that its income tax filingipposs and deductions will be sustained on audit does nc
anticipate any adjustments that will result in aemial change to its financial position; therefame,

ASC 740-10 liabilities have been recorded. The Camyfs adoption of ASC 740-10 did not result in a
cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnifigge Company will recognize accrued interest andhjpies
related to unrecognized tax benefits as intergstese and income tax expense, respectively, istétements
of operations.

Significant management judgment is involved in detaing the provision for income taxes, deferred ta
assets and liabilities, and any valuation allowarecerded against net deferred tax assets. Duackrtainties
with respect to the realization of deferred taxetssue to the history of operating losses, a viainallowance
has been established against the entire net defexxeasset balance. The valuation allowance ishan
management’s estimates of taxable income in thedigtions in which the Company operates and thige
over which deferred tax assets will be recoverdhléhe event that actual results differ from thesemates or
the Company adjusts these estimates in future gggranchange in the valuation allowance may beetted
which could materially impact the Company’s final@osition and results of operations.

Research and Development CostsResearch and development costs are expensaduaseid.

Stock-Based Compensatier The Company has stock option plans which profedegrants of stock
options to employees and directors to purchasesshuirthe Company’s common stock at exercise prices
generally equal to the fair values of such stodkatdates of grant. Compensation cost is recodriteall
share-based awards granted subsequent to Jani2i§5Lbased on the grant date fair
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value in accordance with the provisions of ASC TW@&mpensation — Stock Compensatidhe fair values for
the options are estimated at the dates of grangwsBlack-Scholes option-pricing model.

Additionally, the Company sponsors an employeekspagchase plan under which employees may elect
payroll withholdings to fund purchases of the Compa stock at a discount. The Company estimatesatihe
value of the option to purchase shares of the Cogipa&ommon stock using the Black-Scholes valuation
model and recognizes compensation expense in ammEdvith the provisions of ASC 718-Fmployee Shar
Purchase Plans

Derivative Financial Instruments— The Company’s previously outstanding prefertedis (see
Note 11) contained certain features which are cimmed embedded derivatives. The Company accouoted f
such embedded derivative financial instrumentxgoedance with ASC 81®erivatives and HedgingThe
Company recorded derivative financial instrumemstassets or liabilities in the Company’s balaneesh
measured at fair value (see Note 14). The Compaerded the changes in fair value of such instrisnas
noncash gains or losses in the consolidated statesheperations. The Company does not enter into
derivatives for trading purposes.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments— The carrying amounts of the Company’s finangiatruments,
including cash and cash equivalents, investmesatgjvables, and current liabilities approximatertfer value
because of their short maturities.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share (EPS) Basic EPS is calculated in accordance with A8C, Barnings per
Share, by dividing net income or loss attributable tameoon stockholders by the weighted average common
stock outstanding. Diluted EPS is calculated irbedt@ance with ASC 260 by adjusting weighted average
common shares outstanding for the dilutive effé@ammon stock options, warrants, convertible pref
stock and accrued but unpaid convertible prefestedk dividends. In periods where a net loss isnegd, no
effect is given to potentially dilutive securitiesnce the effect would be anti-dilutive. Total seties that could
potentially dilute basic EPS in the future were inctuded in the computation of diluted EPS becaasto so
would have been anti-dilutive were as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Series A preferred stock and convertible accrueitieinds 2,245,48 7,005,14! 7,005,14!
Series B preferred stor 2,291,24; 7,147,89 7,147,89.
Series C preferred stor 1,861,45 5,807,11: 4,570,67
Series (-1 preferred stocl 888,29¢ 339,40t —
Series (-1 preferred stock warran 42,42¢ 678,82( —
Common stock warran 97,75, 45,29" 30,27:
Stock options 1,704,78 1,125,911 987,17(
Total 9,131,45  22,149,59  19,741,15

Reporting Segments— The Company does not report segment informatfit operates in only one
business segment.

Promotional and Advertising Costs- Promotional and advertising costs are expensédcarred.

Recent Accounting Pronouncementsin January 2010, the FASB issued amendmentsetetisting fair
value measurements and disclosures guidance wiglires new disclosures and clarifies existingldsae
requirements. The purpose of these amendmentpi®tide a greater level of disaggregated infororatis
well as more disclosure around valuation techniguebinputs to fair value
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measurements. The guidance was effective commemdthghe Company’s 2010 fiscal year. The adoptibn
this guidance did not have a material impact onGbmpany’s financial statements.

3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In October 2006, management and the board of direcf the Company approved a plan to discontihee t
operations of its non-prescription ophthalmic phacautical business (the OTC Business). The pldaded the
sale of the assets of the Company’s OTC Businedslso the termination of its sales and marketiexg@nnel. The
Company previously determined that the discontinD&& Business comprised operations and cash flbatscbulc
be clearly distinguished, operationally and foafiaial reporting purposes, from the rest of the Gamy.
Accordingly, the results of operations for the distinued OTC Business have been presented as tiaoeh
operations. During the year ended December 31, #H Company received a $4,000,000 option payment the
acquirer of the assets of the OTC Business to geoiiwith an additional two years to develop ohée acquired
products. There were no revenues or expenses fisoardinued operations during the years ended DeeeB1,
2009 and 2008. The following table presents basitdiluted earnings per share from discontinuedatjmns for
the year ended December 31, 2010 (in thousandpesicare and per share data):

Net income from discontinued operatic $ 4,00(
Net income from discontinued operations per s— Basic and dilute: $ 0.1¢
Weightec-average shares outstand— Basic and dilutes 22,167,87

4. FACTORS AFFECTING OPERATIONS

To date the Company has incurred recurring losssgtive cash flow from operations, and has accatedla
deficit of $188,854,000 from the Compasynhception through December 31, 2010. The Compaeg not expect
generate revenues from its product, ILUVIEN, ulaie 2011, if at all, and therefore does not expebtiave cash
flow from operations until 2012, if at all. As ofe@ember 31, 2010 the Company had approximate\8884)00 in
cash, cash equivalents, and investments. In OcR{lfd, the Company obtained a $32,500,000 senioirese credi
facility (Credit Facility) to help fund its workingapital requirements (see Note 9). The Creditliaconsists of a
$20,000,000 revolving line of credit and a $12,800,term loan. The lenders have advanced $6,25Q00€r the
term loan and may advance the remaining $6,250d@l@@ving FDA approval of lluvien, but no later thauly 31,
2011. Given the status of the FDA's review of th&VIEN NDA, it is unlikely that the FDA approval widd occur
prior to July 31, 2011. The Company is currentlgiscussions with the lenders to amend the terntiseo€Credit
Facility to, among other things, extend the avdlilglof the term loan. However, there are no aasges that the
Credit Facility will be amended. The Company magvdon the revolving line of credit against eligibd®mestic
accounts receivable subsequent to the launch o/ IEN. Management believes it has sufficient fundaikable to
fund its operations through the projected comméreition of ILUVIEN and the expected generatiorre¥enue in
late 2011. The commercialization of lluvien is degent upon approval by the FDA, however, and mamage
cannot be sure that ILUVIEN will be approved by Ei2A or that, if approved, future sales of ILUVIEMNII
generate enough revenue to fund the Company’s tipesebeyond its commercialization (see Note 1)e Buthe
uncertainty around FDA approval, management alsoaigbe certain that the Company will not need ikl
funds for the commercialization of ILUVIEN. If ILUNEN is not approved, or if approved, does not gateer
sufficient revenue, the Company may adjust its cenemal plans so that it can continue to operaté st existing
cash resources or seek to raise additional fingncin

These matters raise substantial doubt about thep&oy’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
accompanying financial statements do not includeaatjustments that may result from the outcoméne$e
uncertainties.
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5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31,

2010 2009
(In thousands)

Furniture and fixture $ 292 $ 29C
Office equipmen 41F 29C
Software 48¢ 47C
Leasehold improvemen 12 12
Manufacturing equipmer 40 40

Total property and equipme 1,24¢ 1,102
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (1,02§) (84¢)
Property and equipme— net $ 220 $ 254

Depreciation and amortization expense associatddprdperty and equipment of the continuing operei
totaled $194,000, $1,098,000 and $241,000 for d@@syended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, teghec

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coynesoegnized $860,000 of depreciation and amoitinat
expense associated with equipment used for the faetnwe of registration batches of ILUVIEN.

6. ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

December 31,

_ 2010 2009
(In thousands)
Accrued clinical investigator expens $1,911  $3,007
Accrued compensation expen: 73C 24¢€
Other accrued expens 90 61
Total accrued expens $2,731  $3,31¢

7. PSIVIDA AGREEMENT

In March 2008, in connection with the Company’daimbration agreement with pSivida US, Inc. (pSiyidae
licensor of the ILUVIEN technology, the Company gfivida amended and restated the agreement talpros
with 80% of the net profits and pSivida with 20%tloé net profits. In connection with the amended istated
agreement , the Company also agreed to:

» pay $12.0 million to pSivida upon the executiorite March 2008 agreeme!
* issue a $15.0 million promissory note to pSivi

« forgive all outstanding development paymepé&nalties and interest as of the effective datt@March
2008 agreement, which totaled $6.8 milli

« continue responsibility for regulatory, clial¢cpreclinical, manufacturing, marketing and séteghe
remaining development and commercialization ofgfaucts;
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« assume all financial responsibility for thevdlpment of the products and assume 80% of the
commercialization costs of the products (insteafl8h as provided under the February 2005 agreenan

* make an additional milestone payment of $28ildon after the first product under the March 300
agreement has been approved by the F

In addition, pSivida is continuing to provide ctal supply materials for the Company’s Phase 2c@lrrials
being conducted for the use of ILUVIEN for the traant of dry AMD and wet AMD and perform and mainta
stability testing on those supplies.

The $15,000,000 promissory note accrued intere8¥@payable quarterly and was payable in full tiviga
upon the earlier of a liquidity event as definedha note (including an initial public offering tife Company’s
common stock greater than $75,000,000), the oceceref an event of default under the Comparagreement wit
pSivida or September 30, 2012. If the note wagadat in full by March 31, 2010, the interest rat@swo increase 1
20% effective as of April 1, 2010, and the Compwaoyld be required to begin making principal payrseoft
$500,000 per month. As of December 31, 2009, tha2my had accrued and unpaid interest payableitadaSf
$708,000, classified as other long-term liabilitiesd $543,000, included in accrued interest irat@mpanying
balance sheet. On April 27, 2010, the Company p3igiida approximately $15,200,000 in principal amgrest to
satisfy the note payable with the proceeds fronmit&l public offering. As a result, the Compargcognized a gain
of $1,343,000 on the extinguishment of this delthsnaccompanying financial statements for the geded
December 31, 2010.

The Company’s license rights to pSivida’'s propmgidelivery device could revert to pSivida if ther@Gpany
were to (i) fail twice to cure its breach of anightion to make certain payments to pSivida follogvieceipt of
written notice thereof; (i) fail to cure other lhes of material terms of its agreement with pBiviithin 30 days
after notice of such breaches or such longer pdtipdo 90 days) as may be reasonably necesstmy ifreach
cannot be cured within such 30-day period; (ilg for protection under the bankruptcy laws, makessignment
for the benefit of creditors, appoint or suffer apppment of a receiver or trustee over its prop€ity a petition
under any bankruptcy or insolvency act or havesaroh petition filed against it and such proceedergains
undismissed or unstayed for a period of more tladays; or (iv) notify pSivida in writing of its dision to
abandon its license with respect to a certain prbdsing pSivida’'s proprietary delivery device. TBempany was
not in breach of its agreement with pSivida as e€&mber 31, 2010.

Upon commercialization of ILUVIEN, the Company mskare 20% of net profits, as defined by the ages
with pSivida. In connection with this arrangemdrg Company is entitled to recover 20% of commezaibn
costs decreased from 50% as a result of the amandasedefined in the amendment, incurred prigrrtmluct
profitability out of pSivida's share of net profits of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Companyowesl
$2,224,000 and $958,000, respectively, in commizeaizon costs. Due to the uncertainty of FDA ap@ioof the
NDA for ILUVIEN, the Company has fully reserved fiseamounts in the accompanying financial statem

8. LICENSE AGREEMENTS

In November 2007, the Company entered into a lieeggeement with Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co., Ltd
(Dainippon) whereby Dainippon granted the Compangrexclusive, worldwide, royalty free licensepttent
rights under specific patents and patent applinati®he Company paid $200,000 to Dainippon shaiftisr the
execution of this license agreement and will bairegl to make an additional payment in the amo@i$260,000 to
Dainippon within 30 days following the first regtday approval of a licensed product in the U.Sthzy FDA.
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In August 2007, the Company entered into an exatusption agreement with Emory University for the
licensing of certain patents for a class of complsuthat the Company intends to evaluate for trarrent of
diseases of the eye, primarily the dry form of egjated macular degeneration. The Company madeitzad i
payment of $75,000 during the year ended Decembe2®7 for the option to license the compoundb&end of
an evaluation period. The Company exercised it®o@nd entered into an exclusive license in takl fof
ophthalmology in July 2009, and issued Emory Ursitgrand its inventor $150,000 in common stock Hasethe
estimated fair value at the time of issuance. Tam@any would owe Emory University up to $5,775,000
additional development and regulatory milestonedeuihe terms of the license agreement. If the Gompgloes not
make any milestone payments to Emory Universityeurkis license agreement prior to the third amsiagy of its
effective date, and the Company does not ele@rtoibate this license agreement in accordanceitgiterms, then
the Company will be required to pay Emory Universihnual license maintenance fees ranging from $800to
$2,000,000 (depending on when such payment is madig milestone payment is made or this liceaxpeeement
is terminated in accordance with its terms. Unberterms of the Company’s agreement with Emory Ehsity, the
Company is required to make annual minimum royp#tyments in the first through the fourth calendzarg
following regulatory approval of the product in @jor market country (i.e., the U.S., Japan, Chindia or any
European country) in the amount of $250,000, $53®M,81,000,000 and $2,500,000, respectively, arahanal
minimum royalty payment of $2,500,000 for each sgjoent year during the term of the agreement. Asobahis
license, the Company received an exclusive optomflicense of the patent rights for diseasesdiswrders outsid
of the eye.

In February 2008, the Company entered into a sirekalusive option agreement with Emory Universay the
patent rights to a second class of compounds whiltlbe evaluated for the treatment of diseasethefeye,
primarily the dry form of age related macular degration. The initial payment was $60,000. The Camypa
expensed this amount as research and developmaem®exin February 2008. The Company exercisegitsroanc
entered into an exclusive license in the field piithalmology in August 2009, and issued Emory Ursitg and its
inventor $150,000 in common stock based on thenestid fair value at the time of issuance in Decerg2bg9. The
Company would owe Emory University up to $5,850,00additional development and regulatory milestoneder
the terms of this license agreement. If the Compmbogs not make any milestone payments to Emoryeusiiy
under this license agreement prior to the thirdwersary of its effective date, and the Companysduoat elect to
terminate this license agreement in accordanceitsiterms, then the Company will be required tp Banory
University annual license maintenance fees ranfyorg $500,000 to $2,000,000 (depending on when pagiment
is made) until a milestone payment is made orltbénse agreement is terminated in accordanceitgiterms.
Under the terms of the Company’s agreement with igrbmiversity, the Company is required to make ainu
minimum royalty payments in the first through tle@ith calendar years following regulatory apprafahe produc
in a major market country (i.e., the U.S., Japann@, India or any European country) in the amafr#250,000,
$500,000, $1,000,000 and $2,500,000, respectiaaky,an annual minimum royalty payment of $2,500 f@@@ach
subsequent year during the term of the agreemanpa#ft of this license, the Company received afusike option
for a license of the patent rights for diseasesdisarders outside of the eye.

9. TERM AND REVOLVING LOAN AGREEMENT
Term Loan Agreement

On October 14, 2010 (Effective Date), the Compantgred into a Loan and Security Agreement withcSii
Valley Bank and MidCap Financial LLP under whicle iompany may borrow up to $12,500,000 (Term Loan
Agreement). The lenders advanced the Initial Traraft$6,250,000 on the Effective Date and may ackahe
remaining Second Tranche of $6,250,000 followingrapal by the FDA of the Company’s ILUVIEN produbit
no later than July 31, 2011. Given the status eRBA’s review of the Company’NDA, the Company believes il
unlikely that approval of ILUVIEN would occur prid¢o July 31, 2011. The Company is in discussionh ttie
lenders to amend the terms of the Term Loan Agreéteeamong other
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things, extend its availability. However, there aceassurances that the Term Loan Agreement wilnbended.

The Company is required to maintain its primaryrating and other deposit accounts and securitiesuents
with Silicon Valley Bank, which accounts must reg@et at least 50% of the dollar value of the Comgjgaaccounts
at all financial institutions.

The Company will be required to pay interest onkhst Tranche at a rate of 11.5% on a monthlysh#sibugt
July 31, 2011, and then will be required to regeyrincipal in 27 equal monthly instaliments, lmegng August
2011, plus interest at a rate of 11.5%. If the 8dcbranche is advanced to the Company, the Compahlye
required to pay interest on the Second Trancheateaof 12.0% on a monthly basis through July2®1L1, and then
will be required to repay the principal in 27 eqoainthly installments, plus interest at a rate20%. The
Company paid to the lenders an upfront fee of $82,8nd will pay to the lenders an additional fipayment of 3%
of the total principal amount. In addition, if ti@mpany repays the loan prior to maturity, it yeily to the lenders
prepayment penalty of 5% of the total principal amdf the prepayment occurs within one year afterfunding
date, 3% of the total principal amount if the pyapant occurs between one and two years after tindirig date an
1% of the total principal amount of the prepaynmmeturs thereafter (each a Prepayment Penalty)igadin each
case that such Prepayment Penalty will be redugéd® in the event of an acquisition of the Comparhe
occurrence of an event of default could resulhmadcceleration of the Company’s obligations urtderTerm Loan
Agreement and an increase to the applicable irtesgs and would permit the lenders to exercisgedies with
respect to the collateral under the Term Loan Agesd.

To secure the repayment of any amounts borrowedruhd Term Loan Agreement, the Company granted to
the Lenders a first priority security interest lhcd its assets, other than its intellectual prtypeprovided that, for
any date during which the notes are outstandirggCthmpany’s unrestricted balance sheet cash ahdcegasvalents
plus the excess available under the term loan agets are less than the product of six times thethip cash burn
amount. In the event the Company fails to meetfthancial condition, a curable lien will be impaisen the
Company’s intellectual property. Should such a Beent take place, the lien would remain in forn@lsuch date
that the Company’s unrestricted cash and cash alguits plus the excess available under the termdgaeements
was equal to or greater than twelve times the nigwetish burn amount. The Company also agreed naetige or
otherwise encumber its intellectual property asgedslitionally, the Company must seek the lendapgroval prior
to the payment of any cash dividends.

In connection with entering into this agreemeng, @ompany issued to the lenders warrants to puechs
aggregate of up to 39,773 shares of the Compawyrsron stock. Each of the warrants is exercisabiaddiately,
has a per-share exercise price of $11.00 and teameof 10 years. In addition, the lenders will @@ertain
registration rights with respect to the sharesomfimon stock issuable upon exercise of the warrdahes.Company
estimated the fair value of warrants granted utiegBlack-Scholes option pricing model. The aggtedair value
of the warrants was estimated to be $389,000. Trepgany allocated a portion of the proceeds fronmiléren Loan
Agreement to the warrants in accordance with ASG@-20-25-2 Debt Instruments with Detachable Warrantss a
result, the Company recorded a discount of $366v@iioh is being amortized to interest expense utiegeffective
interest method.

Revolving Loan Agreement

Also on the Effective Date, the Company and Silistadley Bank entered into a Loan and Security Agreet
(Revolving Loan Agreement), pursuant to which tleempany obtained a secured revolving line of crizdin
Silicon Valley Bank with borrowing availability ujpp $20,000,000.
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The Revolving Loan Agreement provides for a workiagital-based revolving line of credit (Revolvibige)
in an aggregate amount of up to the lesser o2Q)@0,000, or (ii) 85% of eligible domestic accureceivable.
The Revolving Line matures on October 31, 20130ABecember 31, 2010, no amounts under the Revplviran
Agreement were available to the Company.

Amounts advanced under the Revolving Line beardésteat an annual rate equal to Silicon Valley Bank
prime rate plus 2.50% (with a rate floor of 6.50%jerest on the Revolving Line is due monthly,hatite balance
due at the maturity date. The Company paid to @ili¢alley Bank an upfront fee of $100,000. In aiddi if the
Company terminates the Revolving Line prior to miggguit will pay to Silicon Valley Bank a fee o#490,000 if the
termination occurs within one year after the EffecDate and a fee of $200,000 if the terminatioouss more than
one year after the Effective Date (each a Ternundfiee), provided in each case that such Termim&e will be
reduced by 50% in the event of an acquisition ef@ompany.

To secure the repayment of any amounts borrowedruhd Revolving Loan Agreement, the Company grante
to Silicon Valley Bank a first priority securityterest in all of its assets, other than its intgllal property, provided
that, for any date during which the notes are antding, the Company’s unrestricted balance shestt aad cash
equivalents plus the excess available under tine liain agreements are less than the product dises the
monthly cash burn amount. In the event the Comfaifs/to meet this financial condition, a curab&nlwill be
imposed on the Company'’s intellectual property.#thasuch a lien event take place, the lien wouldai in force
until such date that the Company’s unrestricteth easl cash equivalents plus the excess availableruhe term
loan agreements was equal to or greater than twiehes the monthly cash burn amount. The Compasty ajreed
not to pledge or otherwise encumber its intellelguaperty assets. Additionally, the Company mestksSilicon
Valley Bank’s approval prior to the payment of ammgh dividends.

The occurrence of an event of default could rdattthe acceleration of the Company’s obligationdanthe
Revolving Loan Agreement and an increase to thécgtybe interest rate, and would permit Silicon iéglBank to
exercise remedies with respect to the collaterdeuthe Revolving Loan Agreement.

10. COMMITMENTS

Term Notes Payable— In October 2010, the Company received proceé&6,@50,000 from the issuance of
Notes Payable to certain lenders (see Note 9)fAeoember 31, 2010 a schedule of future minimugmpnts
under the Notes Payable is as follows (in thousands

Years Ending December 3

2011 $1,157
2012 2,77¢
2013 2,31¢

$6,25(

The effective interest rate on the Notes Payahld i§%. As of December 31, 2010, the Company had no
accrued and unpaid interest payables on the Natgabie.

Operating Leases— The Company leases office space and equipmelg@ruroncancelable agreements
accounted for as operating leases. The leasesallgmequire that the Company pay taxes, mainteaased
insurance. Management expects that in the normabkemf business, leases that expire will be redeweeplaced
by other leases. In July 2010, the Company signeekgension of its lease for office space for aqueended
December 31, 2011. The Company'’s future minimunmpts under this operating lease from Decembe2(RIQ
to December 31, 2011 are $262,000.
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Rent expense under all operating leases totalezippately $256,000, $229,000 and $217,000 foryéea's
ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, resplgctive

Capital Leases— The Company leases equipment under capitaldedse property and equipment is
capitalized at the lesser of fair market valuehar present value of the minimum lease paymentseanteption of
the leases using the Company’s incremental bormvate.

At December 31, 2010, a schedule by year of futtiremum payments under capital leases, togethdr thé
present value of minimum lease payments, is asvall(in thousands):

Years Ending December 3

2011 $13
2012 13
2013 _ 6
Total 32
Less amount representing inter _3

Present value of minimum lease payme 29
Less current portio 11
Noncurrent portiol $18

Property and equipment under capital leases, wdriehncluded in property and equipment (see Nate 5)
consisted of the following:

December 31,

2010 2009

(In thousands)

Office equipmen $60 $42
Less accumulated amortizati (32 (37
Total $28 §$ 5

Depreciation expense associated with office equiftraeder capital leases was $10,000 for each ofd¢hes
ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, resplgctive

Significant Agreements— In January 2006, the Company entered into a@esmgent with a contract research
organization for clinical and data management ses/to be performed in connection with the Phas&l3oroduct
for the treatment of DME in the U.S., Canada, antbpe. In accordance with the terms of the agreértiesn
Company will incur approximately $16,900,000 intsosith the contract research organization thro2@hl. For
the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and g898ompany incurred $2,300,000, $3,900,000, ar@08300(
respectively, of expense associated with this ageet. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, $731,000 &riD$,000,
respectively, are included in outsourced serviasaple.

In July 2006, the Company entered into an agreemithta contract research organization for clineatvices
to be performed in connection with the Phase Bdfigs product for the treatment of DME in India.accordance
with the terms of the agreement, the Company widli approximately $1,800,000 in costs with thetiamt
research organization through 2011. For the yaatsaDecember 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Conipansred
$242,000, $240,000, and $248,000, respectivelgxpénse associated with this agreement. At Dece81he&2010
and 2009, $110,000, and $53,000, respectivelyinaheded in outsourced services payable.

In February 2010, the Company entered into an ageaewith a third party manufacturer for the matiiee
of the ILUVIEN insert, the assembly of the ILUVIENserter and packaging of the completed
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ILUVIEN commercial product. The Company is respbiesifor supplying the ILUVIEN inserter and the aeti
pharmaceutical ingredient. In accordance with ¢hms of the agreement, the Company must ordeast 8% of
the ILUVIEN units required in the U.S., Canada amel European Union from the third party manufaatémean
initial term of six years. The agreement with hasratial six year term and will automatically reméor successive
one year periods unless either party delivers @rittotice of non-renewal to the other at least dathrs prior to the
end of the current term.

Employment Agreements- The Company is party to employment agreemertts fivie executives. The
agreements generally provide for annual salar@suges, and benefits for a period of three years aatomatically
renew for one-year periods after the third yeaesslterminated by either party. Effective Januag010, the
salaries ranged from $227,000 to $368,000. Effectanuary 1, 2011, the salaries were adjustedange of
$254,000 to $432,000. If any of the agreementseareinated by the Company without cause, or byethployee
for good reason, as defined in the agreementsCdngpany will be liable for one year of salary amahéfits. Certain
other employees have general employment contrautswinclude stipulations regarding confidentiali@ompany
property, and miscellaneous items.

11. PREFERRED STOCK

Prior to the Company’s IPO, the Company had fouesef preferred stock. On April 27, 2010 and in
connection with the IPO, all outstanding sharethefCompany’s preferred stock were converted into
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22,863,696 shares of common stock and all prefest@zk dividends were eliminated. Significant teiwhsll series
of the preferred stock were as follows:

« Dividends were cumulative and accrued on § disis at the rate of 8% per annum beginnincherdate of
issuance and based on the original issue pricagjasted for any stock dividend, stock split, conaltion, or
other event involving the preferred stock. Dividsraatcrued, whether or not declared, annually and dee
and payable when and if declared by the Board téd@ors, upon a liquidating event, as defined & th
Company’s certificate of incorporation, upon redéopof the preferred stock, as defined in the Canys
certificate of incorporation, or on the date the preferred stock was otherwise acquired by thag2oy.
Accumulated, accrued, and unpaid dividends wered823000 at December 31, 20!

< Upon any liquidation, dissolution, or winding of the Company, the preferred stockholders watiled to
a liquidation preference payment equal to (i) e ®f the liquidation value plus all accumulateckraed,
and unpaid dividends and (ii) the pro rata sha@ngfremaining amounts such holder would have been
entitled to receive had such holder’s shares beawerted into common stock immediately prior to the
liquidation, dissolution, or winding up. The ligaition value plus accumulated, accrued, and unpeideshd:
was $117,497,000 at December 31, 2(

« At any time subsequent to March 17, 2013 hiblelers of a majority of the preferred stock coudde
required the Company to redeem all or any portioth® preferred stock. If the preferred stock wedeeme:
the redemption would have occurred in equal insigtits over a three-year period. The price paichby t
Company to redeem the shares would have beenghtegiof (i) the original issue price, plus all
accumulated, accrued, and unpaid dividends, anthéifair market value of the preferred stock bein
redeemed at the time of the redempt

Because the preferred stock provided the holdersigt to require the Company to redeem such stfare
cash after March 17, 2013 at the greater of (i)dtiginal issue price plus any accrued but unpaitldnds and
(i) the fair market value of the preferred stodirty redeemed, the embedded conversion featur@edmeparate
accounting. Consequently, the conversion featudethde bifurcated from the preferred stock andanted for
separately at each issuance date. The carrying wdlihe embedded derivative was adjusted to flirevat the end
of each reporting period and the change in fainwalas recognized in the statement of operations.

On January 8, 2010 warrants to purchase sharbe @ampany’s Series C-1 preferred stock were esexici
resulting in $10,000,000 in cash proceeds andstheance of 1,935,700 additional shares of Serigpeferred
stock. The Company recorded a derivative liabiity3,471,000 upon the exercise of the warrantstla@dssuance
of such shares of Series C-1 preferred stock inal2010.

At each reporting date and in connection with tieenfany’s IPO, the Company adjusted the carryingevaF
the embedded derivatives to estimated fair val@eracognized the change in such estimated valiie statement
of operations. The estimated fair value of thewdgives at December 31, 2009 was $36,701,000. Stmated fair
value of the derivatives at April 27, 2010, immeeli prior to the conversion of the preferred stowkommon
stock in connection with the IPO, was $36,528,00@onnection with the IPO, the embedded derivativere
eliminated. The Company recognized a gain of $3(28! a loss of $23,142,000, and a loss of $100464,
associated with the change in fair value for thergended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 résgect

In connection with the conversion of the Compamyaferred shares to common shares upon the complefi
the Company’s IPO in April 2010, the Company auttexd 10,000,000 shares of $0.01 par value prefestaak. At
December 31, 2010, no shares of preferred stock issued or outstanding.
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12. OPTIONS

The Company has stock option and stock incenti@aspivhich provide for grants of shares to emplopees
grants of options to employees and directors tahmse shares of the Company’s common stock atiegeyices
generally equal to the fair values of such stodkeatdates of grant. Options granted to employgasdlly become
exercisable over a four-year vesting period ancleag0-year term. Options granted to directorscglpi vest
immediately and have a 5-year term.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company was authotzegtdant under the Company’s plans up to
1,402,536 shares under the 2010 Equity Incentiga.RIpon the exercise of stock options, the Compaay issue
the required shares out of authorized but unissoetmon stock or out of treasury stock at managemmeligcretior

A summary of stock option transactions under tlamplare as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise

Options Price Options Price Options Price
Options at beginning of peric 2,225,770 $ 214 1,959,720 $ 1.8C 1,419,800 $ 1.5C
Grants 575,15( 10.17 295,46! 4.3t 539,91¢ 2.5¢
Forfeitures (14,449 5.11 (25,55) 1.84 — —
Exercises (44,499 2.1C (3,860 1.7¢ — —
Options at end of peric 2,741,98! 3.81 2,225,77! 2.14 1,959,72i 1.8C
Options exercisable at period € 1,722,28 1.8¢ 1,427,64! 1.7¢ 921,05! 1.7¢
Weighted average per share fair value of
options granted during the peri $ 7.92 $ 3.74 $ 1.7t

The following table provides additional informatioglated to outstanding stock options, fully vestamtk
options, and stock options expected to vest aseckber 31, 2010:

Weighted Weighted

Average Average Aggregate
Exercise  Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Term Value
(In thousands)
Outstanding 2,741,98! $3.81 6.99 year $18,33¢
Exercisable 1,722,28 1.8¢ 5.88 year 14,63¢
Expected to ves 963,75: 7.24 8.92 year 3,33¢
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The Company estimated the fair value of optionsig@ using the Black-Scholes option-pricing modiththe
following weighted-average assumptions used foloopgrants:

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Risk-free interest rat 1.71% 3.44% 2.81%
Volatility factor 97.3% 112.5% 73.7¢%
Grant date fair value of common stc $7.92 $4.3¢ $2.5¢
Weightec-average expected It 6.05 year 6.18 year 6.15 year
Assumed forfeiture rat 10.0(% 10.0(% 10.0(%
Employee stock-based compensation expense retastddk options recognized under ASC 718 was as
follows:
Years Ended December 31
2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)
Marketing $127 $ 43  $10¢
Research and developmt 20¢ 161 26¢
General and administratiy 45€ 307 372
Total employee sto-based compensation expel $794 $511  $75C

The total estimated fair value of options grantadrd) the years ended December 31, 2010, 20092608 wa
$4,558,000, $1,100,000, and $930,000, respectiaely the total estimated value of options grantéat o 2007
was $1,516,000.

The Company’s 2010 Plan provides for annual in@eas the number of shares available for issuance
thereunder on the first day of each fiscal yeamétuuthe least of: (1) 2,000,000 shares of ourroom stock; (2) 49
of the shares of common stock outstanding at timat; tand (3) such other amount as our board otttire may
determine. On January 1, 2011, an additional 12ZZ&0shares became available for future issuanceruhd 2010
Plan. These additional shares from the annual aserender the 2010 Plan are not included in thegfiing
discussion.
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The following table summarizes outstanding and @seble options at December 31, 2010:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average

Remaining Remaining
Number Contractual Number Contractual

Exercise Price: Outstanding Life Exercisable Life
$1.33 693,45¢ 5.3¢ 693,45¢ 5.3¢€
1.39 395,40( 6.7¢ 310,69¢ 6.7¢€
2.04 280,77( 3.67 280,77( 3.67
2.24 4,50¢ 7.17 1,28 7.7
241 465,21: 7.2z 318,90¢ 7.2z
3.26 5,882 7.3¢ 3,67¢ 7.3¢
3.88 33,82! 7.0¢ 22,79¢ 7.0¢€
4.01 262,96: 8.6( 74,69: 8.47
5.03 5,14¢ 7.6¢€ 2,89: 7.6€
5.44 2,05¢ 8.67 1,157 8.67
6.74 103,50( 9.62 — —
8.47 22,61¢ 8.9¢ 5,64¢ 8.9¢
9.87 75,00( 9.7¢ — —
11.00 65,00( 9.3¢ — —
11.15 302,65( 9.8t 6,30z 9.8t
11.91 24,00( 9.9: — —

2,741,98! 1,722,28.

13. COMMON STOCK WARRANTS

The Company has issued warrants to purchase corstock to various members of the board of directors,
third-parties for services, and lenders. Total @ats to purchase common stock issued and outstandire 87,420
and 248,181 at December 31, 2010 and 2009, resphgtat exercise prices ranging from $1.70 to 8QJer share.
The warrants are exercisable for a period of séwéen years from the issuance date.

Warrants to purchase 39,773 of the Company’s comstmok were granted during the year ended
December 31, 2010 in connection the issuance daktine and revolving loan agreement (see Note 9)whligants ti
purchase common stock were issued in the yearsidbeleember 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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14. INCOME TAXES
The components of the income tax benefit were kbewe:

Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)

Deferred benefit (expense

Federa $573¢ $6,64¢ $17,11¢
State 66¢ 774 2,20z
6,407 7,427 19,321

Valuation allowanct (6,407 (7,427) (19,32)
Income tax benef $ — $ — 3 —

In accordance with ASC 740, the Company recogrieésrred tax assets and liabilities for temporary
differences between the financial reporting basis the tax basis of its assets and liabilities. Thenpany records
valuation allowance against its net deferred tame&t® reduce the net carrying value to an amdnaitis more likely
than not to be realized.

Income tax positions are considered for uncertdmgccordance with ASC 740-10he Company believes tt
its income tax filing positions and deductions my@re likely than not of being sustained on audit does not
anticipate any adjustments that will result in @emial change to its financial position; therefane,

ASC 740-10 liabilities and no related penalties anterest have been recorded. Tax years since 2008in subject
to examination in Georgia, Tennessee, and on tterd¢level. The Company does not anticipate angria
changes to its uncertain tax positions within tegtrd2 months.

Significant management judgment is involved in deteing the provision for income taxes, deferreddasets
and liabilities, and any valuation allowance reeaf@gainst net deferred tax assets. Due to unciéetivith respec
to the realization of deferred tax assets dueaditktory of operating losses, a valuation alloveainas been
established against the entire net deferred tat &ssance. The valuation allowance is based oragament’s
estimates of taxable income in the jurisdictiongvirich the Company operates and the period ovectwiheferred
tax assets will be recoverable. In the event thatad results differ from these estimates or thenBany adjusts
these estimates in future periods, a change indahmtion allowance may be needed, which could rizligimpact
the Company’s financial position and results ofratiens.

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company haddkdet operating loss (NOL) carry-forwards of
approximately $97,813,000 and $79,494,000 and Bli&ie carry-forwards of approximately $80,995,000¢ a
$62,666,000 respectively, that are available taceduture income unless otherwise taxable. Ifutitized, the
federal NOL carryforward will expire at various datbetween 2023 and 2030 and the state NOL 6amwards will
expire at various dates between 2020 and 2030.

NOL carry-forwards may be subject to annual liniitas under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 (or
comparable provisions of state law) in the eveat tertain changes in ownership of the Company teeoecur.
The Company has not yet completed a formal evalnatf whether the impact of its IPO (see Note $ulted in
certain changes in ownership that would limit th@Pany’s ability to utilize a portion of its NOL rcg-forwards.
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Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) were as fedo

December 31,

2010 2009
(In thousands)
Depreciation and amortizatic $ 20 $ 26€
Other deferred tax ass¢ 24¢ 33¢
NOL carry-forwards 36,467 29,51:
Research and development cc 9,16 10,03¢
Collaboration agreement receivable rese 844 364
Valuation allowanct (46,929 (40,527
Total $ — 3 —

The income tax benefit differs from the amount dataed by applying the U.S. federal statutory ineotax
rate to the pre-tax accounting loss as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

Amount Perceni Amount Percent Amount Percent
Federal tax benefit at statutory $(4,712) 34.(% $(15,03%) 34.(% $(20,899) 34.(%
State ta>— net of federal benef (549 4.C (1,757 4.C (2,439 4.C
Permanent item (1,16€) 8.4 8,93¢ (20.2) 4,22¢ (6.9
Change in state deferred tax r — — — — (160 0.3
Other 20 — 42k (1.0 (55) —
Increase in valuation allowan 6,407 (46.9) 7,42: (16.8) 19,32! (31.9
Total tax expens $ — —% $ — —% $ — —%

15. FAIR VALUE

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accogr8tandards No. 15Fair Value Measurementa\SC
820), effective January 1, 2008. Under this stashdair value is defined as the price that would-dxeeived to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., tbeit price”) in an orderly transaction betweenrket participants at
the measurement date.

In determining fair value, the Company uses varialsation approaches. The hierarchy of those vialua
approaches is broken down into three levels basdtereliability of inputs as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markatédentical assets or liabilities that the repugtentity
has the ability to access at the measurementAlatactive market for the asset or liability is arket in which
transactions for the asset or liability occur watlfficient frequency and volume to provide pricinéprmation
on an ongoing basis. The valuation under this aagraloes not entail a significant degree of judgmen

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prigelsided within Level 1 that are observable for dsset
or liability, either directly or indirectly. Leved inputs include: quoted prices for similar assetkabilities in
active markets, inputs other than quoted pricesatemobservable for the asset or liability, (érgerest rates
and yield curves observable at commonly quotedvate or current market) and contractual pricedffer
underlying financial instrument, as well as otreevant economic measures.
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Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for thetamskability. Unobservable inputs shall be used t
measure fair value to the extent that observalgetsare not available, thereby allowing for sitad in which
there is little, if any, market activity for thesat or liability at the measurement date.

The following fair value table presents informatiipout the Company’s assets and liabilities medsairéair
value on a recurring basis:

December 31, 201
Level 1 Level 2 Level 2 Total
(In thousands)

Assets:
Cash equivalents(: $27390 ¢ — $ — $27,39
Investments in marketable debt securitie: — 26,33( — 26,33(
Assets measured at fair val $27,39° $26,33( $ —  $53,72:
December 31, 200!
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash equivalents(: $4666 $ — $ — $ 4,66¢
Assets measured at fair val $4666 $ — $ — $4,66¢
Liabilities:
Preferred stock conversion feature $ — $ — $36,70 $36,70:
Liabilities measured at fair valt $ — $ — $36,70. $36,70:

(1) The carrying amounts approximate fair value dudaéoshoi-term maturities of the cash and cash equivali

(2) Valuations are based on quoted prices in markatsaiie not active or for which all significant inpuare
observable, either directly or indirectly. These@s include broker or dealer quotations, or aliéwe pricing
sources with reasonable levels of price transpgrePricing sources include industry standard dab&igers,
security master files from large financial instituts, and other third party sources which are irpiat a
distribution-curve-based algorithm to determineadydmarket value. This creates a “consensus plcel
weighted average price for each secu

(3) The fair value of the beneficial conversion featof@referred stock (see note 11) is establishaujus
probability weighted expected return method (PWERNMQ Black Scholes valuation model. Significanuitsptc
the valuation include

« probability of various scenarios occurring;liding the potential for an initial public offegnsale of the
Company or its assets, decision to remain a pris@tepany or liquidation of the Compar

« fair value of common stock as determined uredeh of the scenarios under the PWERM, adjusted lack
of control and lack of marketability discou

« volatility estimated as an average of voltiti of publicly traded companies deemed similahe&oCompany
in terms of product composition, stage of lifecydapitalization, and scope of operatic

< exercise price and weighted-average expeifeddtimated based on the underlying and the e¢gdec
remaining life of the underlying instrumel
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« risk-free interest rate estimated as the daélgsury yield for the period that most closelpragimates the
weighte-average expected life as the valuation date asgalol by the U.S. Department of Treasi

The method described above may produce a fair \a@loeilation that may not be indicative of net izsthle
value or reflective of future fair values. Furthems, while the Company believes its valuation méthare

appropriate, the use of different methodologieassumptions to determine the fair value of ceffiaencial
instruments could result in a different fair valneasurement at the reporting date.

The following table presents the changes to thevidue of the beneficial conversion feature offpned stock
during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2088ousands):

Fair value of conversion feature of preferred stactkecember 31, 20( $ 12,65¢
Issuance oSeries (-1 preferred stock (See Note 1 90:<
Change in fair value of preferred stock converseature 23,14:
Fair value of conversion feature of preferred statkecember 31, 20( 36,70:
Issuance oSeries (-1 preferred stock (Note 1. 3,471
Change in fair value of preferred stock converseature (3,649
Elimination of the conversion feature of preferstdck (Note 11 (36,529
Fair value of conversion feature of preferred statkecember 31, 20! $ —

16. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has a salary deferral 401(k) plan wbiskers substantially all employees of the Compémy.
May 2008, the Company established a plan to madcficjpant contributions subject to certain planitations. The
Company’s matching plan took effect on July 1, 2008mpensation expense associated with the Company’
matching plan totaled $68,000, $70,000 and $61f00the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 angl, 200
respectively. The Company may also make an annsetationary profitsharing contribution. No such discretion
contributions were made during the years ended ibbee 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.

In April 2010 the Company established an EmployeelSPurchase Plan (the “Purchase Plan”). Under the
Company'’s Purchase Plan, eligible employees cdicjpate and purchase common stock semi-annuaibutih
accumulated payroll deductions. The Purchase Bladministered by the Company’s board of direabors
committee appointed by the Company’s board of tiimsc Under the Purchase Plan eligible employegs ma
purchase stock at 85% of the lower of the fair reavalue of a share of Common Stock on the offediaig or the
exercise date. The Purchase Plan provides for tmoBth purchase periods generally starting onitsetfading
day on or after October 31 and April 30 of eachry@here are. Eligible employees may contributeéaip5% of
their eligible compensation. A participant may gwrse a maximum of 2,500 shares of common stockyrehase
period. The value of the shares purchased in alepdar year may not exceed $25,000.

The Purchase Plan was effective upon the complefitine Company’s IPO, at which time a total of
494,422 shares of the Company’s common stock waderavailable for sale. As of January 1 of each, wtarting
in 2011, the reserve will automatically be restai@the original level. A total of 8,246 sharediud Company’s
common shares were acquired through the PurchasedBfing the year ended December 31, 2010. As sich
January 1, 2011, an additional 8,246 shares beeamikable for future issuance under the Purchase. Ph
accordance with ASC 718-50, the ability to purchetsek at 85% of the lower of the fair market vatdi@ share of
Common Stock on the offering date or the exercige tepresents an option. The Company estimatdaithelue
of such options at the inception of each offeriegqd using the Black-
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Scholes valuation model. In connection with thechase Plan, the Company recorded $43,000 of corapens
expense for the year ended December 31, 2010.

17. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following financial information reflects all moal recurring adjustments, which are, in the apindf
management, necessary for a fair statement oethdts of the interim periods. Selected quartengrfcial data for
years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 are aw$d(io thousands except per share d:

Year Ended December 31, 201
1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Selected quarterly financial data:

Total operating expens $ 421¢ $ 569 $ 6,11¢ $ 6,04
Net income (loss 2,571 (4,107 (6,082) (6,259
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhi 19z (4,827) (6,082 (6,257)
Net income (loss) per common stockhol— Basic and

diluted(1) $ 01z $ (020 $ (020 $ (0.20

Year Ended December 31, 2009
1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Selected quarterly financial data:

Total operating expens $ 549 $ 4747 $ 4,63¢ $ 434
Net loss (10,179 (6,26¢€) (5,110 (22,669
Net loss attributable to common stockholc (12,039 (8,13%) (7,459 (24,795

Net loss per common stockholc— Basic and diluted(1 $ (8.07) $ (5460 $ (489 $ (15.89

(1) Net loss per common stockholder is computed indépetty for each of the quarters presented. Theeefte
sum of the quarterly net loss per share will n@essarily equal the total for the ye
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Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrastamended on various dates (filed as Exhibit3.2
Amendment No. 4 to the Registrant’s RegistraticateShent on Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-162782), as
filed on April 6, 2010, and incorporated hereinrbjerence

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant(fike Exhibit 3.4 to Amendment No. 4 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1(&He No. 333-162782), as filed on April 6, 2010,
and incorporated herein by referen

Second Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agmetenteted March 17, 2008, by and among the
Registrant, certain stockholders and the invedisted on the signature pages thereto (filed astibxh.3

to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registratatement on Form S-1 (SEC File

No. 33:-162782),as filed on December 23, 2009, and incorporatedihdry reference

Second Amended and Restated Stock Sale Agreenzgat] March 17, 2008, by and among the
Registrant, certain stockholders and the invedisted on the signature pages thereto (filed astixdh.4
to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registratatement on Form S-1 (SEC File

No. 33:-162782),as filed on December 23, 2009, and incorporateéihéxy reference

Omnibus Amendment, dated August 25, 2009, by anzhgrthe Registrant, certain stockholders and the
investors listed on the signature pages therdt(fis Exhibit 4.5 to Amendment No. 1 to the Regisfs
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (SEC File N8-B32782), as filed on December 23, 2009, and
incorporated herein by referenc

Warrant to Purchase Stock dated October 14, 2@l@dsto Silicon Valley Bank (filed as Exhibit 4dl t
Registrar’s Current Report, as filed on October 18, 2010,incdrporated herein by referenc

Warrant to Purchase Stock dated October 14, 2@l@dsto MidCap Funding IlIl, LLC (filed as

Exhibit 4.2 to Registrant’s Current Report, asditsn October 18, 2010, and incorporated herein by
reference’

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig and each of its directors and executive
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED
Contract Sales Agreement

This contract sales agreemerm@feement”) is made and entered into as of the 4th day dbfer 2010, by and between Alimera
Sciences, Inc. a Delaware corporatiolC@mpany”), and OnCall LLC, a limited liability company ©nCall ).

WHEREAS , OnCall provides experience and know-how in cartsales, telemarketing, sales force automatiorntlamdnanagement
of healthcare products and devices;

WHEREAS , both the Company and OnCall (eachRafty ", together the ‘Parties ) desire that OnCall provide the Company with a
contract sales organization for promoting and sglthe Product(s) (as defined herein) in the UnBttes; and

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual representatioresranties, covenants and agreements containedhhtrei
Parties agree as follows:

1. Services and Sale

1.1. OnCall shall provide services to the Comptmthe Company products identified on Exhibit #haahed hereto (“Product”), as set
forth in detail in Exhibit A (“Services”). Such Séces shall include recruiting, deploying and adstiating the sales force agreed upon
for selling the Product to both new and existingoamts in the identified and/or targeted mark

1.2. OnCall shall provide Company with Servicasq cultivate and maintain good relations with ataind prospective customers, all in
accordance with guidelines and operational proegpromulgated by Company from time to time andipiex! to and agreed upon by
OnCall in writing.

1.3. OnCall shall act toward Company dutifullydan good faith and shall use its best effortsttai@a the targets agreed to by the parties.
OnCall will not act in any way detrimental to thredrests of Compan

1.4. Company acknowledges that the successfutiarady rendering of the Services will require theod faith cooperation of Company.
Company will provide all cooperation reasonablyassary to permit OnCall to provide the Serviceduiting without limitation,
providing OnCall with all sales materials and bra@s necessary for OnCall to perform the Servit@sropany Sales Materials”).
OnCall shall not modify any Company Sales Materi

15. If OnCall or its employees or independenitcactors become aware of adverse drug experiepmets involving the use of any
Product, including while performing any Servicegannection with any Product, they shall immediataitify Company in writing

1.6. Company shall be solely responsible for oesling to any government or regulatory agency carieg use or marketing of Product,
except to the extent any notice or reporting rezqaent is by law made directly applicable to OnGahCall shall promptly notify
Company in writing of any information OnCall reces/regarding any threatened or pending actiondmvarnment or regulatory
agency that may affect the Product. OnCall shatherequest of Company, cooperate with Compamyder to respond to, or in
formulating a procedure for taking appropri
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action in response to, such information. Irement shall OnCall respond to any agency in comreetith the Product without the prior
written consent of Company, unless compelled tsalby law.

Sales Personne

OnCall shall recruit, deploy and administrite sales representatives necessary to provideehsces pursuant to this Agreement
described in Exhibit A. Notwithstanding anything&ie to the contrary, if Company reasonably belésetimt the performance of any
sales representative or the Project Manager igtisfesztory for any reason (including without lintitan a failure, in Company’s opinion,
to demonstrate adequate knowledge and expertetingeto Product and its indicated uses, a failangass training and testing
requirements, or unprofessional conduct) or isimabmpliance with the provisions of this Agreemeddmpany may notify OnCall in
writing and OnCall shall, at the request of Compéaryd at Compar’'s sole option), either [****].

Reporting

OnCall shall provide Company with sales faaoéomation and customer relationship managemetwaad program, including the
OnCall SFA system (the “Software”) for the purposéfracking, reporting and evaluating sales regméggtive activity. OnCall hereby
grants to Company a non-exclusive, royalty-freerlawide, transferable (as provided in Section $bjylicensable right and license to
use the object code version of the Software foptimposes of tracking, reporting and evaluatingsatpresentative activity. At least
once every 3 months or upon Company’s reasonafieest at any time, OnCall shall provide Companylath from Company’s use of
the Software (“Company Software Data”) in a forriatt will enable Company to access, view, modifgate derivative works of, use
and otherwise exploit such data on its own exissiygtems.

Intellectual Property

Nothing in this Agreement shall give OnCalyaights in any copyrights, patents, trade namasleimarks or trade dress or any other
intellectual property used by or belonging to Compar in the good will of Company, in connectiortiwany of its products or
business.

Company shall own all right, title and intdréacluding all intellectual property rights of asort throughout the world) relating to
any and all inventions, works of authorship, desjgdeas, data, materials and information whichnaade or conceived or reduced to
practice, in whole or in part, by OnCall, and these out of the Services or that are based otherwise reflect any Confidential
Information (as defined below), including, withdimitation, Company Software Data, training matksriand sales territory maps
(collectively, “Work Product”). OnCall will prompjlprovide and fully disclose all Work Product tor@oany. All Work Product are
works made for hire to the extent allowed by lawl,an addition, OnCall hereby makes and agreesakenall assignments necessary to
accomplish the foregoing
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ownership. OnCall shall assist Company, at Compargasonable expense, to further evidence, recargerfect such assignments,
and to perfect, obtain, maintain, enforce, and mEny rights assigned.

Consideration, Expenses and Marketir
OnCall's fees for the Services are set fantkxhibit A.
Confidentiality

“Confidential Information” includes any infoation regarding Comparg/assets, business, finances, operations, acivitisstomer:
technology, prospects, ideas, markets, strategigsaatics, or any other information that Compargvjaes to OnCall and Work
Product, that is designated proprietary or confidéor is of such a nature that a reasonable persmuld understand such information
to be proprietary or confidentic

OnCall shall hold the Confidential Inforn@tiin confidence and as secret and shall not uséidemtial Information to the detriment
of the Company or other than as necessary to pedvatvices under this Agreement, nor disclose @enfial Information, directly or
indirectly, to a third party, except that OnCallyrsclose Confidential Information to its salescifor the sole purpose of performing
this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Oh@ey disclose Confidential Information to OnCalbfficers, directors,
professional advisers and attorneys (“Represeetsiiias needed for purposes of performing its aliligns under this Agreement.
OnCall shall be responsible for any breach of Agseement by any of its Representatives and mendjéts sales force and the Project
Manager to whom it discloses Confidential Inforraatand shall ensure that such parties are bourdtfjdentiality obligations at least
as protective of Company as those her

OnCall shall not remove or otherwise altey af the trademarks, service marks, serial numbeges, or copyrights or other
proprietary notices or indicia, if any, fixed otaathed to Confidential Informatio

Notwithstanding anything herein, informati@teived by OnCall from Company shall be deemédmbe Confidential Information
if, and to the extent that, such information i3afready rightfully in OnCall's possession on aramnfidential basis; (ii) rightfully
obtained on a non-confidential basis from a thadythat is under no legal obligation prohibitidigclosure of such information; (iii) is
or becomes available to the public other than thincan act or omission of OnCall that violates thigeement; (iv) developed
independently by OnCall without the use of Confitidrinformation; or (v) authorized by Company imitmg for disclosure.
Notwithstanding (i), (ii) and (iv) above, Work Prazt shall continue to be deemed the Confidentifarmation of Company an
continue to be subject to the rights and obligatiohthis Section €

Notwithstanding the foregoing, OnCall magdaibse Confidential Information if and to the ext@mCall is compelled to do so by
applicable law, regulation, governmental agencgaurt orderprovided thatOnCall provides Company with prompt notice of such
requirement and reasonably cooperates with Con’s efforts
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(if any) to obtain a protective order or othppropriate remedy preventing such disclosurehéretvent that Company does not obtain a
protective order or other appropriate remedy prérgrsuch disclosure, OnCall shall disclose onbt tortion of Confidential
Information that OnCall is advised by legal courtket it is legally required to disclos

Upon request of Company, OnCall shall prdynggturn to Company any Confidential Informati@yuested by Company in
OnCal’s possession or contr

Warranties

Company warrants to OnCall that the Productsany materials and information provided by Conyp@anOnCall comply with all
applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and doviadéte or infringe upon any patent, trademariidé dress, copyright, trade secret or
other intellectual property right of a third party.

OncCall warrants that it will, and will cause émployees, Representatives and agents, includitigput limitation, sales force
members and the Project Manager, to, (i) complj @it applicable laws and regulations of any judddn, applicable to it as an
employer and in the conduct of its business, inciiti or its agents perform Services and (ii) parf&ervices in a professional and
workmanlike manner and in accordance with industaydards. In addition, OnCall warrants: (a) nofith® Services or any part of this
Agreement is or will be inconsistent with any ollign OnCall may have to others; (b) OnCall hasftlieight to provide Company
with the assignments and rights provided for heram (c) OnCall will not disclose to Company oe tisr its benefit any trade secret or
proprietary or confidential information of any tthiparty.

Indemnification and Insurance.

Company shall at all times during and étfterterm of this Agreement defend, indemnify, aotifOnCall and its Representatives
harmless from and against any and all loss, dasility or damage (including reasonable attorndgs's and costs) (“Losstd the exter
made or brought against OnCall by a third party laskd upon: [****], provided Company shall not digligated to defend, indemnify,
and hold OnCall or its Representatives harmless fiad against any Loss to the extent made or btagginst OnCall by a third party
and based upon: [****]

OnCall shall at all times during and aftee term of this Agreement defend, indemnify, anld I@ompany harmless from and against
any and all Loss to the extent based upon [**
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7.3. The indemnifying party’s obligations hereendre conditioned on (i) the party seeking inddimation providing prompt written
notice thereof and reasonable cooperation, infaonaand assistance in connection therewith afdt fiaving sole control and author
to defend, settle or compromise such claim (pravidhet any settlement that does not include tHeahd unconditional release of the
party seeking indemnification shall require theopriritten consent of such party). The indemnifypagty shall not be responsible for
any settlement it does not approve in writi

7.4. OnCall shall procure and maintain insuraoicthe type and with coverage amounts standartheindustry in which OnCall
operates, continuously throughout the term of Mgiseement and for [****] theareafter, and from coarpes listed in the current and
future “Best’s Insurance Guide” as possessing amim policy holders rating of [****] and a finandi@ategory no lower than [****].
Each insurance policy described above must namep@oynas an additional insured under the policy hiwithirty (30) days following
the execution of the Agreement, and thereafternupompany’s reasonable request, OnCall shall far@ismpany with a Certificate of
Insurance evidencing the insurance coverages edjbi this Agreement. For the avoidance of doulegting OnCall’s insurance
obligations and furnishing evidence of the requirenirance shall not relieve OnCall from any liapibr obligation for which it is
responsible to Company, in whole or in p

8. Term.

The term of this Agreement shall commencefdleodate hereof and shall continue thereaftéulirforce and effect for [****] and
may be extended [****] through [****], unless termated by either party as provided in Section 1010P.

9. Termination.

9.1. In the event of a material breach of thisefggent by a Party, the non-breaching Party maseseritten notice of the breach to the
breaching Party. If the breaching Party fails tcedhe breach within [****] after service of suclotice, the non-breaching party may
thereafter terminate immediately upon written matigo long as the breach has not been c

9.2. A Party may terminate this Agreement immealjaupon written notice, if the other Party: (Qnamences a voluntary case under any
applicable bankruptcy or insolvency code or statorteuthorizes the commencement of such a volyeese; (ii) fails to receive
dismissal of any involuntary bankruptcy insolvemayion or petition under any applicable bankrupicinsolvency code or statute
within [****] after initiation of such action or pttion; (iii) pursuant to any applicable law relagito the liquidation or reorganization of
debtors, pursues relief as a debtor or modificatioalteration of the rights of such other Patgteditors, or consents to or acquiesce
such relief; (iv) becomes subject to an order lopuart of competent jurisdiction finding it to bertiaupt or insolvent, or authorizing or
approving the liquidation, reorganization, or magiifion or alteration of the rights of such othertly’s creditors, or assuming custody
of, or appointing a receiver, liquidate or othestadlian, temporary or otherwise, for, all or a $absal part of such other Party’'s assets;
or (v) makes an assignment for the benefit of sathbr Part’s creditors, o
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appoints or consents to the appointment of a receivother custodian, for all or a substantiat pasuch other Par's assets

Company may terminate this Agreement at ang tifor any reason, on written notice of [****]. bddition, Company may termine
this Agreement upon [****] written notice if Prodtics withdrawn by Company or by any governmentalegulatory agency or any
governmental or regulatory agency takes any actiorgises any objection, that prevents Company firearketing, distributing,
importing, exporting or selling Produi

In the event of termination of this Agreememhounts owed by Company to OnCall shall be [***®ompany does agree that if
termination in the first [****] of deployment of fgs is due to [****], then Company [****].

Company is responsible for all costs assodiafith [****], provided OnCall uses good faith, biesfforts to assist Company, as
requested by Company, in mitigating such costsexample, by [****].

Sections 1.3 (last sentence only), 1.6, 3 flastence only), 4, 6, 7, 8, 10.4, 10.5, 10.6Ehthrough 24, and any remedies for bre
of this Agreement, shall survive any terminatioregpiration. In addition, upon termination or exgtion of this Agreement, OnCall
shall promptly provide to Company all Company Saliegerials, Company Software Data (in a format thiditenable Company to use
such data on its own existing systems), Work Prbdnd works in progress of the Work Product. Ferghke of clarity, all home study
materials, training manuals and training presemmatideveloped and/or prepared by or on behalf @alifor Company shall be
provided to Company in a format that will enablen@any to access, view, modify, create derivativeke®f, use and otherwise
exploit such materials, manuals and presentatiarfSampany’s own existing systems. Furthermoreotailhg termination or expiration
of this Agreement and upon Company’s request aftbaipany’s reasonable expense (e.g., at [****]),Gali shall provide to
Company reasonable transition services, for exansplginued access to Software for a reasonabiedef time.

Force Majeure

Neither Party shall be liable for any delayirfailure of performance under this Agreement tlueauses which are beyond its
control, including, but not limited to, an act ob act of military authorities, war, riot, fireaghquake, flood, embargo, disaster,
strikes, unavailability of material or power fadyprovided thathe Party so affected will give prompt written metiof such event to tl
other party, and shall use its best efforts to dvamove, or alleviate such causes of nonperfoceand shall continue performance
hereunder with the utmost dispatch whenever sugbesaare remove
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10.2 Should inability to perform as a result ofdermajeure continue for an excess of [****], thertfyavhich is able to continue
performing its obligations, shall have the righteéaminate this Agreement immediately, by way @friten notice to the other Pari

11. Employees

Company recognizes that OnCall's employeessaicti employees’ loyalty and service to OnCall titutes a valuable asset of
OnCall's agency. Accordingly, Company will not, elitly or indirectly employ, nor engage as a comasuljtany of OnCall's sales
representatives for [****] from the date hereof. Ay time following the conclusion of [****] refereced in the preceding sentence,
[****]. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Compamyay employ or engage as a consultant any of OreCsdles representatives or s
managers who have not performed any Services éo€timpany pursuant to, and who have not becomerktmthe Company in
connection with, this Agreement. Company agreesttigaremedy at law for any breach of the foreggirmyisions of this paragraph
may be inadequate and that OnCall shall be entitlesttek injunctive relief [****], in addition tory other remedy OnCall might have.
Upon request by Company, OnCall shall use good faist efforts to [****]. In addition, upon Compgis request and at Company’s
reasonable expense, OnCall shall provide (or coatto provide) to Company [****].

12. Amendment & Waive

12.1 This Agreement may not be amended, modifiel@éased, or discharged in any manner except bysarument in writing, executed
by both Parties

12.2 Any waiver of either Parties’ rights hereundearst be in writing. No waiver by either party afyebreach or default of any of the
provisions contained in this Agreement and requioeie performed by the other party shall be coestias a waiver of any succeeding
breach of the same or of any other provis

13. Severability

If any term contained in this Agreement sballjudicially considered excessively broad, sucimtghall be construed in a manner to
enable it to be enforced to the extent compatilite applicable law. A judicial determination thatyaprovision in this Agreement is
void or unenforceable shall not affect the validityenforceability of any other term or conditionthis Agreement.

14. Assignment.

Neither Party may assign this Agreement, iollor in part, or its rights or obligations herdanwithout the prior consent of the
other Party, except that Company may assign thieégent to any of its affiliates or to any successall or substantially all of its
business that concerns this Agreement (whethealeyc$
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stock or assets, merger, consolidation or othejwidout OnCall's consent. Any attempted trangfeviolation hereof will be void and of
no effect.

15. Notices.

Any notice required to be made or given hedeurshall be in writing and shall be deemed to lHmen made or given when any such
notice is delivered by recognized overnight delvsgrvice or on the date received by registerezbdified mail, return receipt requested,
to Company or OnCall, as follows:

(a) If to Company:

Alimera Sciences, Inc.
6120 Windward Parkway, Suite 290
Alpharetta, Ga. 30005

Tel: [****]
Fax: [****]
Attention: [****]

(b) If to OnCall:

8044 Montgomery Road Suite 530
Cincinnati, Ohio 45236

Tel: [¥**+]
Fax: [****]
Attention: [****]

16. Interpretation.

16.1 The exhibit hereto consists as an integral lpareof. The headings and numbering of the sextioid subsections of this Agreement
(bolded, italicized or otherwise) are for referepceposes only and shall have no legal, constreaninterpretive effec

16.2 This Agreement shall be construed as if ddgjisently by Parties and no presumption or burdeproof shall arise favoring or
disfavoring any Party by virtue of the authorshiaoy of the provisions of this Agreeme

17. Limited Beneficiaries.

This Agreement is for the sole benefit of Braeties and their respective successors and pedaisisigns and shall not be construed as
conferring any rights on any others.

18. Remedie:.
18.1 All rights, remedies, undertakings, obligaipand agreements contained in this Agreement sbalimulative and none of them
shall be a limitation of any other remedy, righidartaking, obligation, or agreeme

8
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18.2 EXCEPT WITH RESPECT TO [****] AND [****], NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR
[****] IRRESPECTIVE OF WHETHER THE PARTY HAS ADVISB OR HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF ANY
SUCH LOSS OR DAMAGE

19. Governing Law & Jurisdiction.

19.1 This Agreement is made under and shall betnggrs and enforced in accordance with the intesnbbtantive law of the State of
New York applicable to agreements made and to Henpeed solely therein, without reference to iteicle of laws provisions

20. Publicity.

Neither Party shall issue any press releas¢har publicity materials with respect to the étiee, expiration or termination of this
Agreement or the terms and conditions hereof withloel prior consent of the other Payovided thathis restriction shall not apply to
disclosures deemed necessary by a Party for pisdsitigation or compliance with applicable lasggulation, a court order or stock
exchange requirement or in connection with a Paapligations to provide information in connectigith due diligence being conducted on
such Party.

21. |Integration.

This Agreement, including the preamble andl@khereto, constitute the entire agreement betvike Parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof and supersede any and all prior aggets, understandings, promises and representatiiesher written or oral, between the
Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.

22. Independent Contractor

OnCall shall provide the Services as an inddpat contractor and not as an employee, partnjeirgrventurer of Company. OnCall shall
have no authority to act, represent or bind Compghaseof in any manner, except as expressly provigethis Agreement or may be agreed
to by Company in writing from time to time. No pision of Services under this shall be deemed taterer imply any contract of
employment between Company and any employee of (Qradd all persons performing Services shall b@legees of OnCall and shall not
be entitled to any benefits applicable to employ&EeSompany. OnCall shall be responsible for mansagye of all employer obligations in
connection with OnCall employees who perform theviges. OnCall employees shall remain exclusiveigar the direct authority and
control of OnCall. Company may be involved in pding training, direction or equipment to an On@atiployee only in the manner and to
the extent specifically described in this Agreem@iie employer obligations of OnCall shall incluighuman resource issues, including
establishment of employee policies, and adminisinadf health and benefits plans, 401K plan, ameioemployee benefit plans; (ii) work
performance and work behavior issues, includindp@tionary period, periodic and annual appraisafgleyee discipline and termination;
(iif) administration of systems for time-keepin@gypoll and

*xx%  CERTAIN INFORMATION HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED
WITH RESPECTTO THE OMITTED PORTIONS




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED
employee expense reimbursement; and (iv) day tontlmyagement of employment issues in connectionpétformance of the Services.
23. Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in one or rnoumterparts, each of which shall be deemed aimatignd all of which together shall be
deemed to constitute one agreement.

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have exddhie agreement as of the day and year first hexlgbve written:

Alimera Sciences Inc OnCall LLC

/s/ David R. Hollanc /s/ Rolando Collad:
Name: David R. Hollani Name: Rolando Collad
Title: Senior Vice President, Sales and Marke Title: Presiden
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED

Attachments:
Exhibit A: OnCall Services Agreement
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED
Exhibit A

OncCall will provide Alimera Sciences, Inc. (“Alim&tor “Company”) with a sales team to promote I&n/® to [****] and their staff, in
accordance with this Agreement (which includes Ekibit). This Agreement may be amended to covedupcts in addition to lluvief upor
the mutual written agreement of the Company andd&inOnCall services will include sales force régnent, employment, and
administration; sales territory design and datald@selopment; and sales force automation supptiwace, each as specified below.

OnCall Will Provide The Following Services Under Ths Agreement, Which Services Are Included Within Tlke Fees Listed Below:

1. Field Sales Force Recruitment, Employment, & Adminstration

a.

OncCall will recruit, employ, manage and agistrate a sales team comprised of [****] in accande with a written timeline to be
provided by Company to OnCall. OnCall may not emEicsales representative or a Project Manager uhideAgreement prior t
the date specified by Company in writing for thstfiemployment of such sales representative oeBrdjanager. The number of
sales representatives may be [****]. OnCall wilptace any representative or manager who ceasesdamtember of the sales
team with [****] within [****] of the date on which the representative or manager ceases to be a mefithe sales team. If at
any time during any month, the sales team considtswer than [****], Company shall not be respobl& for [****]. If the
representative or manager is deployed for a part@ith, then [****]. OnCall will submit [****]. OnCall will consider in good
faith [****].

Sales representatives will be located in [****] dehined by Alimera
The profile of the sales representatives will beaually agreed upon by Alimera and OnCall but wiktlude at least the followiny

[****] .

The profile of the Project Manager will k

[****]

A-1
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED

Specific sales representative responsibilities wdlude:

[****]

OncCall will produce, subject to Alimera’siqr review and final approval, home study materfatsthe sales representatives and
Program Manager, including [****]. All such matetgshall be deemed to be Work Product under thiz&ment. Such materials
will be developed by OnCall in consultation withidera management, and as necessary, Alimera ih@ooaments and other
materials will be integrated into such materi

Sales Territory Design and Database Developmer

a
b.
C.
d.

Using data provided by Alimera, OnCall will perfothe analysis to determine [****
OnCall will provide sales representatives and Alianeith [****],

OnCall will work with Alimera to identify the dat@quired to support [****].

OnCall will [****] via the OnCall SFA system

Sales Force Automation, Customer Relationship Manament and Sample Tracking.

a.
b.

The sales team will use OnC's sales force automation syst— OnCall SFA— for [****].

This will include all reasonable customization loé tOnCall SFA system and standardized activityerébrmance report

A-2
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED
c.  OnCall will provide all required [****].
d. OncCall will provide a live OnCall SFA help desk assible via email and t-free number

e. OncCall will provide Alimera management with theldpito [****].

4. 0Ongoing Sales Strategy and Tactics Input and Supptr

a.  OnCall will provide start-up period and awirgg input, guidance and support to Alimera andn&iia’s designated advertising

agency on all matters related to sales strategyamiids. This includes, but is not limited
[****]

b. ], will lead OnCall's Alimera Project Minagement Team and, as such, will serve as thé gpaison for all input, guidance
and support to Alimera or Alimera’s designated atisiag agency. As required, [****], will engage loer Alimera Project
Management Team members or other OnCall resowcesstire the appropriate support is provided. ditiad, [****] will meet
with Alimera regularly (no less often than [****]hy phone or face-to-face (as mutually agreed upotihe parties), to discuss
matters related to the Agreeme

c.  OnCall and Alimera will [****]. [****]. This manager will be a key resource for the field teBlimtwithstanding the foregoing, but
subject to Section 12 of the Agreement, such Préjemager [****].

OnCall Fees

Fees to OnCall will have a Recruitment, Fieldmesend Project Manager component. The Recruitmenisf¢~**]. The Field Team
and Project Manager components [***

— The Recruitment fee will equal [****]
— Field Sales Team fees will equal [****] based onarerage [****].
— The Project Manager fee will equal [****
OnCall will have the ability to earn an additioffgt*] based upon agreed upon metric

Such fees to OnCall includ

[****]

A-3
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED

[****]

. Fees do not include the following (which will be teated as pas-through costs):

[****]

Payment Terms

A-4
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED
. The project manager cost will be billed [****] anthdisputed invoices are net [****

L] The recruitment fee will be billed [****] and undisited invoices are net [****]

Pass through costs are billed [****] and undisggaiinvoices are net [****]. Reasonable documentatid all pass through costs will be
provided with each invoice for such cos

A-5
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Exhibit 10.30

ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC. 2010 EKuiTy INCENTIVE PLAN
NoTice oF Stock OPTION GRANT

You have been granted the following option to pasghshares of the Common Stock of Alimera Sciemes(the “Company”):

Name of Optionee
Total Number of Share

Type of Option;

Exercise Price per Shai
Date of Grant
Vesting Commencement Da

Vesting Schedule:

Expiration Date:

«Name»
«TotalShare»

«ISO» Incentive Stock Optio
«NSC» Nonstatutory Stock Optio

$«PricePerShax»

«DateGrar»

«VestDay»

This option becomes exercisable with respect tdithe25% of the shares subject to
this option when you complete 12 months of contirsitService” (as defined in the
Plan) from the Vesting Commencement Date. Theredftis option becomes
exercisable with respect to an additional .028%hefshares subject to this option
when you complete each additional month of Sen

«ExpDate» This option expires earlier if your Service termtgmearlier, as describ
in the Stock Option Agreemet

You and the Company agree that this option is gdanhder and governed by the terms and conditibtied@010 Equity Incentive Plan (the
“Plan”) and the Stock Option Agreement, both of ethare attached to and made a part of this document

You further agree that the Company may deliveryiball documents relating to the Plan or thisap{including, without limitation,
prospectuses required by the Securities and Exeh@ogimission) and all other documents that the Gaomjs required to deliver to its
security holders (including, without limitation, rmunal reports and proxy statements). You also atyatethe Company may deliver these
documents by posting them on a website maintaigetidoCompany or by a third party under contra¢chwhie Company. If the Company
posts these documents on a website, it will ngtify by email. This consent will remain in effectilyou give the Company written notice

that it should deliver paper documents.

You further agree to comply with the Compan$ecurities Trading Policwhen selling shares of the Company’s Common Stock.

OPTIONEE:

ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

By:

Title:




Tax Treatment

Vesting

Term

Regular
Termination

Death

Disability

Leaves of
Absence and
Part-Time
Work

ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC. 2010 EKuiTy INCENTIVE PLAN
Stock OPTION AGREEMENT

This option is intended to be an incentive stockaspunder Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Gudenonstatutory
stock option, as provided in the Notice of Stocki@pGrant.

This option becomes exercisable in installmentshasvn in the Notice of Stock Option Grant.

This option will in no event become exercisableddditional shares after your Service has terméhéieany reasor

This option expires in any event at the close dfifiess at Company headquarters on the day be®0th anniversary
of the Date of Grant, as shown in the Notice ot&tOption Grant. (It will expire earlier if your 8éce terminates, as
described below.

If your Service terminates for any reason exceptlder total and permanent disability, then thisapwill expire at the
close of business at Company headquarters on thdhitae months after your termination date. Then@any
determines when your Service terminates for thipqse.

If you die before your Service terminates, thes tiption will expire at the close of business ampany headquarters
the date 12 months after the date of de

If your Service terminates because of your total parmanent disability, then this option will expat the close of
business at Company headquarters on the date lthsnaiter your termination date.

For all purposes under this Agreement, “total aadnanent disability” means that you are unablengage in any
substantial gainful activity by reason of any matlicdeterminable physical or mental impairmentethtan be
expected to result in death or which has lastedanrbe expected to last, for a continuous periothbless than one
year.

For purposes of this option, your Service doegemhinate when you go on a military leave, a sezvke or anothdsona
fide leave of absence, if the leave was approved bZtmpany in writing and if continued crediting ofr@ee is
required by the terms of the leave or by applicédle But your Service terminates when the apprdeade ends, unle




Restrictions on
Exercise

Notice of
Exercise

Form of
Payment

you immediately return to active wol

If you go on a leave of absence, then the vesthgdule specified in the Notice of Stock Optioni@maay be adjusted
in accordance with the Company’s leave of absentieypor the terms of your leave. If you commenagrking on a
part-time basis, then the vesting schedule spédifiehe Notice of Stock Option Grant may be a@djdsh accordance
with the Company’s patime work policy or the terms of an agreement betwgou and the Company pertaining to y
par-time schedule

The Company will not permit you to exercise thisiop if the issuance of shares at that time woudbdate any law or
regulation.

When you wish to exercise this option, you mustfimehe Company by filing the proper “Notice of Bxese” form at
the address given on the form. Your notice musti§paow many shares you wish to purchase. Youiceanust also
specify how your shares should be registered. Dhieawill be effective when the Company receive

However, if you wish to exercise this option by exiing a same-day sale (as described below), yat follow the
instructions of the Company and the broker who &ikcute the sal

If someone else wants to exercise this option gfter death, that person must prove to the Comsasatisfaction that
he or she is entitled to do ¢

When you submit your notice of exercise, you mashide payment of the option exercise price forshares that you
are purchasing. To the extent permitted by applécktw, payment may be made in one (or a combinaifdwo or
more) of the following forms

» By delivering to the Company your personal cheakashie’s check or a money ordt

» By delivering to the Company certificates foases of Company stock that you own, along with fanms needed to
effect a transfer of those shares to the Compalg.value of the shares, determined as of the aféedaite of the
option exercise, will be applied to the option price. Instead of surrendering shares of Comptock, you
may attest to the ownership of those shares oma ffoovided by the Company and have the same nuoftstrares
subtracted from the option shares issued to

» By giving to a securities broker approved by @ompany irrevocable directions to sell all ort péiyour option
shares and to deliver to the Company, from the maleeeds, an amount sufficient to pay
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Withholding
Taxes

Restrictions on
Resale

Transfer of
Option

Retention
Rights

Stockholder
Rights

option exercise price and any withholding taxetie(balance of the sale proceeds, if any, will Haeeed to you.)
The directions must be given in accordance withrikuctions of the Company and the broker. Thereise
method is sometimes calle¢“sam«-day sale’

You will not be allowed to exercise this option &8 you make arrangements acceptable to the Conpaay any
withholding taxes that may be due as a result@bifition exercise. These arrangements include payimeash. With
the Company’s consent, these arrangements maynalsoe (a) payment from the proceeds of the shéhares through
a Company-approved broker, (b) withholding shaféSampany stock that otherwise would be issuediowhen you
exercise this option, (c) surrendering sharesytbatpreviously acquired or (d) withholding cashnfrother
compensation. The fair market value of withheldwrendered shares, determined as of the date takes otherwise
would have been withheld in cash, will be appliedhte withholding taxe:

You agree not to sell any option shares at a titnenaapplicable laws, Company policies or an agre¢ivetween the
Company and its underwriters prohibit a sale. Tégtriction will apply as long as your Service éoaes and for such
period of time after the termination of your Seevas the Company may speci

Prior to your death, only you may exercise thisaptYou cannot transfer or assign this option. iRstance, you may
not sell this option or use it as security for arlolf you attempt to do any of these things, dpson will immediately
become invalid. You may, however, dispose of tipisom in your will or by means of a beneficiary @gmtion.

Regardless of any marital property settlement ages¢, the Company is not obligated to honor a paticexercise fror
your former spouse, nor is the Company obligate@tognize your former spol’s interest in your option in any other
way.

Your option or this Agreement does not give youright to be retained by the Company or a subsidiéthe Company
in any capacity. The Company and its subsidiagssnve the right to terminate your Service at ang twith or without
cause

You, or your estate or heirs, have no rights a®ekbolder of the Company until you have exercitesl option by

giving the required notice to the Company and payire exercise price. No adjustments are madeifatehds or other
rights if the applicable record date occurs befame exercise this option, except as describedarPian.
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Adjustments

Applicable Law

The Plan and
Other Agreements

In the event of a stock split, a stock dividend@imilar change in Company stock, the number afeshcovered by
this option and the exercise price per share wilabtjusted pursuant to the Pl

This Agreement will be interpreted and enforcedairttie laws of the State of Delaware (without rdgartheir choice-
of-law provisions)

The text of the Plan is incorporated in this Agreetrby reference.

This Agreement and the Plan constitute the entidetstanding between you and the Company regatiisgption.
Any prior agreements, commitments or negotiatiarerning this option are superseded. This Agreémegy be
amended only by another written agreement betweeparties

BY SIGNING THE COVER SHEET OF THIS AGREEMENT, YOU AGREE TO ALL OF THE
TERMS AND CONDITIONS DESCRIBED ABOVE AND IN THE PLAN.
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement No. 333-166822 on Form S-8uwfreport dated March 25, 2011
relating to the financial statements of Alimerae®cies, Inc. (the “Company”vhich report expresses an unqualified opinion ahdinancia
statements and includes an explanatory paragrggaindieg the Company’s ability to continue as a gaiancern), appearing in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembefG10.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 25, 2011



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, C. Daniel Myers, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Alimera Sciences, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does niotado any untrue statements of a material facthait t state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the consolidated finant@éments, and other financial information includethis report, fairly presentin i
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this
report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dal are responsible for establishing and maintgmlisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

a. designed such disclosure controls and puresdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b. evaluated the effectiveness of the regisgalisclosure controls and procedures and predentghis report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

c.  disclosed in this report any change in #gstrant’s internal control over financial repogdithat occurred during the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affectedis reasonably likely to materially affect, ttegistrant’s internal control over
financial reporting

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)cal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiatuof internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and materialkeesses in the design or operation of internairobaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b. any fraud, whether or not material, thabimes management or other employees who have Hisén role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 25, 2011 /s/ C. Daniel Myers
C. Daniel Myers
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Richard S. Eiswirth, Jr., certify that
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Alimera Sciences, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does niotado any untrue statements of a material facthait t state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the consolidated finant@éments, and other financial information includethis report, fairly presentin i
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this
report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dal are responsible for establishing and maintgmlisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

a. designed such disclosure controls and puresdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b. evaluated the effectiveness of the regisgalisclosure controls and procedures and predentghis report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

c.  disclosed in this report any change in #gstrant’s internal control over financial repogdithat occurred during the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affectedis reasonably likely to materially affect, ttegistrant’s internal control over
financial reporting

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)cal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiatuof internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and materialkeesses in the design or operation of internairobaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b. any fraud, whether or not material, thabimes management or other employees who have Hisén role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 25, 2011 /s/ Richard S. Eiswirth, Jr
Richard S. Eiswirth, Jr.
Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A — 14(B) OF THE OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Alimera &uies, Inc. (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-K for tmeual period ended December 31,
2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cmsion on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, C. i@aMyers, certify, in accordance with
Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act &418nd 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to the bestyoknowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act o#418®d

(2) The information contained in the Reportljapresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of the
Registrant

Date: March 25, 2011 /s/ C. Daniel Myers
C. Daniel Myers
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this written statement requitey Rule 13-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 & B5.C. Section 1350 has
been provided to the Registrant and will be retdibg the Registrant and furnished to the Securéies Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K toebhit relates, is not deemed filed with the Semgiand Exchange Commission and is not
to be incorporated by reference into any filinglodé Registrant under the Securities Act of 193therSecurities Exchange Act of 1934
(whether made before or after the date of the Fb@iK), irrespective of any general incorporatiom¢puage contained in such filing.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A — 14(B) OF THE OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Alimera &uies, Inc. (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-K for tmeual period ended December 31,
2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cwsion on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Rich&: Eiswirth, Jr., certify, in accordance
with Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange #2934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to thé diesiy knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act o#418®d

(2) The information contained in the Reportljapresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of the
Registrant

Date: March 25, 2011 /s/ Richard S. Eiswirth, Jr
Richard S. Eiswirth, Jr.
Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement requitey Rule 13-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 & B5.C. Section 1350 has
been provided to the Registrant and will be retdibg the Registrant and furnished to the Securéies Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K toebhit relates, is not deemed filed with the Semgiand Exchange Commission and is not
to be incorporated by reference into any filinglodé Registrant under the Securities Act of 193therSecurities Exchange Act of 1934
(whether made before or after the date of the Fb@iK), irrespective of any general incorporatiom¢puage contained in such filing.



